ALBERT-LUDWIGS-UNIVERSITÄT FREIBURG FAKULTÄT FÜR MATHEMATIK UND PHYSIK



On a class of anisotropic problems

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Fakultät Mathematik und

Physik der Albert-Ludwigs-Universität Freiburg im Breisgau

vorgelegt von B. Sc. Chao Xia betreut durch Prof. Dr. Guofang Wang April 2012 Dekan: Prof. Dr. Kay Königsmann

1. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Guofang Wang

2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Heiko von der Mosel

Datum der mündlichen Prüfung: 17. Juli 2012

Acknowledgments

First and foremost I would like to express my great gratitude to my supervisor Professor Guofang Wang for his guidance, his constant support, his helpful discussions, as well as his cooperation during my PhD studies. Without him this thesis would not have been completed or written. Besides this thesis, he also taught me how to do mathematical research, which is one of the most important lectures for my future career.

Second, I would like to thank my advisor in my first graduate year in University of Science and Technology of China, Professor Xinan Ma, who gave me the chance and recommended me to study with Professor Guofang Wang in Germany.

I greatly appreciate Professors Ernst Kuwert, Miles Simon, Yuxin Ge, Yuxiang Li, Deliang Xu, Doctors Bobo Hua, Yongbing Zhang, Miaomiao Zhu for many useful discussions, encouragement and moral support during these years. Thanks a lot to my colleagues Doctors Yann Bernard, Andrea Ludwig, Johannes Schygulla for the many valuable, helpful and interesting discussions also beyond mathematics. Special thanks are due to my best friends in University of Freiburg, Zhengxiang Chen, Yong Luo, Chong Liu for making me feel like home here.

Last but not least, I thank my parents, Peiping Xia and Bimei Wu for their support and love in my whole life.

Contents

Α	ostract		vii			
Ir	Introduction 1					
Ι	Analytic aspects of anisotropic (Finsler) Laplacian		17			
1	Introduction to anisotropic Laplacian 1.1 Norm in \mathbb{R}^n 1.2 Anisotropic Laplacian, Wulff shape 1.2.1 Anisotropic Laplacian 1.2.2 Wulff shape 1.3 F-mean curvature 1.3.1 F-mean curvature 1.3.2 Relation with anisotropic Laplacian and Wulff shape 1.4 Convex symmetrization		 18 18 23 23 23 24 24 26 29 29 			
2	1.4.2 Comparison theorem involving anisotropic Laplacian Overdetermined problem for anisotropic Laplacian 2.1 P-function 2.2 Pohozaev identity 2.3 Proof of Theorem 2.1	- - 	 33 35 36 40 42 			
3	Anisotropic harmonic functions 3.1 Green's function of anisotropic Laplacian		44 45			
4	First eigenvalue of anisotropic Laplacian4.1Brunn-Minkowski inequality4.2Sharp lower bound for the first Neumann eigenvalue4.3Estimate for the first Dirichlet eigenvalue		52 52 60 73			

5	Anis	sotropic Liouville equations in two dimensions	76
	5.1	A sharp Moser-Trudinger type inequality	76
	5.2	Brezis-Merle type concentration-compactness phenomena	78
	5.3	Compactness for vanishing boundary value problem	89
	5.4	An existence result	97
II	\mathbf{A}	nisotropic geometric problems	101
6	Min	kowski (relative) geometry of hypersurfaces	102
7	Anis	sotropic Minkowski problem	109
	7.1	Formulation of the anisotropic Minkowski problem	109
	7.2	A priori estimates	113
		7.2.1 C^0 estimate $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	114
		7.2.2 C^1 estimate $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	116
		7.2.3 C^2 estimate $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	119
	7.3	Openness and proof of Theorem 7.1	122

Bibliography

129

Abstract

This thesis contains two parts. Both of them have the same thema— anisotropy.

In the first part, I study various problems of partial differential equations with a so-called anisotropic Laplace (or Finsler Laplace) operator, which has profound background both in the theory of anisotropic and nonhomogenous media and in Finsler or Minkowski geometry. We start with an overdetermined boundary value problem. It is proved that the only domain such that the PDE admits a solution must be a Wulff shape. We also study the properties of the first eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian. Our result is two folds. One is a Brunn-Minkowski type inequality. The other is Payne-Weinberger type optimal anisotropic Poincaré inequality. The last chapter in this part will be devoted to a complete blow-up analysis of anisotropic Liouville equations in two dimensions. We establish a Moser-Trudinger type inequality. Then the Brezis-Merle type compactness-concentration phenomena is studied. Finally, we get some partial existence result.

The second part of this thesis concerns some interesting geometric problems incorporating with the anisotropy. We first establish the fundamentals in Minkowski geometry and then focus on the anisotropic Minkowski problem. It is a problem of prescribing the anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature for a closed strongly convex hypersurface in Minkowski space as a function on its anisotropic normals. In conclusion, we completely solve the anisotropic Minkowski problem.

Introduction

In a long historical work [Wu1901], Wulff considered a variational problem of an anisotropic geometric functional in the physical model of crystal growth. He stated without proof that among closed convex hypersurfaces with constant enclosed volume, the so-called Wulff shape minimizes the anisotropic surface energy. His work initiated lots of works on the theory of phase transitions, in particular in the case of anisotropic and nonhomogenous media.

On the other hand, such anisotropy appears naturally in a wide class of geometry— Finsler geometry. Finsler geometry appeared originally in the habilitation thesis by Riemann in 1854 and had been developed by Finsler in his thesis in 1918 [Fin1918]. A typical and important example of Finsler geometry is Minkowski geometry, which was named after Minkowski. He initialed the study of Minkowski geometry since the fundamental work [Mi1897].

In the last couple of decades, many mathematicians contribute on such topics of anisotropy, aiming to extend the phenomenon in isotropic theory and Riemannian geometry to that in anisotropic theory and Finsler or Minkowski geometry. Such extensions sometimes require new development on the techniques since the structures in anisotropic theory and Finsler or Minkowski geometry are more complicated. The aim of this thesis is to investigate many interesting phenomenon of the anisotropy, including analytic and geometric aspects.

The first part of this thesis is devoted to study various problems of elliptic PDEs associating with a special Laplace operator, which is referred to as anisotropic Laplacian or Finsler-Laplacian. It becomes one of the most natural and important operators in both anisotropic theory and Finsler geometry. We will use the terminology "anisotropic Laplacian" in the whole thesis.

For simplicity, we focus on PDEs on a normed space (\mathbb{R}^n, F) , which is the simplest example of Finsler manifolds, so-called Minkowski space. The interest of anisotropic Laplacian lies on its nonlinearity, which turns out to be the major difference from the standard Laplacian Δ on \mathbb{R}^n . Nevertheless, as we will see, many results with respect to Δ can be extended to the anisotropic Laplacian. Given a norm F on \mathbb{R}^n , the anisotropic Laplacian is defined by

$$Qu := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(F(\nabla u) F_{\xi_i}(\nabla u) \right) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2 \right) (\nabla u) \right),$$

When $F(\xi) = |\xi| = (\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\xi_i|^2)^{1/2}$, the anisotropic Laplacian $Q = \Delta$, the usual Laplacian. In general, the anisotropic Laplacian is a quasilinear elliptic operator of divergent type. It appears in the Euler-Lagrange equations which involve functionals containing the expressions $\int_{\Omega} F(\nabla u(x))^2 dx$, which is in fact the Dirichlet energy of u in Minkowski space.

Anisotropic Laplacian is closely related to a convex hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^n , which is called the Wulff shape (or equilibrium crystal shape) of F. As we said at the first beginning, the study of the Wulff shape was initiated in Wulff's work [Wu1901] on crystal shapes The Wulff shape \mathcal{W}_F is the unique minimum (up to translations) of the surface energy $\int_{\partial\Omega} F(\nu) d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}$ among regular domains Ω with constant enclosed volume. (see e.g. [Ta78, BM91, FM91]).

In Chapter 1, we will state some fundamental properties of the anisotropic Laplacian and the Wulff shape. Besides that, the anisotropic mean curvature and the convex symmetrization will be introduced, which are the fundamental concepts and tools to investigate the anisotropic Laplacian.

The second part of this thesis is devoted to some study of geometry of convex hypersurfaces in Minkowski spaces. In Minkowski geometry, we are always given a Minkowski norm F. The Wulff shape plays the role in relative geometry as the standard sphere in classical Euclidean geometry. A Riemannian metric G is well defined as $\operatorname{Hess}(\frac{1}{2}F^2)$ in \mathbb{R}^n , which varies from point to point. In turn, the most natural Riemannian metric for a hypersurface in the Minkowski space is the restriction of G. The anisotropic normal of a hypersurface M is defined as the map from M to the Wulff shape. Also we are able to define the anisotropic second fundamental form for a hypersurface in Minkowski spaces. A detailed description of this will be contained in Chapter 6. With the well defined anisotropic geometric quantities, we can study many geometric problems. However, due to the geometric complications, such problems are more difficulty to settle. We will focus on an anisotropic Minkowski problem as an example.

In the following, we shall briefly introduce the major contents in this thesis.

Overdetermined PDE with anisotropic Laplacian (Work in [Xia1])

In a seminal paper by Serrin [Se71], the author considered for a connected

bounded domain $\Omega \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the following boundary value problem:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u = -1 & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega \\ |\nabla u| = c & \text{on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$
(0.1)

for a positive constant c. He proved that if the problem (0.1) admits a C^2 solution, then Ω is necessarily a ball and the solution is radial symmetric. Since then, lots of results appeared to give other characterizations of the ball by PDEs with different operators. All these operators have in common that they are constituted by the Euclidean norm of ∇u . We wonder if there is an anisotropic counterpart of such results. In other words, we want to characterize the Wulff shape by PDEs with operators constituted by the norm associated with that Wulff shape. This is the case. In Chapter 2, we shall study the overdetermined boundary value problem with anisotropic Laplacian:

$$\begin{cases}
Qu &= -1 & \text{in } \Omega \\
u &= 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \\
F(\nabla u) &= c & \text{on } \partial\Omega
\end{cases}$$
(0.2)

for a positive constant c.

We will prove the following

Theorem 0.1. Let $F : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, +\infty)$ be a norm of class $C^3(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and F^2 is strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$. If the overdetermined boundary value problem (0.2) has a weak solution in a connected bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ with sufficiently smooth boundary $\partial\Omega$, then up to translation and scaling, $\partial\Omega$ is of Wulff shape.

As mentioned above, when $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, the Wulff shape is just the unit sphere and $Q = \Delta$. In this case Theorem 0.1 is just the classical result of Serrin [Se71].

Serrin [Se71] employed the moving plane method, initialed by Alexandrov, to prove the classical result for F the Euclidean norm. This method has subsequently been used in many further symmetry results for elliptic equations. See e.g. [GNN79, CL91a]. A short proof was presented by Weinberger [We71]. This is the first successful attempt to use an associated P -function. By using some integral identities and the maximum principle, he shows that the Hessian matrix of u is a multiple of the identity, which leads to the conclusion. There have been many generalizations of Serrin's work to more general equations. For instance, the overdetermined problem with a possibly degenerate elliptic operator was studied in [FGK06, FaK08, GL89, Ph88]. See also [BNST08] for an overdetermined problem for fully nonlinear operators. In these works they all gave a characterization of ball or sphere by an overdetermined problem of certain elliptic equation. The approaches mostly rely on some modifications of that of Serrin or Weinberger. Particularly, in [FGK06, FaK08], besides the use of *P*-function and a Pohozaev identity as Weinberger, the authors looked at a geometric quantity of every level set of the solution, the mean curvature. They proved that the mean curvature for all level sets is constant. By a classification result due to Alexandrov, they were able to claim the boundary, which itself is a level set, must be a sphere.

Since the anisotropic Laplacian and Wulff shape are both closely related to the anisotropic mean curvature (See Chapter 1), we are able to utilize the geometric approach to prove Theorem 0.1. By using the Pohozaev identity, the maximum principle on a suitable P-function and an interpretation of the anisotropic mean curvature of level sets by the operator Q, we show that the anisotropic mean curvature of any level set of u is constant. A recent result of He et al. in [HLMG09], which generalizes the classical Alexandrov Theorem, implies that every level set has Wulff shape.

We should mention that, Theorem 0.1 was also obtained by Cianchi and Salani in [CiSa09]. However, the technique of their proof was different.

Green's function of anisotropic Laplacian (Work in [Xia3])

Green's function for Laplace operator plays a quite important role in analysis of PDE. It is well known that every Green's function can be decomposed into a singular part and a regular part. The singular part can be explicitly represented, which is just the fundamental solution of Laplace equation. Moreover, Green's function offers a formula, which is called Green's representation formula, to represent the solutions of Poisson equations.

In Chapter 3, we will study the Green's function for anisotropic Laplacian. Such study is motivated by a recent work by Ferone and Kawohl [FeK09], where they constructed the fundamental solutions for the anisotropic Laplacian,

$$\Gamma(x) = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{2\kappa_2} \log(F^0(x)), & \text{for } n = 2, \\ \frac{1}{n(2-n)\kappa_n} F^0(x)^{2-n}, & \text{for } n > 2. \end{cases}$$

In [FeK09], the authors asked whether there exists Green's function for the anisotropic Laplacian. We give an affirmative answer to this.

Theorem 0.2. Let $F : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, +\infty)$ be a norm of class $C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and F^2 is strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$. Then there exists a unique function $G(\cdot, 0) \in C^{1,\alpha}(\Omega \setminus \{0\})$ with $|\nabla G| \in L^1(\Omega)$ and $G/\Gamma \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, satisfying

$$\begin{cases} -QG(\cdot,0) = \delta_0 & in \ \Omega\\ G(\cdot,0) = \phi & on \ \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

where $\phi \in L^{\infty} \bigcap W^{1,2}(\Omega)$. Moreover, $G = \Gamma + g$ with $g \in C^0(\Omega)$ satisfying
$$\lim_{x \to 0} (F^0(x))^{n-1} \nabla g(x) = 0$$

Theorem 0.2 will offer an efficient tool when we do blow-up analysis of PDE with the anisotropic Laplacian. However, the Green's representation formula cannot hold for the anisotropic Laplacian, due to its nonlinearity.

First eigenvalue of anisotropic Laplacian (Work in [Xia2, Xia4])

Let Ω be a smooth bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n and ν be the outward normal of its boundary $\partial\Omega$. The first eigenvalue λ_1 of the anisotropic Laplacian Q is defined by the smallest positive constant such that there exists a nonconstant function usatisfying

$$-Qu = \lambda_1 u \quad \text{in } \Omega \tag{0.3}$$

with the Dirichlet boundary condition

$$u = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega \tag{0.4}$$

or the Neumann boundary condition

$$\langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \nu \rangle = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega.$$
 (0.5)

We call λ_1 the first Dirichlet (Neumann resp.) eigenvalue and u the first Dirichlet (Neumann resp.) eigenfunction. Denote them by λ_1^D (λ_1^N resp.) and u^D (u^N resp.). Here $\langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \nu \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^n F_{\xi_i}(\nabla u)\nu^i$ and $\nu = (\nu^1, \cdots, \nu^n)$. (0.5) is a natural Neumann boundary condition for the anisotropic Laplacian. When $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, $\langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \nu \rangle = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu}$.

The first Dirichlet (Neumann, resp.) eigenvalue can be formulated as a variational problem by

$$\lambda_1^D(\Omega) = \inf\left\{\frac{\int_{\Omega} F^2(\nabla u)dx}{\int_{\Omega} u^2 dx} \,\middle|\, 0 \neq u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)\right\}.$$
(0.6)

$$\lambda_1^N(\Omega) = \inf\left\{\frac{\int_{\Omega} F^2(\nabla u) dx}{\int_{\Omega} u^2 dx} \,\middle|\, 0 \neq u \in W^{1,2}(\Omega), \int_{\Omega} u dx = 0\right\}.$$
(0.7)

From the theory of the direct method in the calculus of variations, we easily see that $\lambda_1^D(\Omega)$ ($\lambda_1^N(\Omega)$ resp.) can be attained by some u^D (u^N resp.), which is the weak solution of (0.3) with the Dirichlet (Neumann resp.) boundary condition. Moreover, we can say more about the first Dirichlet eigenfunction u^D . Since replacing u^D by $|u^D|$ does not change λ_1^D , we can assume that u^D is nonnegative. Furthermore, in [BFK03], the authors showed that the first Dirichlet eigenfunction u^D is unique, positive and log-concave. Our investigation includes two folds. One is to establish a Brunn-Minkowski type inequality for the first Dirichlet eigenvalue. The other is to give estimates for the first eigenvalue.

The Brunn-Minkowski inequality play a very improtant role in the stduy of convex bodies and convex functions. See for instance [Gar02, Sch93]. We first explain what do we mean by a Brunn-Minkowski type inequality.

Let \mathcal{K}^n be the family of *n*-dimensional convex bodies. Assume that W is a functional defined in \mathcal{K}^n

$$W: \mathcal{K}^n \to (0, +\infty),$$

which is homogeneous of order $\alpha \neq 0$.

Definition 0.3. We say that W satisfies a Brunn-Minkowski type inequality if the following inequality

$$W((1-t)K_0 + tK_1)^{1/\alpha} \ge (1-t)W(K_0)^{1/\alpha} + tW(K_1)^{1/\alpha}$$
(0.8)

holds for all $K_0, K_1 \in \mathcal{K}^n$ and $t \in [0, 1]$.

The original Brunn-Minkowski inequality is established for the volume of convex bodies, which is an *n*-homogeneous functional. It was extended to inequalities for various geometric quantities of convex bodies, especially for functionals arising from the calculus of variations and related to partial differential equations. The first result of this kind of functionals is due to Brascamp and Lieb [BL76]: the first eigenvalue of Laplacian Δ , which is defined by $\inf\{\int_K |\nabla u|^2 dx, u \in W_0^{1,2}(int(K)), \int_K |u|^2 dx = 1\}$, satisfies a Brunn-Minkowski type inequality (0.8) with $\alpha = -2$. Subsequently Borell ([Bo83, Bo85]) proved the same kind of results with appropriate α for the Newton capacity and the torsional rigidity. These results have been recently generalized in [Co05, CCS06, CoSa03] for the first eigenvalue of the *p*-Laplace operator, *p*-capacity and *p*-torsional rigidity. See also [Sa05, LMX10] for Brunn-Minkowski inequality for fully nonlinear operator.

These extension of Brunn-Minkowski inequalities have some common features. The functional W(K) can be rewritten as the energy integral of a function u, which is the solution of one corresponding second-order elliptic partial differential equation, that is,

$$W(K) = \int_{K} |\nabla u|^2 dx.$$

For instance, when u is the solution of the following boundary-value problem:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u + \lambda u = 0, u > 0 & \text{in } int(K) \\ u = 0, & \text{on } \partial K, \end{cases}$$

the corresponding functional W(K) is just the eigenvalue of the Laplacian operator.

In Chapter 4 we establish a Brunn-Minkowski type inequality for the first eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian Q with respect to a given convex function F. We have the following main theorem:

Theorem 0.4. Let $F : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, +\infty)$ be a norm of class $C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$. Let K_i be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^n , i = 0, 1. For $t \in [0, 1]$, we set $K_t = (1 - t)K_0 + tK_1$. $\lambda(K)$ is the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian for K. Then $\lambda(K)$ is homogeneous of degree -2 and we have the following Brunn-Minkowski inequality:

$$\lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}}(K_t) \ge (1-t)\lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}}(K_0) + t\lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}}(K_1).$$

The other topic on the first eigenvalue is to give upper and lower bounds. Finding a lower bound for the first eigenvalue is always an interesting problem. In [BFK03, GS01], the authors proved the Faber-Krahn type inequality for the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian. A Cheeger type estimate for the first eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian involving isoperimetric constant was also obtained there. In Chapter 4, we shall prove the Payne-Weinberger type sharp estimate [PaWe60] of the first eigenvalue in terms of some geometric quantity, such as the diameter with respect to F.

Theorem 0.5. Let Ω be a smooth bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n and $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ be a norm on \mathbb{R}^n . Let λ_1^N be the first Neumann eigenvalue of theanisotropic Laplacian. Assume that $\partial \Omega$ is weakly convex. Then λ_1^N satisfies

$$\lambda_1^N \ge \frac{\pi^2}{d_F^2},\tag{0.9}$$

where d_F is the diameter of Ω with respect to F. Moreover, equality in (0.9) holds if and only if Ω is a segment in \mathbb{R} .

Estimate (0.9) for the Neumann boundary problem is optimal. This is in fact a generalization of the classical result of Payne-Weinberger in [PaWe60] on an optimal estimate of the first Neumann eigenvalue of the ordinary Laplacian.See also [Be03]. There are many interesting generalizations. Here we just mention its generalization to Riemannian manifolds, since we will use the methods developed there. It should be also interesting to ask if the methods of [PaWe60] and [Be03] work to reprove our result, since there are lots of motivations in computational mathematics.

For a smooth compact *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold (M, g) with nonnegative Ricci curvature and diameter *d*, possibly with boundary, the first Neumann eigenvalue λ_1 of Laplace operator Δ is defined to be the smallest positive constant such that there is a nonconstant function *u* satisfying

$$-\Delta u = \lambda_1 u$$
 in M ,

with

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = 0 \text{ on } \partial M,$$

if ∂M is not empty, where ν denotes the outward normal of ∂M . A fundamental work of Li [LiP79], Li-Yau [LiYa80], Zhong-Yang [ZY84] gives us the following optimal estimate

$$\lambda_1 \ge \frac{\pi^2}{d^2},\tag{0.10}$$

where d is the diameter of M with respect to g. Li-Yau [LiYa80] derived a gradient estimate for the eigenfunction u and proved that $\lambda_1 \geq \frac{\pi^2}{4d^2}$ and Li [LiP79] used another auxiliary function to obtain a better estimate $\lambda_1 \geq \frac{\pi^2}{2d^2}$. Finally, Zhong-Yang [ZY84] was able to use a more precise auxiliary function to get the sharp estimate $\lambda_1 \geq \frac{\pi^2}{d^2}$, which is optimal in the sense that the lower bound is achieved by a circle or a segment. Recently Hang-Wang [HaWa07] proved that equality in (0.10) holds if and only if M is a circle or a segment. For the related work see also [Kr92, CW97, BQ00]. Very recently these results were generalized to the p-Laplacian in [Va11] and to the Laplacian on Alexandrov spaces in [QZZ11].

For the Dirichlet problem we have

Theorem 0.6. Let Ω be a smooth bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n and $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ be a norm on \mathbb{R}^n . Assume that λ_1^D are the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian. Assume further that $\partial\Omega$ is F-mean convex. Then λ_1^N satisfies

$$\lambda_1^D \ge \frac{\pi^2}{4i_F^2},\tag{0.11}$$

where i_F is the inscribed radius of Ω with respect to F.

Estimate (0.11) is by no mean optimal.

Our idea to prove the result on the Dirichlet eigenvalue is based on the gradient estimate technique for eigenfunctions of Li-Yau [LiP79, LiYa80]. This idea also works for the first Neumann eigenvalue to get a rough estimate, say $\lambda_1^N \geq \frac{\pi^2}{2d_F^2}$. However, for getting the sharp estimate of the first Neumann eigenvalue (0.9), the method of Zhong-Yang seems hard to apply. Instead, we adopt the technique based on gradient comparison with a one dimensional model function, which was developed by Kröger [Kr92] and improved by Chen-Wang [CW97] and Bakry-Qian [BQ00]. Surprisingly, we find that the one dimensional model coincides with that for the Laplacian case. In fact, this must be the case because when we consider F in \mathbb{R} , it can only be F(x) = c|x| with c > 0, a multiple of the standard Euclidean norm. In order to get the gradient comparison theorem, we need a Bochner type formula (2.7), A Kato type inequality (4.25) and a refined inequality (4.26), which was referred to as the "extended Curvature-Dimension inequality" in the context of Bakry-Qian [BQ00]. Interestingly, the proof of these inequalities sounds more "naturally" than the proof of their counterpart for the usual Laplace operator. These inequalities may have their own interest. Another difficulty we encounter is to handle the boundary maximum due to the different representation of the Neumann boundary condition (0.5). We find a suitable vector field V to avoid this difficulty. With the gradient comparison theorem, we are able to follow step by step the work of Bakry-Qian [BQ00] to get the sharp estimate.

Anisotropic Liouville equations in two dimensions (Work in[Xia3])

Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 . The Moser-Trudinger inequality says that the functional

$$J(u) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 - 8\pi \log \int_{\Omega} e^u$$
 (0.12)

is bounded below for any $u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$. The corresponding Euler-Lagrange equation for J(u) is the so-called Liouville equation

$$-\Delta u = \lambda \frac{e^u}{\int_\Omega e^u} \tag{0.13}$$

for some constant $\lambda > 0$, which was first studied by Liouville in 1853 in [Li1853]. The functional (0.12) and Equation (0.13) have been intensively studied by many mathematicians, for there are many applications in geometric and physical problems, for example, in the problem of prescribing Gaussian curvature [ChY87, CD87, CGY93], in the theory of the mean field equation [DJLW97, DJLW99, CLi02, CLi03, Dj08, Ma08] and in the Chern-Simons theory [SpYa92, Tar96, DJLW98, StTa98, NoTa99]. See also survey articles [Lin07] and [Tar10].

In the celebrated paper by Brezis and Merle [BM91], they initiated the study of the blow-up analysis for the Liouville equation

$$-\Delta u = V(x)e^u \tag{0.14}$$

with $V(x) \in L^p(\Omega)$ and $e^u \in L^{p'}$ for $1 and <math>p' = \frac{p}{p-1}$. They first showed that any solution of (0.14) belongs to L^{∞} , and further they analyzed the convergence of a sequence of solutions of (0.14) and obtained a compactness-concentration type result. Their results initiate many works on the asymptotic behavior of blow-up solutions and also the existence of solutions of Liouville equation (0.13).

We will generalize the blow-up analysis for equation (0.13) to a Liouville type equation with the anisotropic Laplacian. In other words, we consider the following quasilinear equations,

$$-Qu = V(x)e^u, (0.15)$$

and

$$-Qu = \lambda \frac{e^u}{\int_{\Omega} e^u}.$$
 (0.16)

As in the isotropic case, Equation (0.15) has a corresponding functional

$$J_{\lambda}(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} F(\nabla u)^2 - \lambda \log \int_{\Omega} e^u,$$

for $u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$. By using a convex symmetrization approach proposed in [AFTL97] and an argument of Moser [Mo71], we first prove a Moser-Trudinger type inequality.

Theorem 0.7. Let $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ be a norm on \mathbb{R}^n and Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \geq 2$. Let $u \in W_0^{1,n}(\Omega)$ and $\int_{\Omega} F(\nabla u)^n dx \leq 1$. Then there exists a constant C(n), such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \exp[\lambda u^{\frac{n}{n-1}}] dx \le C(n) |\Omega|,$$

where $\lambda \leq \lambda_n = n^{\frac{n}{n-1}} \kappa_n^{\frac{1}{n-1}}$ and κ_n is the Lebesgue measure of the Wulff ball of radius 1. λ_n is optimal in the sense that if $\lambda > \lambda_n$ we can find a sequence (u_k) such that $\int_{\Omega} \exp[\lambda u_k^{\frac{n}{n-1}}] dx$ diverges.

As a direct consequence, we have that $J_{\lambda}(u)$ is bounded below if and only if $\lambda \leq 8\kappa$ ($\kappa = \kappa_2$). In the isotropic case, $\kappa = \pi$.

To study the asymptotic behavior of convergence and the existence of solutions, we first prove the following Brezis-Merle type compactness-concentration result.

Theorem 0.8. Let $F : \mathbb{R}^2 \to [0, +\infty)$ be a norm of class $C^2(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$ and F^2 is strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and (u_n) be a sequence of weak solutions of

$$-Qu_n = V_n(x)e^{u_n} \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (0.17)$$

with

$$V_n \ge 0, \quad \|V_n\|_{L^p} \le C_1 \text{ for some } 1 $\|e^{u_n}\|_{L^{p'}} \le C_2.$$$

Define the blow-up set as follows:

$$S = \{ x \in \Omega : \exists x_n \in \Omega \text{ such that } x_n \to x \text{ and } u_n(x_n) \to +\infty \}.$$

Then, one of the following possibilities happens (after taking subsequences):

(i) u_n is bounded in $L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega)$;

(ii) $u_n \to -\infty$ uniformly on any compact subsets of Ω ;

(iii) $S = \{p_1, \dots, p_m\}$ is a finite, nonempty set, and $u_n \to -\infty$ uniformly on any compact subset of $\Omega \setminus S$. In addition, $V_n e^{u_n} \to \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \delta_{p_i}$ in the sense of measures on Ω with $\alpha_i \geq \frac{4\kappa}{p'}$ for any *i*.

In order to prove Theorem 0.8, we first need a Brezis-Merle type inequality. as we have seen, due to the nonlinearity of Q, we have no Green representation formula. Owing to this, we can not use the argument given in [BM91]. Here we use a level set method in [ReWe95], together with the convex symmetrization in [AFTL97], to prove the Brezis-Merle type inequality, which yields Theorem 0.8.

From Theorem 0.8 it is natural to ask if α_i is multiple of 8κ . We give an affirmative answer, under an extra boundary condition.

Theorem 0.9. Let F as in Theorem 0.8. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and (u_n) be a sequence of weak solutions of (0.17) with

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{u_n} \le C.$$

 (V_n) is a sequence of Lipschitz continuous functions satisfying

 $V_n \ge 0, \quad V_n \to V \text{ uniformly in } C^0(\overline{\Omega}), \|\nabla V_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le C,$

In addition, we assume that

$$\max_{\partial \Omega} u_n - \min_{\partial \Omega} u_n \le C.$$

Then if blow-up happens only at one point ((iii) in Theorem 0.8), the blow-up value $\alpha = 8\kappa$.

This is a generalization of the result of Li [LiY99] in the isotropic case. See also [LiSh94]. The approach in [LiY99] is based on a Harnack type inequality, which relies strongly on the method of moving plane. However, we have no idea here how to derive a method of moving plane for the anisotropic case. Fortunately, we can get this result by only analyzing the local Pohozaev identity. The expansion of the Green function, which will be proved in Chapter 3, is also crucial for the proof. This approach was proposed by Bartolucci and Tarantello in [BT02], where they worked on singular Liouville equations.

The second main goal of chapter 5 is to prove existence results for (0.16) with vanishing Dirichlet boundary value. By using the direct method in calculus of variations, it can be seen easily from the Moser-Trudinger inequality that for $\lambda < 8\kappa$, (0.16) with vanishing Dirichlet boundary value admits a solution. For general λ we need the following compactness result.

Theorem 0.10. Let F as in Theorem 0.8. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and (u_n) be a sequence of solutions to

$$\begin{cases}
-Qu = \lambda \frac{Ve^u}{\int_{\Omega} Ve^u dx} & \text{in } \Omega \\
u = 0 & \text{in } \partial\Omega,
\end{cases}$$
(0.18)

with

$$\min_{\Omega} V > 0, \quad \max_{\Omega} V + \|\nabla V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} < \infty.$$

Then for any compact interval $\Lambda \subset (8\kappa(m-1), 8\kappa m)$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$u(x) \leq C \text{ for } x \in \Omega.$$

Theorem 0.10 is a direct consequence of the following

Theorem 0.11. Let F as in Theorem 0.8. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and (u_n) be a sequence of solutions to

$$\begin{cases} -Qu_n = \lambda_n \frac{V_n e^{u_n}}{\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} dx} & \text{in } \Omega \\ u_n = 0 & \text{in } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

with

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \min_{\Omega} V_n > 0, \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} (\max_{\Omega} V_n + \|\nabla V_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}) < \infty.$$

Suppose, in addition, that

$$0 < \lambda_n \le C, \quad \max_{\Omega} u_n \to +\infty.$$

Then there exists a finite set $S = \{p_1, \cdots, p_m\} \subset \Omega$ such that

$$u_n(x) \to \sum_{i=1}^m 8\kappa G(x, p_i) \text{ in } C^{1,\beta}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus S),$$
$$\lambda_n \frac{V_n e^{u_n}}{\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} dx} \to \sum_{i=1}^m 8\kappa \delta_{p_i}$$

in the sense of measures in $\overline{\Omega}$, for some $0 < \beta < 1$. Here $G(x, p_i)$ and δ_{p_i} are the Green function of Q and the Dirac function with singularity p_i respectively. In particular, We have for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\lambda_n \to 8\kappa m.$$

Like Theorem 0.8, Theorem 0.11 is also proved through blow-up analysis. We first show that the set of blow-up points is finite. Then by using Pohozaev identity, we are able to exclude the boundary blow-up. Finally, by applying Theorem 0.8 and Theorem 0.9, we obtain the result.

With the help of Theorem 0.10, we can prove the following existence result.

Theorem 0.12. Let F as in Theorem 0.8. Let Ω be a smooth bounded domain whose complement contains at least one bounded region and V be as in Theorem 0.10. Then (0.18) admits a solution for all $\lambda \in (8\kappa, 16\kappa)$.

Anisotropic Minkowski problem (Work in [Xia5])

The Minkowski problem is a well known problem in the classical differential geometry: given a positive function K on \mathbb{S}^n , can one find a closed strongly convex hypersurface whose Gauss-Kronecker curvature is given by K as a function on its normals? This problem has been solved by the works of Minkowski [Mi1897], Alexandrov [Al37], Lewy [Le38], Nirenberg [Ni53], Pogorelov [Po53] and eventually Cheng-Yau [CY76]. As is well known, the solvability of the Minkowski problem is equivalent to that of a Monge-Ampére equation. The analytic method of Nirenberg, Pogorelov and Cheng-Yau to the Minkowski problem led to significant development of the theory of the Monge-Ampére equation. Many generalized problems around convex hypersurfaces with other prescribed curvature functions were considered intensively in recent years, see e.g. [GG02] and [GM03]. Most of them can be formulated as fully nonlinear elliptic equations. We refer to the lecture note of Guan [Gu04] for a complete description of the fully nonlinear elliptic equations arising from geometry, particularly the Minkowski problem.

We will investigate in Part II an analogous Minkowski type problem which incorporates the anisotropy. We will call it the anisotropic Minkowski problem. It arises from a wide geometry, first studied by Minkowski [Mi1897, Mi1903], the relative or Minkowski differential geometry, where the role of sphere can be assumed by some other smooth convex hypersurfaces, in contrast with Euclidean geometry. As we said before, Minkowski geometry is a special example of Finsler geometry. The questions arising from relative or Minkowski geometry were intensively investigated by a number of mathematicians, see e.g. [BF34, Bu49, Re76, Gag93, Th96, An01] and so on.

In Minkowski or relative geometry, we are always given a Minkowski norm.

Definition 0.13. A function $F : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to [0, +\infty)$ is called a Minkowski norm if

(i) F is a norm of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , i.e., F is a convex, 1-homogeneous function satisfying F(x) > 0 when $x \neq 0$;

- (ii) $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\});$
- (iii) F satisfies a uniformly elliptic condition: $Hess(\frac{1}{2}F^2)$ is positive definite in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}$.

For an n-dimensional oriented hypersurface M in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , the area in relative geometry should be computed as $\int_M d\mu_F = \int_M F^0(\bar{\nu}) d\mathcal{H}^n$, with $\bar{\nu}$ the standard normal and F^0 the dual norm of F. The anisotropic Gauss map (anisotropic normal) of M is a map from M to the Wulff shape \mathcal{W}_F . Using such anisotropic Gauss map, the anisotropic curvatures can be well defined. The major difference between relative geometry and Euclidean geometry lies on the fact that the metric we consider in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} is not Euclidean metric any more, but a new one G instead, depending on the second derivative of F (see (6.1) below), which varies from point to point. As well, the metric on M is chosen as g, the restriction of G on M, but not that of the Euclidean metric. This arises serious complications and difficulties for the geometry in Chapter 6. The setting here is largely motivated by the work of Andrews [An01], though the notations appear differently in Part II.

As in the classical differential geometry, when M is a closed strongly convex hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , the anisotropic Gauss map defines a diffeomorphism between M and \mathcal{W}_F . Therefore, M can be reparametrized by the inverse anisotropic Gauss map. In turn, the anisotropic curvatures can be viewed as functions on \mathcal{W}_F . In particular, the anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature K(z) for $z \in \mathcal{W}_F$ must satisfy (see (7.1) below)

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}_F} G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}) \frac{1}{K(z)} d\mu_F = 0, \forall \alpha = 1, \cdots, n+1,$$
(0.19)

where E^{α} is the standard coordinate vectors in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} .

The anisotropic Minkowski problem is the converse of the previous statement, namely, given a positive function K on \mathcal{W}_F , can one find a closed strongly convex hypersurface whose anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature is given by K as a function on its anisotropic normals?

In Chapter 7, we solve the anisotropic Minkowski problem. The main result is the following

Theorem 0.14. Let F be a Minkowski norm in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Let K be a positive function in $C^k(\mathcal{W})$ with $k \geq 2$ and satisfy the condition (0.19). Then there is a $C^{k+1,\alpha}(\forall 0 < \alpha < 1)$ closed strongly convex hypersurface M in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} whose anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature is K as a function on its anisotropic normals. Moreover, M is unique up to translations.

Remark 0.15. It can be seen from the proof that the smoothness of F,(ii) in Definition 6.1, can be assumed only in $C^{k+3}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\})$.

As in the classical Minkowski problem, we can reduce Theorem 0.14 to the solvability of a Monge-Ampére type equation on the anisotropic support function S,

$$\det(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij}) = \frac{1}{K} \quad \text{on } \mathcal{W}.$$
(0.20)

Here we give two remarks for (0.20). First, the covariant derivatives of S are all corresponding to the Riemannian metric g, which is the restriction of G on \mathcal{W}_F , but not restriction of the Euclidean metric on \mathcal{W}_F . Second, Q_{ijk} is a 3-tensor on \mathcal{W}_F , which corresponds to the third derivative of F. Hence in general, it does not vanish. In fact, it vanishes if and only if F is quadratic, in which case \mathcal{W}_F is an ellipsoid. This causes major difficulty when we prove a priori estimates for the Monge-Ampére equation.

As usual, we will apply the method of continuity to solve (0.20). The first issue is the a priori estimates for solutions of (0.20). By modifying Cheng-Yau's proof in [CY76], we are able to give a uniformly upper bound of the anisotropic outer radius of M, which leads to the C^0 estimate. To proceed to higher order estimates, it seems necessary to derive a uniformly positive lower bound of the anisotropic inner radius of M. Cheng-Yau's proof is highly nontrivial and seems not applicable. We apply instead a new idea, which combines an inequality of Andrews [An01] and a uniformly positive lower bound of the anisotropic outer radius, to give an explicit uniformly positive lower bound of the anisotropic inner radius of M. The difficulty arises when we deal with the C^2 estimate. In the classical one, there is no gradient term in the equation. Also the simple representation of Gauss equation on the sphere makes the C^2 estimate possible without deriving C^1 estimate. Our situation is much more complicated due to both the gradient term in (0.20) and more complicated Gauss equation (see Lemma 6.7). It seems indispensable to derive the C^1 estimate first. Fortunately, since we already have the positive lower and upper bound of S, we can choose an auxiliary function as the sum of gradient part and some lower order part, explicitly, we choose $W = \log |\nabla S|^2 + e^{\alpha(m_2 - S)}$, where m_2 is the upper bound of S, α is some large constant. With this choice, we are able to use the maximum principle to obtain bounds for W and then bounds for $|\nabla S|$. The C^2 estimate cannot be proved as usual either. Here we adopt some idea of Yau's proof in [Ya78] for Calabi conjecture and Guan-Li's proof [GL10] for more general complex Monge-Ampére equation. We choose an auxiliary function $\Phi = \log(a + \Delta S) + e^{\beta(m_2 - S)}$, where a, β are some constant. Then it is possible to derive bound for Φ and then bound for $|\nabla^2 S|.$

Besides the a priori estimates for solutions of (0.20), we also need to prove the openness of sets of solutions. Thus it is necessary to study the linearized operator L_S of $S \mapsto \det(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij})$. In the classical proof, the divergence free property of Newton transformation $\frac{\partial \det(u_{ij})}{\partial u_{ij}}$ is quite important to prove the self-adjointness of L_S . Here such property fails. However, by using the explicit Gauss equation,

we still be able to prove the self-adjointness of L_S with respect to the anisotropic measure $d\mu_F$ (see Lemma 7.11). The kernel of L_S is explicitly derived as well (see Lemma 7.13). With these at hand, the openness can be proved in a standard way. The uniqueness part in Theorem 0.14 follows easily from Lemma 7.11 and 7.13.

Part I

Analytic aspects of anisotropic (Finsler) Laplacian

Chapter 1

Introduction to anisotropic Laplacian

1.1 Norm in \mathbb{R}^n

Definition 1.1. A function $F : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^+$ is called a **norm** in \mathbb{R}^n , when it satisfies the following three properties:

(i) F is nonnegative and $F(\xi) = 0$ if and only if $\xi = 0$;

(ii) F is even, positively homogeoneous of degree 1, i.e.,

$$F(t\xi) = |t|F(\xi) \text{ for any } t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n;$$

(iii) F is convex, i.e., for any $0 \le t \le 1$, $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$F((1-t)\xi_1 + t\xi_2) \le (1-t)F(\xi_1) + tF(\xi_2).$$

Property (iii) can be replaced by triangle inequality, that is,

(*iii*)' $F(\xi_1 + \xi_2) \le F(\xi_1) + F(\xi_2)$ for any $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

We say F is a weak norm if condition (ii) is weakened to be

$$F(t\xi) = tF(\xi)$$
 for any $t > 0$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

In other words, weak norm needs not to be even (In most case, the even assumption is not significant. For simplicity, we always work on an even norm.) It is easy to see that for every norm F, there exist two positive numbers a, b > 0 such that

$$a|\xi| \le F(\xi) \le b|\xi| \text{ for any } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{1.1}$$

where $|\cdot|$ denotes standard Euclidean norm. Consequently, a norm must be Lipschitz continuous. However, a norm can never be differentiable at the origin.

The following properties are easy consequences of 1-homogeneity and convexity of F.

Proposition 1.2. Let F be a norm in \mathbb{R}^n , then the following holds:

(i) if
$$F \in C^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \{0\})$$
, then for $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \{0\}, t \neq 0$,
 $F_{\xi_{i}}(\xi)\xi_{i} = F(\xi), \quad F_{\xi_{i}}(t\xi) = sign(t)F_{\xi_{i}}(\xi);$
(ii) if $F \in C^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \{0\})$, then for $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \{0\}, t \neq 0$,
 $\sum_{j=1}^{n} F_{\xi_{i}\xi_{j}}(\xi)\xi_{j} = 0$ for any $i = 1, 2, ..., n, \quad F_{\xi_{i}\xi_{j}}(t\xi) = \frac{1}{|t|}F_{\xi_{i}\xi_{j}}(\xi).$

(iii)
$$|F(x) - F(y)| \le F(x+y) \le F(x) + F(y);$$

 $|F_{\xi}(x)| \le C \text{ for any } x \ne 0 \text{ if } F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}).$

For later use, some additional assumption may be posed on a norm F.

We say $F^2(\xi) := F(\xi)^2$ is strictly convex in \mathbb{R}^n if for any $0 < t < 1, \xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\xi_1 \neq \xi_2$,

$$F^{2}((1-t)\xi_{1}+t\xi_{2}) < (1-t)F^{2}(\xi_{1})+tF^{2}(\xi_{2}).$$

We say F^2 is **strongly convex** in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ if $F \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and $\operatorname{Hess}(F^2)$ is positive definite in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$, i.e., for any $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$, there exists a positive constant γ such that

$$F_{\xi_i\xi_j}(\xi)\eta_i\eta_j \ge \gamma |\eta|^2.$$

It is clear that strong convexity of F^2 in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ implies strict convexity of F^2 in \mathbb{R}^n .

We now introduce a related **dual norm** F^0 on \mathbb{R}^n .

 $F^0: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined to be the support function of $K := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n | F(x) \le 1\}$, namely,

$$F^0(x) := \sup_{\xi \in K} \langle x, \xi \rangle.$$

Here $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the standard Euclidean inner product. It is easy to verify that F^0 is also a convex, even, 1-positively homogeneous function. Actually F^0 is dual to F (see for instance [Sch93]) in the sense that

$$F^{0}(x) = \sup_{\xi \neq 0} \frac{\langle x, \xi \rangle}{F(\xi)}$$
 and $F(\xi) = \sup_{x \neq 0} \frac{\langle x, \xi \rangle}{F^{0}(x)}$.

Hence the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality holds in the sense that

$$\langle \xi, x \rangle \le F(\xi) F^0(x). \tag{1.2}$$

Differentiability of F in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ depends on the convexity of $K^0 := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n | F^0(x) \leq 1\}$. In fact, F is differentiable in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ if and only if K^0 is strictly convex, namely, the tangent space of K^0 intersect with K at only one point. The same holds for F^0 and K (See [Sch93], Cor. 1.7.3).

The following properties between F and F^0 is fundamental but very useful.

Proposition 1.3. Let $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ be a norm in \mathbb{R}^n such that F^0 is also in $C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, then

(i)
$$F(\nabla F^{0}(x)) = 1$$
, $F^{0}(\nabla F(\xi)) = 1$ for $x, \xi \neq 0$;
(ii) $F^{0}(x)\nabla F(\nabla F^{0}(x)) = x$, $F(\xi)\nabla F^{0}(\nabla F(\xi)) = \xi$ for $x, \xi \neq 0$.

Here $\nabla F = (F_{\xi_1}, \cdots, F_{\xi_n})$ and $\nabla F^0 = (F_{x_1}^0, \cdots, F_{x_n}^0)$.

Proof. For any $x \neq 0$, there exists $\xi_x \neq 0$ such that

$$F^{0}(x) = \frac{\langle x, \xi_x \rangle}{F(\xi_x)}.$$
(1.3)

Meanwhile,

$$F(\xi_x) = \frac{\langle x, \xi_x \rangle}{F^0(x)} = \max_{y \neq 0} \frac{\langle y, \xi_x \rangle}{F^0(y)}.$$
(1.4)

Hence the function $g(y) := F^0(y)F(\xi_x) - \langle y, \xi_x \rangle$ attains its minimum at x, which implies

$$\nabla g(x) = \nabla F^0(x)F(\xi_x) - \xi_x = 0.$$
 (1.5)

Acting F on both sides and using 1-homogeneity, we get

$$F(\xi_x)F(\nabla F^0(x)) = F(\xi_x), \qquad (1.6)$$

which leads to

$$F(\nabla F^0(x)) = 1$$

for any $x \neq 0$. We observe that for $\xi = \nabla F^0(x)$, we have

$$F^0(x) = \frac{\langle x, \xi \rangle}{F(\xi)}$$

by using $F(\nabla F^0(x)) = 1$ and Proposition 1.2 (i). This implies $\xi = \nabla F^0(x)$ minimizes $h(\eta) := F^0(x)F(\eta) - \langle x, \eta \rangle$. Hence

$$\nabla h(\nabla F^0(x)) = F^0(x)\nabla F(\nabla F^0(x)) - x = 0, \qquad (1.7)$$

which is just the first equality in (ii). For the other two equalities, we just interchange the role of x and ξ and use the same argument as above.

In an equivalent but more geometric way, F can be defined as a nonnegative, even and convex function on a (n-1)-dimensional sphere \mathbb{S}^{n-1} . This kind of definition often appears in some more geometric context, such as geometry of submanifolds. Since we will use some results in that context, we need to clarify the equivalence of the assumption on F in these different definitions. (In general, when defining Fon \mathbb{S}^{n-1} , the condition that F is even does not appear, namely, the norm can be weakened to be not even.)

To be precise, restrict F on \mathbb{S}^{n-1} , denote also by $F := F|_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} \in C^1(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$.

Proposition 1.4. The following three statements about F are equivalent:

- (i) F^2 is strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$;
- (ii) The restriction of

$$F_{\xi\xi}(\xi) = (F_{\xi_i\xi_j}(\xi))_{i,j=1}^n$$

on $T_{\xi}\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ is a positive definite endomorphism $T_{\xi}\mathbb{S}^{n-1} \to T_{\xi}\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, i.e., there exists a positive constant λ , such that for any $\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, $V \in T_{\xi}\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, we have

$$F_{\xi_i\xi_j}(\xi)V_iV_j \ge \lambda |V|^2$$

- (iii) $Hess_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}}F + FI|_{\xi}$ is positive definite for any $\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$. Here $Hess_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}}F$ denotes the Hessian of F on \mathbb{S}^{n-1} and I the identity map on $T_{\xi}\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$.
- Proof. For simplicity of notation we use $F_i = F_{\xi_i}, F_{ij} = F_{\xi_i\xi_j}$. (i) \Rightarrow (ii). The assumption means

$$(F(\xi)F_{ij}(\xi) + F_i(\xi)F_j(\xi))\zeta_i\zeta_j > 0$$
(1.8)

for any vector $\zeta = (\zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$. If $F_{\xi}(\xi)$ is parallel to ξ , then statement (ii) is clearly true from (1.8), because in this case any $V \in T_{\xi} \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ satisfies $\langle V, F_{\xi}(\xi) \rangle = 0$. If $F_{\xi}(\xi)$ is not parallel to ξ , then $F_{\xi}(\xi)^{\perp} := \{V \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid \langle V, F_{\xi}(\xi) \rangle = 0\}$ and ξ span the whole space \mathbb{R}^n . Hence for any $V \in T_{\xi} \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, we have $V = \zeta + \lambda \xi$ for some $\zeta \in F_{\xi}(\xi)^{\perp}$ and some $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. Putting $\zeta = V - \lambda \xi$ into (1.8) we have

$$0 < (F(\xi)F_{ij}(\xi) + F_i(\xi)F_j(\xi))\zeta_i\zeta_j = F(\xi)F_{ij}(\xi)\zeta_i\zeta_j$$

= $F(\xi)F_{ij}(\xi)(V_i - \lambda\xi_i)(V_j - \lambda\xi_j) = F(\xi)\lambda^2F_{ij}(\xi)V_iV_j,$

where we have used Proposition 1.2(ii).

(ii) \Rightarrow (i). Any $V \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ is decomposed into $V = \eta + \lambda \xi$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\eta \in T_{\xi} \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$. From (ii) we have

$$(F(\xi)F_{ij}(\xi) + F_i(\xi)F_j(\xi))V_iV_j = F(\xi)F_{ij}(\xi)\eta_i\eta_j + F_i(\xi)F_j(\xi)V_iV_j$$

> $F_i(\xi)F_j(\xi)V_iV_j \ge 0.$

Here we have used again Proposition 1.2(ii).

(ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii). Assume $\{e_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1}^{n-1}$ is an orthonormal basis of $T_{\xi}\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ and $\{\varepsilon_i\}_{i=1^n}$ is the standard coordinate basis of \mathbb{R}^n . Let $e_{\alpha} = e_{\alpha}^i \varepsilon_i$. Denote by $\overline{\nabla}$ and D the covariant derivative on \mathbb{S}^{n-1} and \mathbb{R}^n respectively. Then we have

$$(Hess_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}}F + FI)|_{\xi}(e_{\alpha}, e_{\beta}) = e_{\alpha}e_{\beta}F - (\overline{\nabla}_{e_{\alpha}}e_{\beta})F + F\delta_{\alpha\beta}$$

$$= D_{e_{\alpha}}D_{e_{\beta}}F + (D_{e_{\alpha}}e_{\beta} - \overline{\nabla}_{e_{\alpha}}e_{\beta})F + F\delta_{\alpha\beta}$$

$$= D_{e_{\alpha}}D_{e_{\beta}}F + h_{\alpha\beta}\langle -\xi, F_{\xi}(\xi) \rangle + F\delta_{\alpha\beta}$$

$$= D_{e_{\alpha}}D_{e_{\beta}}F = e_{\alpha}^{i}e_{\beta}^{j}F_{ij},$$

where we have used the second fundamental form $h_{\alpha\beta} = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$ on \mathbb{S}^{n-1} and Proposition 1.2(i). Thus we conclude that (ii) is equivalent to (iii).

To end this section, we give some typical norms in \mathbb{R}^n .

- **Examples 1.5.** (i) The Euclidean norm $F(\xi) = (\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\xi_i|^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ in \mathbb{R}^n is a norm of class $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ with F^2 strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$.
 - (ii) For a symmetric positive definite $n \times n$ matrix A, $F(\xi) = \langle A\xi, \xi \rangle$ in \mathbb{R}^n is also a $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ norm with F^2 strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ (Riemannian metric).
- (iii) The norm $F(\xi) = (\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\xi_i|^p)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ in \mathbb{R}^n for $p \ge 1$ is called p-norm. Its dual norm is $F^0(\xi) = (\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\xi_i|^q)^{\frac{1}{q}}$ with $q = \frac{p}{p-1}$. The norm $F(\xi) = \max\{|\xi_1|, \dots, |\xi_n|\}$ is called ∞ -norm. Such p-norm has some disadvantage on its smoothness and convexity. For $1 \le p < 2$, $F \notin C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$. For p > 2, F is not strongly convex. Nevertheless, we can approximate it by a sequence of strongly convex norm of class $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$.

(iv) For numerical explorations, a particular strongly convex norm of class $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$ in \mathbb{R}^2 is $F(\xi_1, \xi_2) = \sqrt{\sqrt{\xi_1^4 + \xi_2^4} + [\xi_1^2 + \xi_2^2]}$.

1.2 Anisotropic Laplacian, Wulff shape

1.2.1 Anisotropic Laplacian

Assume that $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$. The **anisotropic Laplacian** on \mathbb{R}^n is defined by

$$Qu := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(F(\nabla u) F_{\xi_i}(\nabla u) \right) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2 \right) (\nabla u) \right).$$
(1.9)

When $F(\xi) = |\xi| = (\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\xi_i|^2)^{1/2}$, the anisotropic Laplacian $Q = \Delta$, the usual Laplacian. In general, anisotropic Laplacian is a nonlinear (or quasilinear) elliptic operator of divergent type.

This operator comes also from the theory of Calculus of Variations. When we derive the Euler-Lagrange equation which involves the parametric functionals containing the expression

$$\int F^2(\nabla u(x))dx,\tag{1.10}$$

anisotropic Laplacian becomes the second order differential operator in the equation.

In the following chapters, we will investigate the equation

$$-Qu(x) = f(x, u, \nabla u) \text{ in } \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$$
(1.11)

with various $f(x, u, \nabla u)$. Since $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, (1.11) should be understood in the weak sense that

$$\int_{\Omega} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{i}} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^{2}\right) (\nabla u) \varphi_{i} dx = \int_{\Omega} f(x, u, \nabla u) \varphi dx \text{ for any } \varphi \in W_{0}^{1,2}(\Omega).$$
(1.12)

1.2.2 Wulff shape

Another concept we shall introduce in this section is **Wulff shape** (sometimes also **equilibrium crystal shape** or **indicatrix**). Consider the map

$$\Phi: \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}^n, \qquad \Phi(\xi) = F_{\xi}(\xi).$$

Its image $\Phi(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$ is a C^1 (symmetric) convex, compact hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^n , which is called the **Wulff shape** of F. When $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, the Wulff shape is nothing but the (n-1)-dimensional sphere \mathbb{S}^{n-1} . On the other hand, Wulff shape can be interpreted by the dual norm F^0 .

Proposition 1.6. $\Phi(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n | F^0(x) = 1\}.$

Proof. If $x = F_{\xi}(\xi)$ for some $\xi \in S^{n-1}$, by Proposition 1.3 (i), $F^{0}(x) = F^{0}(F_{\xi}(\xi)) =$ 1. So we need only to prove $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} | F^{0}(x) = 1\} \subset \Phi(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$. Suppose $F^{0}(x) = 1$, by definition, $\langle x, \xi \rangle = F(\xi)$ for some $\xi \neq 0$, $\langle x, \tilde{\xi} \rangle \leq F(\eta)$ for any $\eta \neq 0$. Hence $g(\eta) := \langle x - F_{\xi}(\eta), \eta \rangle = \langle x, \eta \rangle - F(\eta)$ attains its maximum 0 at ξ . By taking derivative of g and evaluating at ξ , we know $x - F_{\xi}(\xi) = 0$. Therefore, $x = F_{\xi}(\xi)$, which completes the proof.

In Part I, we denote $\mathcal{W}_F := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid F^0(x) \leq 1\}$ and $\kappa_n := |\mathcal{W}_F|$, the Lebesgue measure of \mathcal{W}_F . We also use the notation $\mathcal{W}_r(x_0) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid F^0(x - x_0) \leq r\}$. We call $\mathcal{W}_r(x_0)$ a **Wulff ball** of radius r with center at x_0 . By Proposition 1.6, we see that $\partial \mathcal{W}_F$ is the Wulff shape.

Remark 1.7. We have already seen that for every norm F, there exists a (symmetric) convex, compact hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^n corresponding to it. Conversely, given a (symmetric) convex, compact hypersurface M in \mathbb{R}^n , denoting K as the convex body enclosed by M, the function $F^0(\xi) = \inf\{\alpha > 0 | \xi \in \alpha K\}$ is a norm, whose dual norm F has M as its Wulff shape.

1.3 F-mean curvature

1.3.1 F-mean curvature

In this subsection we assume that $F \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and F^2 is strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$.

We briefly recall geometry of submanifolds in this section and introduce F-mean curvature (or anisotropic mean curvature).

Let (M^{n-1}, g) be an (n-1)-dimensional, oriented, compact Riemannian manifold without boundary and $X: M^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a smooth immersion of M^{n-1} into \mathbb{R}^n . We denote by dX and $\nu: M \to \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ the differential map of X and the corresponding Gauss map (outward normal) respectively. Let $S = dX^{-1} \circ d\nu$ and $h(\cdot, \cdot) := g(S(\cdot), \cdot)$ be the classical Weingarten operator and the second fundamental form respectively. Set

 $A_F = dX^{-1} \circ F_{\xi\xi}(\nu) \circ dX, \quad S_F = A_F \circ S, \quad h_F(\cdot, \cdot) := g(S_F(\cdot), \cdot).$

It follows from Proposition 1.4 that A_F is a symmetric positive definite (1, 1)-tensor. S_F and h_F are called *F*-Weingarten operator and *F*-second fundamental form respectively. *F*-mean curvature of the immersion X is defined as

$$H_F = \operatorname{tr}_g(h_F),$$

where tr_g denotes the trace of tensor with respect to g. $\overrightarrow{H}_F = -H_F \nu$ are called *F*-mean curvature vector.

The F-mean curvature comes from a variational problem related to elliptic parametric functionals of the type

$$\mathcal{F}(X) = \int_M F(\nu) d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}.$$
(1.13)

Critical points of \mathcal{F} can be characterized as hypersurfaces with vanishing F-mean curvature. Precisely, consider a variation $X_t = X + t\varphi$ with $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R}^n)$, the first variation of the \mathcal{F} reads as

$$\delta_{\varphi}\mathcal{F}(X) = -\int_{\partial\Omega} \langle \overrightarrow{H_F}, \varphi \rangle d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}$$

There are lots of works concerning the F-minimal surfaces, constant F-mean curvature surfaces and anisotropic mean curvature flow. See for example [Bel04, Cl04, Gi06, HLMG09, KoPa10].

For simplicity, let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a smooth bounded domain, we derive the local representation formula of H_F for the boundary $\partial\Omega$. Let $\{e_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1}^{n-1}$ be a basis of the tangent space $T_p(\partial\Omega)$ and $g_{\alpha\beta}$ and $h_{\alpha\beta}$ be the first and second fundamental form of $\partial\Omega$ respectively. Moreover let $(g^{\alpha\beta})$ be the inverse matrix of $(g_{\alpha\beta})$ and $\overline{\nabla}$ the covariant derivative in \mathbb{R}^n . Then

$$(h_F)_{\alpha\beta} = \langle F_{\xi\xi} \circ \overline{\nabla}_{e_{\alpha}} \nu, e_{\beta} \rangle, \qquad (1.14)$$

$$H_F = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n-1} g^{\alpha\beta} (h_F)_{\alpha\beta}.$$
 (1.15)

 $\partial\Omega$ is called **weakly** *F*-convex (F-mean convex, resp.) if $(h_F)_{\alpha\beta}$ is nonnegative definite $(H_F \ge 0 \text{ resp.})$. It is easy to see from the convexity of *F* that $(h_F)_{\alpha\beta}$ being nonnegative definite is equivalent that the ordinary second fundamental form $h_{\alpha\beta}$ being nonnegative definite, in other words, there is no difference between weakly *F*-convex and weakly convex. However, *F*-mean convex is different from mean convex.

1.3.2 Relation with anisotropic Laplacian and Wulff shape

The relationship of Wulff shape and F-mean curvature are very close. It is well known that an *embedded* compact hypersurface without boundary in \mathbb{R}^n with constant mean curvature must be a standard sphere. This is the famous Alexandrov Theorem. Another results due to Hopf says that a *topological sphere* immersed in \mathbb{R}^3 with constant mean curvature must be a standard sphere.

Similarly, the Wulff shape can be characterized as an compact connected hypersurface with constant *F*-mean curvature. We list these Theorems, which are due to He-Li-Ma-Ge and Koiso-Palmer respectively.

Theorem 1.8 ([HLMG09],Th. 1.3). Let $X : M \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be an embedded compact connected hypersurface without boundary in the Euclidean space. If $H_F(M)$ is constant, then up to translations and rescaling, M is the Wulff shape.

Theorem 1.9 ([KoPa10],Th. 1.1). let $X : \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a smooth immersion of a compact genus zero surface without boundary with constant *F*-mean curvature. Then up to translations and rescaling, Simga is the 2-dimensional Wulff shape.

Remark 1.10. In [HLMG09] and [KoPa10], their assumption on F is purely on \mathbb{S}^{n-1} , for example, $Hess_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}}F + FI$ is positive definite on \mathbb{S}^{n-1} . However, by Proposition 1.4, these assumptions are equivalent to ours.

Anisotropic Laplacian and F-mean curvature are related by the following theorem, which also gives a formula for F-mean curvature of a level set of some function.

Theorem 1.11. Let u be a C^2 function with a regular level set $S_t := \{x \in \overline{\Omega} | u = t\}$. Let $H_F(S_t)$ be the F-mean curvature of the level set S_t . We then have

$$Qu(x) = H_F(S_t)\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu_F^2}$$

for $x \in S_t$ with $\nabla u(x) \neq 0$, where $\nu_F := F_{\xi}(\nu)$.

Proof. We first derive a representation for graphic hypersurface. Assume that a surface $M \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is given by the graph of a function f in a domain of \mathbb{R}^{n-1} :

$$x_n = f(x'), \qquad x' = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$$

In the proof, the Greek indices $1 \le \alpha, \beta, \gamma \le n-1$, the Roman indices $1 \le i, j, k \le n$,

A basis of the tangent space of M is given locally by

$$e_{\alpha} = (0, \ldots, 1, \ldots, f_{\alpha}),$$

where 1 is on the α -th coordinate. The first fundamental form for the graph of f is given by

$$g_{\alpha\beta} = \langle e_{\alpha}, e_{\beta} \rangle = \delta_{\alpha\beta} + f_{\alpha}f_{\beta}$$

Here $\delta_{\alpha\beta}$ denotes the Kronecker symbol. One can compute that

$$g^{\alpha\beta} = \delta_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{f_{\alpha}f_{\beta}}{1 + |\nabla f|^2},$$

where $\nabla f = (f_1, f_2, \dots, f_{n-1})$. The unit normal vector field is given by

$$\nu = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + |\nabla f|^2}} (-\nabla f, 1).$$

We calculate the first derivative of ν and obtain

$$\nu_{\alpha} = (\nu_{\alpha}^1, \nu_{\alpha}^2, \dots, \nu_{\alpha}^n),$$

where

$$\nu_{\alpha}^{\beta} = -\frac{f_{\beta\alpha}}{\sqrt{1+|\nabla f|^2}} + \frac{f_{\beta}f_{\gamma}f_{\gamma\alpha}}{\sqrt{1+|\nabla f|^2}^3},\tag{1.16}$$

$$\nu_{\alpha}^{n} = -\frac{f_{\gamma}f_{\gamma\alpha}}{\sqrt{1+|\nabla f|^{2}}^{3}}.$$
(1.17)

Now we derive the F-mean curvature by the local representation (1.14) and (1.15).

$$H_F(M) = g^{\alpha\beta}F_{ij}(\nu)\nu^i_{\alpha}e^j_{\beta}$$

= $g^{\alpha\beta}(F_{i\beta}(\nu) + F_{in}(\nu)f_{\beta})\nu^i_{\alpha}$
= $\left(F_{i\alpha}(\nu) + \frac{(F_{in}(\nu) - F_{i\beta}(\nu)f_{\beta})f_{\alpha}}{1 + |\nabla f|^2}\right)\nu^i_{\alpha}.$

From Proposition 1.2 (ii), we have

$$F_{ij}(\nu)\nu^j = 0$$

for any i, that is

$$F_{in}(\nu) - F_{i\beta}(\nu)f_{\beta} = 0.$$

Therefore the F-mean curvature of M is

$$H_F(M) = F_{i\alpha}(\nu)\nu^i_{\alpha}, \qquad (1.18)$$

if M is a graph of f.

We return to compute the F-mean curvature of the level set S_t and show that

$$H_F(S_t) = sign\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F}\right) F_{ij}(\nabla u) u_{ij}.$$
(1.19)

We shall locally work around a point x_0 with $u(x_0) = t$ and $|\nabla u(x_0)| \neq 0$. Without loss of generality we assume that $u_n(x_0) \neq 0$. By the implicit function theorem, S_t can be locally represented as a graph of a function f, i.e.

$$S_t = (x', f(x')), \qquad x' = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{n-1}).$$

Then

$$u(x', f(x')) = t.$$
 (1.20)

Taking the first and second derivative of (1.20), we obtain that

$$f_{\alpha} = -\frac{u_{\alpha}}{u_n},\tag{1.21}$$

$$f_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{u_{\alpha\beta} + u_{\alpha n} f_{\beta}}{u_n} + \frac{u_{\alpha}(u_{n\beta} + u_{nn} f_{\beta})}{u_n^2}.$$
 (1.22)

It follows from (1.16), (1.17), (1.21) and (1.22) that

$$\nu_{\alpha}^{\beta} = \frac{|u_n|}{u_n} \left(\frac{1}{|\nabla u|} (u_{\beta\alpha} + u_{\beta n} f_{\alpha}) - \frac{u_{\beta} u_i}{|\nabla u|^3} (u_{i\alpha} + u_{in} f_{\alpha}) \right), \tag{1.23}$$

$$\nu_{\alpha}^{n} = \frac{|u_{n}|}{u_{n}} \left(\frac{1}{|\nabla u|} (u_{n\alpha} + u_{nn} f_{\alpha}) - \frac{u_{n} u_{i}}{|\nabla u|^{3}} (u_{i\alpha} + u_{in} f_{\alpha}) \right).$$
(1.24)

By (1.18), (1.23) and (1.24), we have

$$H_F(S_t) = F_{\beta\alpha}(\nu)\nu_{\alpha}^{\beta} + F_{n\alpha}(\nu)\nu_{\alpha}^{n}$$

=
$$\frac{|u_n|}{u_n} \left(F_{i\alpha}(\nu)\frac{1}{|\nabla u|}(u_{i\alpha} + u_{in}f_{\alpha}) - F_{jn}(\nu)\frac{u_j}{|\nabla u|^3}u_i(u_{i\alpha} + u_{in}f_{\alpha}) \right) 1.25)$$

Note that $\nu = \frac{|u_n|\nabla u|}{|u_n|\nabla u|}$. Again from Proposition 1.2 (ii) we have

$$F_{jn}(\nu)u_j = 0,$$

$$F_{i\alpha}(\nu)u_\alpha + F_{in}(\nu)u_n = 0.$$
Applying these two equalities and (1.21) to (1.25) and noting that $F_{ij}(\nu) = F_{ij}(\frac{|u_n|\nabla u|}{|u_n|\nabla u|}) = |\nabla u|F_{ij}(\nabla u)$, we obtain

$$H_F(S_t) = \frac{|u_n|}{u_n} F_{i\alpha}(\nabla u)(u_{i\alpha} + u_{in}f_{\alpha})$$

$$= \frac{|u_n|}{u_n} \left(F_{i\alpha}(\nabla u)u_{i\alpha} - F_{i\alpha}(\nabla u)u_{in}\frac{u_{\alpha}}{u_n} \right)$$

$$= \frac{|u_n|}{u_n} \left(F_{i\alpha}(\nabla u)u_{i\alpha} + F_{in}(\nabla u)u_{in} \right)$$

$$= \frac{|u_n|}{u_n} F_{ij}(\nabla u)u_{ij}.$$

On the other hand, by Proposition 1.2(i), we have

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F} = \langle F_{\xi}(\nu), \nabla u \rangle = \frac{|u_n|}{u_n} F(\nabla u).$$

Now we have the relationship:

$$Qu(x) = (FF_{ij}(\nabla u) + F_i(\nabla u)F_j(\nabla u))u_{ij} = H_F(S_t)\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu_F^2},$$

for $x \in S_t$ with $\nabla u(x) \neq 0$.

Remark 1.12. Theorem 1.11 is an extension for the classical mean curvature formula:

$$\Delta u = H u_{\nu} + u_{\nu\nu}.$$

1.4 Convex symmetrization

This section is devoted to an important tool for the investigation of anisotropic Laplacian: convex symmetrization, which was introduced in [AFTL97] as a generalization of Schwarz symmetrization. We will use the results frequently in future chapters.

1.4.1 Polyá-Szegő principle

Consider a measurable function u on a smooth bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. The one dimensional **decreasing rearrangement** of u is

$$u^*(t) = \sup \{s \ge 0 : |\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| > s\}| > t\}, \text{ for } t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

The classical **Schwarz symmetrization** of u is defined as

$$u^{\sharp}(x) = u^{*}(\omega_{n}|x|^{n}), \text{ for } x \in \Omega^{\sharp},$$

where ω_n is the Lebesgue measure of the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^n and Ω^{\sharp} is the ball centered at the origin having the same measure as Ω . Similarly, we define **convex** symmetrization of u with respect to F as

$$u^{\star}(x) = u^{\star}(\kappa_n F^0(x)^n), \text{ for } x \in \Omega^{\star}.$$

Here $\kappa_n F^0(x)^n$ is just the Lebesgue measure of a homothetic Wulff ball with radius $F^0(x)$ and Ω^* is the homothetic Wulff ball centered at the origin having the same measure as Ω .

The motivation is to find such a convex symmetrization to minimize the parametric functional (1.10). Such kind of property was named as Polyá-Szegö principle. (See [Tal76], [PuSe86])

In [AFTL97], the authors proved Polya-Szegö principle for the parametric functional (1.10).

Theorem 1.13 ([AFTL97], Th. 3.1). (i) Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a smooth bounded domain and $u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ for $p \geq 1$. Then $u^* \in W^{1,p}(\Omega^*)$ and

$$\int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla u) dx \ge \int_{\Omega^*} F^p(\nabla u^*) dx.$$
(1.26)

(ii) Let $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \ge 1$. Then $u^* \in W_0^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F^p(\nabla u) dx \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F^p(\nabla u^*) dx.$$
(1.27)

The proof combines coarea formula and isoperimetric inequality. For a smooth bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, and a function $u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ for some $p \ge 1$, the *anisotropic perimeter* of Ω is defined by

$$P_F(\Omega) := \int_{\partial \Omega} F(\nu) d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}$$

which coincides with parametric functional (1.13).

Set $\Omega_t := \{x \in \Omega | u(x) > t\}$. It is well known that the *co-area formula*

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\Omega_t} f(x)dx = \int_{\partial\Omega_t} \frac{f(x)}{|\nabla u|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}$$
(1.28)

and the *isoperimetric inequality*

$$P_F(\Omega) \ge P_F(\Omega^*) = n\kappa_n^{\frac{1}{n}} |\Omega|^{1-\frac{1}{n}}$$
(1.29)

hold. Moreover, equality in (1.29) holds if and only if Ω is a Wulff ball. When $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, the standard norm in \mathbb{R}^n , (1.29) reduces to the classical isoperimetric inequality. For the proof of (1.28) and (1.29), we refer to [Bu49, FR60, FM91, AFTL97].

We now prove Theorem 1.13.

Proof of Theorem 1.13. We only prove (i), since (ii) is very similar. By using coarea formula (1.28) and Hölder inequality, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} F^{p}(\nabla u) dx = \int_{\inf u}^{\sup u} -\frac{d}{dt} \left(\int_{\Omega_{t}} F^{p}(\nabla u) \right) dt$$
$$= \int_{\inf u}^{\sup u} \int_{\partial \Omega_{t}} \frac{F^{p}(\nabla u)}{|\nabla u|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} dt$$
$$\geq \int_{\inf u}^{\sup u} \left(\int_{\partial \Omega_{t}} \frac{F(\nabla u)}{|\nabla u|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \right)^{p} \left(\int_{\partial \Omega_{t}} \frac{1}{|\nabla u|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \right)^{1-p} dt.$$
(1.30)

On the other hand, by using isoperimetric inequality (1.29), we have

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_t} \frac{F(\nabla u)}{|\nabla u|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} = P_F(\Omega_t) \ge P_F(\Omega_t^*) = \int_{\partial\Omega_t^*} \frac{F(\nabla u^*)}{|\nabla u^*|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}.$$
 (1.31)

It follows again from coarea formula (1.28) that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_t} \frac{1}{|\nabla u|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} = -\frac{d}{dt} |\Omega_t| = -\frac{d}{dt} |\Omega_t^\star| = \int_{\partial\Omega_t^\star} \frac{1}{|\nabla u^\star|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}, \quad (1.32)$$

where we have also used the fact $|\Omega_t| = |\Omega_t^*|$ for every t. Since $\sup u^* = \sup u$ and $\inf u^* = \inf u$, we see easily from (1.30), (1.31) and (1.32) that

$$\int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla u) dx \ge \int_{\Omega^*} F^p(\nabla u^*) dx.$$

A direct corollary of Theorem 1.13 is a sharp Sobolev type inequality.

Corollary 1.14 ([AFTL97], Cor. 3.2). Let $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \ge 1$. Then

$$\|u\|_{L^{p*}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \frac{\omega_n^{1/n}}{\kappa_n^{1/n}} c_{n,p} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F^p(\nabla u) dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
 (1.33)

Here $p^* = \frac{p}{p-1}$, $c_{n,p}$ is the best constant in classical Sobolev inequality in [Tal76]. Proof. We first claim that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F^p(\nabla u^\star) dx = \frac{\kappa_n^{\frac{p}{n}}}{\omega_n^{\frac{p}{n}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u^\sharp|^p dx.$$
(1.34)

Proof of (1.34). It's clear that

$$\nabla u^{\star}(x) = (u^{\star})'(\kappa_n F^0(x)^n)n\kappa_n F^0(x)^{n-1}\nabla F^0$$

Noting that u^* decreases and using Proposition 1.3(i), we have

$$F(\nabla u^{\star}(x)) = -(u^{\star})'(\kappa_n F^0(x)^n)n\kappa_n F^0(x)^{n-1}.$$

Set $\mu(t) = |\{u^* > t\}|$ and $r(t) = \left(\frac{1}{\kappa_n}\mu(t)\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}$. It is easy to see that $\{u^* = t\} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : F^0(x) = r(t)\}$. Hence

$$\int_{\{u^{\star}=t\}} \frac{F^{p}(\nabla u^{\star})}{|\nabla u^{\star}|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}$$

$$= \left(-(u^{\star})'(\mu(t))n\kappa_{n}r(t)^{n-1}\right)^{p} \int_{\{u^{\star}=t\}} \frac{1}{|\nabla u^{\star}|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}$$

$$= \left(-(u^{\star})'(\mu(t))n\kappa_{n}^{\frac{1}{n}}\mu(t)^{\frac{n-1}{n}}\right)^{p}\mu(t)'$$

$$= \frac{\kappa_{n}^{\frac{p}{n}}}{\omega_{n}^{\frac{p}{n}}} \left(-(u^{\star})'(\mu(t))n\omega_{n}^{\frac{1}{n}}\mu(t)^{\frac{n-1}{n}}\right)^{p}\mu(t)'.$$

Consequently, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F^p(\nabla u^*) dx = \int_{\inf u}^{\sup u} \int_{\{u^*=t\}} \frac{F^p(\nabla u^*)}{|\nabla u^*|} d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} dt$$
$$= \frac{\kappa_n^{\frac{p}{n}}}{\omega_n^{\frac{p}{n}}} \int_{\inf u^*}^{\sup u^*} \left(-(u^*)'(\mu(t))n\omega_n^{\frac{1}{n}}\mu(t)^{\frac{n-1}{n}} \right)^p \mu(t)' dt. \quad (1.35)$$

On the other hand, thanks to the facts that $\mu(t) = |\{u^{\sharp} > t\}|$, $\inf u^{\star} = \inf u^{\sharp}$ and $\sup u^{\star} = \sup u^{\sharp}$, a similar calculation shows that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u^{\sharp}|^p dx = \int_{\inf u^{\star}}^{\sup u^{\star}} \left(-(u^{\star})'(\mu(t))n\omega_n^{\frac{1}{n}}\mu(t)^{\frac{n-1}{n}} \right)^p \mu(t)' dt.$$
(1.36)

(1.35) and (1.36) lead to the claim (1.34).

Corollary 1.14 follows from (1.34), Theorem 1.13 and the classical Sobolev inequality easily. Indeed,

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F^p(\nabla u) dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \geq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} F^p(\nabla u^*) dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \frac{\kappa_n^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\omega_n^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u^{\sharp}|^p dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
$$\geq \frac{\kappa_n^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\omega_n^{\frac{1}{n}}} \frac{1}{c_{n,p}} \|u^{\sharp}\|_{L^{p*}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \frac{\kappa_n^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\omega_n^{\frac{1}{n}}} \frac{1}{c_{n,p}} \|u\|_{L^{p*}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Remark 1.15. Theorem 1.14 is sharp since the equality in the Sobolev type inequality can hold. In fact, take

$$u_0(x) = \frac{1}{(C + (F^0(x))^q)^{\frac{n-p}{p}}},$$
(1.37)

with C determined by $||u||_{L^p} = 1$ and $q = \frac{p}{p-1}$. By simple computation, equality holds. In [CENV04], the authors find a mass-transportation approach to prove the Sobolev type inequality. Moreover, they showed that equality holds if and only if $u = u_0$.

1.4.2 Comparison theorem involving anisotropic Laplacian

Another important property about convex symmetrization which was proved in [AFTL97] is a comparison theorem involving the anisotropic Laplacian.

Theorem 1.16 ([AFTL97], pp. 289). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a smooth bounded domain and $u, v \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ satisfy

$$-\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) = f(x), \quad -Qv = f^{\star}(x),$$
 (1.38)

where $f \in L^{\frac{2n}{n+2}}(\Omega)$ if $n \geq 3$, $f \in L^p(\Omega)$, p > 1 if n = 2, and $a(x, \eta, \xi)$ are vectorvalued Carathéodory function satisfying

$$\langle a(x,\eta,\xi),\xi\rangle \ge F^2(\xi) \ a.e. \ x \in \Omega, \quad \eta \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
 (1.39)

Then we have

 $u^{\star} \leq v \text{ in } \Omega^{\star}.$

Proof. It is clear that $v(x) = v(F^0(x))$ is symmetric with respect to F, and satisfies the following ODE:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{r^{n-1}} \left(-r^{n-1} v'(r) \right)' = f^{\star}(x) \text{ in } [0, R], \\ v(R) = 0, \quad v'(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$

where $r = F^0(x)$, R > 0 is the constant such that $|\Omega| = \kappa_n R^n$. Therefore

$$-v'(r) = \frac{1}{r^{n-1}} \int_0^r t^{n-1} f^{\star}(\kappa_n t^n) dt,$$

By changing variables $\tilde{t} = \kappa_n t^n$ and then $\tilde{s} = \kappa_n s^n$, we obtain

$$v(r) = -\int_{r}^{R} v'(s)ds = \int_{r}^{R} \frac{1}{s^{n-1}} \int_{0}^{s} t^{n-1} f^{\star}(\kappa_{n}t^{n})dtds$$

$$= \int_{r}^{R} \frac{1}{s^{n-1}} \int_{0}^{\kappa_{n}s^{n}} \frac{1}{n\kappa_{n}} f^{\star}(\tilde{t})d\tilde{t}ds$$

$$= \int_{\kappa_{n}r^{n}}^{\kappa_{n}R^{n}} \frac{1}{n^{2}\kappa_{n}^{\frac{2}{n}}} \frac{1}{\tilde{s}^{2-\frac{2}{n}}} \int_{0}^{\tilde{s}} f^{\star}(\tilde{t})d\tilde{t}d\tilde{s}.$$
 (1.40)

On the other hand, the first equation in (1.38) holds in weak sense as (1.12). For h > 0, t > 0, choose a test function

$$\varphi = \begin{cases} h & \text{if } |u| > t + h, \\ (|u| - t)sign(u), & \text{if } t < |u| \le t + h, \\ 0, & \text{if } |u| \le t, \end{cases}$$

in (1.12), we get

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\{|u|>t\}} \langle a(x,u,\nabla u),\nabla u\rangle dx = \int_{\{|u|>t\}} f dx.$$

Using the assumption (1.39), we obtain

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\{|u|>t\}}F^2(\nabla u)dx \le -\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\{|u|>t\}}\langle a(x,u,\nabla u),\nabla u\rangle dx = \int_0^{\mu(t)}f^*(s)ds.$$

As in the proof of Theorem 1.13, it follows from isoperimetric inequality, coarea formula and Hölder inequality that

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\{|u|>t\}}F^2(\nabla u)dx \ge \frac{1}{-\mu'(t)}P_F(\{|u|>t\})^2 = \frac{1}{-\mu'(t)}n^2\kappa_n^{\frac{2}{n}}\mu(t)^{2-\frac{2}{n}}.$$

Therefore,

$$1 \leq \frac{-\mu'(t)}{n^2 \kappa_n^{\frac{2}{n}} \mu(t)^{2-\frac{2}{n}}} \int_0^{\mu(t)} f^*(s) ds.$$

An integration among $[0, u^*(s)]$ gives

$$u^{*}(s) \leq \int_{0}^{u^{*}(s)} \frac{-\mu'(t)}{n^{2}\kappa_{n}^{\frac{2}{n}}\mu(t)^{2-\frac{2}{n}}} \int_{0}^{\mu(t)} f^{*}(\tilde{s})d\tilde{s}$$
$$= \int_{s}^{|\Omega|} \frac{1}{n^{2}\kappa_{n}^{\frac{2}{n}}} \frac{1}{\tilde{s}^{2-\frac{2}{n}}} \int_{0}^{\tilde{s}} f^{*}(\tilde{t})d\tilde{t}d\tilde{s}.$$

Comparing with (1.40), we find that

$$u^*(\kappa_n r^n) \le v(r),$$

which leads to $u^*(x) \le v(F^0(x)) = v(x)$.

• •	Λ
Э	4

Chapter 2

Overdetermined problem for anisotropic Laplacian

This chapter is devoted to study the anisotropic overdetermined boundary value problem.

Thoughout this chapter, we assume that the norm $F \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and F^2 is strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$. For a connected bounded domain $\Omega \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we consider the following boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases}
-Qu = 1 & \text{in } \Omega \\
u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \\
F(\nabla u) = c & \text{on } \partial\Omega
\end{cases}$$
(2.1)

for a positive constant c.

Theorem 2.1. Let F be a norm of class $C^3(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and F^2 is strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$. If the overdetermined boundary value problem (2.1) has a weak solution in a connected bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ with sufficiently smooth boundary $\partial\Omega$, then up to translation and scaling, $\partial\Omega$ is a Wulff shape.

By a weak solution we mean that the solution $u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ satisfies

$$\int_{\Omega} F(\nabla u) F_{\xi}(\nabla u) \cdot \nabla v dx = \int_{\Omega} v dx \text{ for any } v \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega), \qquad (2.2)$$

together with the condition $F(\nabla u) = c$ on $\partial\Omega$. It was observed in [BFK03] that any weak solution of (2.2), $u \in C^{1,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$ for some $0 < \alpha < 1$ (see also [To84]). Hence the conditon $F(\nabla u) = c$ on $\partial\Omega$ is well-defined. Note that u may not be in $C^2(\overline{\Omega})$.

As mentioned in the introduction, when $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, the Wulff shape is just the unit sphere and $Q = \Delta$. In this case Theorem 2.1 is just the classical result of Serrin [Se71]. Serrin's result was first proved by the method of moving planes, which is

based on the maximum principle. It is clear that one could not use directly the method of moving planes to prove Theorem 2.1.

If $\partial\Omega$ has Wulff shape with respect to F, then there is an explicit function u satisfying (2.1).

Lemma 2.2. Let $\Omega = \mathcal{W}_{nc}(x_0)$ and $u(x) = \frac{1}{2n}(n^2c^2 - (F^0(x-x_0))^2)$. Then *u* is a weak solution to (2.1).

Proof. A direct calculation yields $\nabla u = -\frac{1}{n}F^0(x-x_0)\nabla F^0(x-x_0)$. Using Proposition 1.3, we have

$$F(\nabla u) = \frac{1}{n} F^0(x - x_0), F_{\xi}(\nabla u) = \frac{x - x_0}{F^0(x - x_0)} \text{ for } x \neq x_0.$$
(2.3)

Hence $F(\nabla u)F_{\xi}(\nabla u) = \frac{1}{n}(x-x_0)$ for all x (note that $\nabla u(x_0) = 0$) and -Qu = 1. In view of $F^0(x-x_0) = nc$ on $\partial\Omega$, we also have u = 0 and $F(\nabla u) = c$ on $\partial\Omega$. The proof is completed.

Theorem 2.1 in fact gives a characterization of the Wulff shape by an overdetermined problem (2.1).

The proof of Theorem 2.1 goes along the line of Farina and Kawohl [FaK08]. There they proved that any level set of u has constant mean curvature. Then by Alexandrov's classical Theorem (See [Al58], [Ro72]) that the only compact connected hypersurface with constant mean curvature embedded in the Euclidean space is sphere, they conclude that the level sets must be spheres.

Our proof will involve the anisotropic mean curvature, which was defined in Chapter 1. By using a Pohozaev identity, a maximum principle on a so-called Pfunction and an interpretation of the anisotropic mean curvature of level sets by the operator Q, we show that the anisotropic mean curvature of any level set of u is constant. The generalized Alexandrov Theorem (Theorem 1.8) implies that every level set has Wulff shape.

2.1 P-function

Proposition 2.3. Let u be a weak solution to the overdetermined boundary value problem (2.1). Then the P-function, which is defined as

$$P(x) := \frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u(x)) + \frac{1}{n}u(x), \qquad (2.4)$$

attains its maximum on $\partial\Omega$. Moreover, if P is not constant in Ω , then any maximum point for P in Ω is necessary to satisfy $\nabla u = 0$.

For simplicity, from now on we will follow the summation convention and frequently use the notations $F = F(\nabla u)$, $F_i = F_{\xi_i}(\nabla u)$, $u_i = \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i}$, $u_{ij} = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x_i \partial x_j}$ and so on. Denote

$$a_{ij}(\nabla u)(x) := \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_j} \left(\frac{1}{2}F^2\right) (\nabla u(x)) = (F_i F_j + F F_{ij})(\nabla u(x)),$$

$$a_{ijk}(\nabla u)(x) := \frac{\partial^3}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_j \partial \xi_k} \left(\frac{1}{2}F^2\right) (\nabla u(x)).$$
(2.5)

In the following we shall write it simply by a_{ij} and a_{ijk} if no confusion appears. With these notations, we can rewrite the anisotropic Laplacian (1.9) as

$$Qu = a_{ij}u_{ij} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}(a_{ij}u_j).$$
(2.6)

For the function $\frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u)$ we have a Bochner type formula.

Lemma 2.4 (Bochner Formula). At a point where $\nabla u \neq 0$, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2(\nabla u) \right) \right) = a_{ij} a_{kl} u_{ik} u_{jl} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} (Qu) \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_k} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2 \right) (\nabla u).$$
(2.7)

Proof. The formula is derived from a direct computation.

$$\begin{aligned} a_{ij}(\nabla u) \left(\frac{1}{2}F^{2}(\nabla u)\right)_{ij} &= a_{ij}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{k}}\left(\frac{1}{2}F^{2}\right)(\nabla u)u_{ik}\right) \\ &= a_{ij}\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \xi_{k}\partial \xi_{l}}\left(\frac{1}{2}F^{2}\right)(\nabla u)u_{ik}u_{jl} + a_{ij}\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{k}}\left(\frac{1}{2}F^{2}\right)(\nabla u)u_{ijk} \\ &= a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{k}}\left(\frac{1}{2}F^{2}\right)(\nabla u)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{k}}(a_{ij}u_{ij}) - (\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{k}}a_{ij})u_{ij}\right) \end{aligned}$$

Taking into account of (2.6) and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_k} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} a_{ij} = a_{ijl} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_l} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2(\nabla u)\right),$$

we get (2.7).

When $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, (2.7) is just the usual Bochner formula

$$\frac{1}{2}\Delta(|\nabla u|^2) = |D^2u|^2 + \langle \nabla u, \nabla(\Delta u) \rangle.$$

Now we prove Proposition 2.3.

Proof of Proposition 2.3: Set $\mathcal{C} = \{x \in \Omega | \nabla u(x) = 0\}$, we know from classical elliptic regularity theory that $u \in C^{2,\alpha}(\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C})$ and hence $P \in C^1(\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C})$. However, we can see below that $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} P \right) \in C(\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C})$. The following calculations are all taken in $\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C}$.

Taking the first derivative of P, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2(\nabla u) \right) = P_i - \frac{1}{n} u_i.$$

Hence it follows from the Bochner formula (2.7) that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} P \right) = a_{ij} a_{kl} u_{ik} u_{jl} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} (Qu) \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_k} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2 \right) (\nabla u) + \frac{1}{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} (a_{ij} u_j) \\
= a_{ij} a_{kl} u_{ik} u_{jl} - \frac{1}{n} Qu.$$
(2.8)

Since $u \in C^{2,\alpha}(\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C})$, the right hand side of (2.8) defines a continuous function in $\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C}$.

We estimate the term $a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl}$ by the following lemma.

Lemma 2.5.

$$a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} \ge \frac{1}{n}(Qu)^2.$$

Proof. Since the matrix $A := (a_{ij})_{i,j}$ is positive definite, we can write $A = O^T \Lambda O$ for some orthogonal matrix O and diagonal matrix $\Lambda = diag(\mu_1, \mu_2, \dots, \mu_n)$ with $\mu_i \ge 0$ for any $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$. Set $U = (u_{ij})_{i,j}$ and $\widetilde{U} = OUO^T = (\widetilde{u}_{ij})_{i,j}$. Then we have

$$a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{lj}u_{ki} = \operatorname{tr}(O^{T}\Lambda OUO^{T}\Lambda OU) = tr(\Lambda OUO^{T}\Lambda OUO^{T})$$
$$= \operatorname{tr}(\Lambda \widetilde{U}\Lambda \widetilde{U}) = \mu_{i}\mu_{j}\widetilde{u}_{ij}^{2}$$
$$\geq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}^{2}\widetilde{u}_{ii}^{2} \geq \frac{1}{n} (\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i}\widetilde{u}_{ii})^{2}.$$

On the other hand,

$$Qu = a_{ij}u_{ij} = \operatorname{tr}(O^T \Lambda O U) = \operatorname{tr}(\Lambda \widetilde{U}) = \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i \widetilde{u}_{ii}.$$

Hence we get the desired inequality.

Using Lemma 2.5 in (2.8) and Qu = -1, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} P \right) + b_l P_l \ge 0 \text{ in } \Omega \setminus \mathcal{C}, \tag{2.9}$$

where $b_l := a_{ijl}(\nabla u)u_{ij}$.

Because of the uniform ellipticity of a_{ij} in $\Omega \setminus C$, we can apply the maximum principle to (2.9) and conclude that P attains its maximum on $\partial\Omega$ or C.

In order to exclude the possibility of maximality on \mathcal{C} , we proceed through a pertubation argument. Set $V(\xi) := \frac{1}{2}F^2(\xi) \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \bigcap C^3(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$. Since V is 2-homogeneous, there exists $\lambda, \Lambda > 0$ such that

$$\lambda |\zeta|^2 \le V_{\xi_i \xi_j}(\xi) \zeta_i \zeta_j \le \Lambda |\zeta|^2$$
 for any $\xi \ne 0, \zeta \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

By a standard convolution argument, we can find a family of functions $\{V^{\varepsilon}\}$ in $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

 $V^{\varepsilon} \to V \text{ uniformly in any compact sets in } \mathbb{R}^n, V^{\varepsilon} \to V \text{ in } C^3_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}) \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0,$ (2.10) $\frac{\lambda}{2} |\zeta|^2 \leq V^{\varepsilon}_{\xi_i \xi_j}(\xi) \zeta_i \zeta_j \leq 2\Lambda |\zeta|^2 \text{ for any } \xi, \zeta \in \mathbb{R}^n.$

From direct method in calculus of variations, there exists a unique minimizer $u^{\varepsilon} \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ of the functional $\int_{\Omega} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla w) - w dx$, which is the weak solution to

$$a_{ij}^{\varepsilon}(\nabla w)w_{ij} = -1 \text{ in } \Omega, w|_{\partial\Omega} = 0,$$

where $a_{ij}^{\varepsilon}(\xi) := \frac{\partial^2 V^{\varepsilon}}{\partial \xi_i \xi_j}(\xi)$. The elliptic regularity theory tells us that $u^{\varepsilon} \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega})$. Moreover, since the elliptic constants of a_{ij}^{ε} is independent of ε , we have u^{ε} is unformly bounded in $C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega})$. It follows from uniqueness of u and the convergence (2.10) that

$$u^{\varepsilon} \to u \text{ in } C^1(\overline{\Omega}).$$
 (2.11)

Define $g(x) = a_{ij}(\nabla u)P_{ij} + b_lP_l$ in $\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C}$ and g(x) = 0 in \mathcal{C} . Hence $g \in L^p(\Omega)$ for any $p \geq 1$ and $g \geq 0$ in Ω . Choose a sequence of continuous vector-valued functions $\{b^{\varepsilon}\}$ in $C^0(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$b^{\varepsilon} \to b$$
 uniformly in any compact sets in $\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C}$. (2.12)

Consider now the solution P^{ε} to

$$\begin{cases} a_{ij}^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon})P_{ij}^{\varepsilon} + b_{i}^{\varepsilon}P_{i}^{\varepsilon} = g(x) \ge 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ P^{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{2}c^{2} & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.13)

Thanks to the ellipticity of (2.13), we know from maximum principle that P^{ε} attains its maximum on $\partial \Omega$, that is,

$$\max_{\overline{\Omega}} P^{\varepsilon}(x) = \max_{\partial \Omega} P^{\varepsilon}(x) = \max_{\overline{\Omega \setminus U}} P^{\varepsilon}(x)$$
(2.14)

for any neighborhood U of C. On the other hand, the convergences in (2.10–2.12) and L^p regularity lead to

$$P^{\varepsilon} \to P \text{ in } C^2_{loc}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \mathcal{C}).$$

Therefore, by taking $\varepsilon \to 0$ in (2.14), we obtain

$$\max_{\overline{\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C}}} P(x) = \max_{\partial \Omega} P(x).$$

Suppose there exists some point $x_0 \in \Omega$ such that $P(x_0) > \max_{\partial\Omega} P(x)$, then x_0 must belong to the interior of C. However, the interior of C is empty. This follows directly from equation (2.1). In fact, an intergration on a ball $B \subset C$ would give a contradiction via the divergence theorem. Hence P attains its maximum over $\overline{\Omega}$ on $\partial\Omega$. Moreover, if P is not constant in Ω , then any maximum point for P in Ω belongs necessarily to C. The proof is completed.

2.2 Pohozaev identity

For convenience of later use, we prove here a general Pohozaev identity.

Theorem 2.6. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n . Let F be a norm of class $C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and F^2 is stongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$. Let f be a continuous function on Ω . Assume that $u \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ is a weak solution to

$$\begin{cases} -Qu = f(x) & in \ \Omega, \\ u = 0 & on \ \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.15)

Then the following identity

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial\Omega} F^2(\nabla u) \langle x, \nu \rangle d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} + \frac{n-2}{2} \int_{\Omega} F^2(\nabla u) dx = \int_{\Omega} \langle x, \nu \rangle f(x) dx \qquad (2.16)$$

holds

Proof. The original proof required that $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$, which is not available here. We use an approximation argument.

Denote $V(\xi) := \frac{1}{2}F^2(\xi)$. There exists a family of smooth convex functions $\{V^{\varepsilon}\}$ such that $V^{\varepsilon} \to V$ in $C^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Also we can find $f^{\varepsilon} \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ such that $f^{\varepsilon} \to f$ uniformly. Let u^{ε} be the unique minimizer of $\inf_{\Omega} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u) - f^{\varepsilon}udx$ in $W^{1,2}_0(\Omega)$. It then solves

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(\nabla_{\xi} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon})) = f^{\varepsilon} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u^{\varepsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

It follows from standard elliptic regularity theory that $u^{\varepsilon} \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega})$. Moreover, since the elliptic constants can be chosen to be is independent of ε , we have u^{ε} is uniformly bounded in $C^{1,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$. It follows from uniqueness of u and the convergence (2.10) that $u^{\varepsilon} \to u$ in $C^{1}(\overline{\Omega})$. Multiplying $\langle x, \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \rangle$ to the both sides of (2.17) and intergrating by parts twice, we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} \langle x, \nabla u \rangle f^{\varepsilon}(x) = \int_{\Omega} - \langle x, \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \rangle \operatorname{div}(\nabla_{\xi} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon})) \\ &= \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle x, \nabla u \rangle \langle \nabla_{\xi} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}), \nu \rangle - \int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla_{\xi} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}), \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \rangle - \int_{\Omega} \nabla_{\xi} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}) u^{\varepsilon}_{ij} x_{j} \rangle \\ &= \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle x, \nabla u \rangle \langle \nabla_{\xi} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}), \nu \rangle - \int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla_{\xi} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}), \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \rangle \\ &- \int_{\partial \Omega} V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}) \langle x, \nu \rangle + \int_{\Omega} n V^{\varepsilon}(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}). \end{split}$$

Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \langle x, \nabla u \rangle f(x) &= \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle x, \nabla u \rangle \langle \nabla_{\xi} V(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}), \nu \rangle - \int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla_{\xi} V(\nabla u), \nabla u \rangle \\ &- \int_{\partial \Omega} V(\nabla u) \langle x, \nu \rangle + \int_{\Omega} n V(\nabla u). \end{split}$$

Since u = 0 on $\partial\Omega$, we have $\nabla u = u_{\nu}\nu$. Taking into account of $\langle \nabla_{\xi} V(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}), \nu \rangle = F^2(\nabla u)$, we conclude

$$\int_{\Omega} \langle x, \nabla u \rangle f(x) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial \Omega} F^2(\nabla u) \langle x, \nu \rangle + \frac{n-2}{2} \int_{\Omega} F^2(\nabla u).$$

From Theorem 2.6, in our case we obtain

Proposition 2.7. Let u be a weak solution to problem (2.1). P(x) is defined as (2.4). Then the following identity

$$\int_{\Omega} P(x)dx = \frac{1}{2}c^2|\Omega| \tag{2.18}$$

holds, where $|\Omega|$ is the n-dimensional volume of Ω .

Proof. We see from the general Pohozaev identity (2.15) that

$$\frac{1}{2}\int_{\partial\Omega}F^2(\nabla u)\langle x,\nu\rangle d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} + \frac{n-2}{2}\int_{\Omega}F^2(\nabla u)dx = n\int_{\Omega}udx.$$
 (2.19)

Since $F^2(\nabla u)|_{\partial\Omega} = c$, using integration by parts, we have

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} F^2(\nabla u) \langle x, \nu \rangle d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} = c^2 \int_{\partial\Omega} \langle x, \nu \rangle d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} = nc^2 |\Omega|.$$
 (2.20)

Another integration by parts yields that

$$\int_{\Omega} F^2(\nabla u) dx = \int_{\Omega} u dx.$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\Omega} P(x)dx = \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{2}F^{2}(\nabla u) + \frac{1}{n}udx = \int_{\Omega} u - \frac{n-2}{2n}F^{2}(\nabla u)dx.$$
 (2.21)

Combining (2.19-2.21), we get the disired equality.

2.3 Proof of Theorem 2.1

From Proposition 2.3 and 2.7, we immediately obtain the following

Corollary 2.8. Let u be a weak solution to the overdetermined boundary value problem (2.1). Then

$$F^{2}(\nabla u) + \frac{2}{n}u \equiv c^{2} \quad in \quad \Omega.$$
(2.22)

Now we are ready to prove our main theorem, Theorem 2.1.

Proof of Theorem 2.1. By Corollary 2.8, we claim that

 ∇u vanishes only at points where u attains its maximum in Ω and the maximum in this case must be $\frac{n}{2}c^2$.

Indeed, if $\nabla u(x_0) = 0$, then $F(\nabla u(x_0)) = 0$, by (2.22), $u(x_0) = \frac{n}{2}c^2$. On the other hand, $u(x) = \frac{n}{2}(c^2 - F^2(\nabla u(x)) \le \frac{n}{2}c^2$ in Ω , so $u(x_0) = \max_{\Omega} u$. From this claim we know that u is positive in Ω . Otherwise there is a $x_0 \in \Omega$ with $u(x_0) = \inf_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} u(x) \le 0 < \frac{n}{2}c^2$. Hence from this claim $\nabla u(x_0)$ does not vanish, a contradiction. Again from this claim, we easily see that $\nu = \frac{\nabla u}{|\nabla u|}$ is well defined on the open set $U := \{x \in \Omega | 0 < u(x) < \max_{\Omega} u\}$. We define on U

$$\nu_F = F_{\xi}(\nu) = F_{\xi}(\nabla u).$$

Note that

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F} = F(\nabla u) = \sqrt{c^2 - \frac{2}{n}u} := g(u), \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu_F^2} = F_i(\nabla u)\nu_F^i = F_i(\nabla u)F_j(\nabla u)u_{ij}.$$
(2.24)

From (2.23), we also have

$$2\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F}\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu_F^2} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_F}(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F})^2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_F}(g(u)^2) = 2g(u)g'(u)\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F},$$

which leads to

$$g(u)g'(u) = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu_F^2} = F_i(\nabla u)F_j(\nabla u)u_{ij},$$

for $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F} = F(\nabla u) \neq 0$ on U. Using the formula in Theorem 1.11 and the first equation of (2.1), we obtain the F-mean curvature of the level set S_t $(0 < t < \max_{\Omega} u)$:

$$H_F(S_t) = \frac{1}{F(\nabla u)} (Qu(x) - \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu_F^2})$$
$$= \frac{1}{g(u)} (-1 - g(u)g'(u)).$$

The above equality just means that every level set of u at height t between 0 and $\max u$ is a (perhaps not connected) hypersurface of constant F-mean curvature. By Theorem 1.8, each connected component of it must be of Wulff shape, up to translation and rescaling. Namely each connected component is a translation of \mathcal{W}_r with the same r determined by t.

We claim that Ω is simply connected. Otherwise, $\partial \Omega = S_0$ contains two connected components. Thus for small $\delta > 0$, S_{δ} contains two connected components. However, each connected component of S_{δ} is a translation of \mathcal{W}_r , with the same r. This is impossible. Therefore Ω is simply connected and $\partial \Omega = S_0$ is also a Wulff shape, up to translation and rescaling. This finishes the proof of Theorem 2.1.

Chapter 3

Anisotropic harmonic functions

In this chapter, we focus on the anisotropic harmonic functions, which are solutions of

$$-Qu = 0. \tag{3.1}$$

Throughout this chapter we shall assume that $F \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and F^2 is strongly convex.

Many aspects of anisotropic harmonic functions are similar to harmonic functions in \mathbb{R}^n . At the same time, it lacks some beautiful properties of harmonic functions due to the nonlinearty and degeneracy of Q. We give some for example.

(1) As a special case of general degenerate elliptic equations of divengence type (see [HKM93]), the Liouville theorem holds, which states that a positive anisotropic harmonic function must be a constant. We also have the Harnack inequality, which states that the supremum of an anisotropic harmonic function can be estimated by its infimum on any compact sets. On the other hand, an anisotropic harmonic function can only be a $C^{1,\alpha}$ function but do not necessarily belongs to C^2 , and a harmonic function is analytic. Also the mean value property can only hold for anisotropic harmonic functions under a very restrictive assumption (See [FeK09]).

(2) Because of the special structure of anisotropic Laplacian, a fundamental solution can be constructed similarly as Laplacian, by using the dual norm F^0 . Moreover, we shall prove that the Green's function of the anisotropic Laplacian exists and appears a significant decomposition. However, we have no Green's representation formula due to the nonlinearty. In spite of this disadvantage, the Green's function is powerful when we do blow-up analysis in the following chapter.

The major subject in this chapter is to study the Green's function of the anisotropic Laplacian.

3.1 Green's function of anisotropic Laplacian

The fundamental solution $\Gamma(x)$ for the operator Q is defined as follows:

$$\Gamma(x) = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{2\kappa_2} \log(F^0(x)), & \text{for } n = 2, \\ \frac{1}{n(2-n)\kappa_n} F^0(x)^{2-n}, & \text{for } n > 2. \end{cases}$$

Recall that κ_n is the *n*-dimensional Lebesgue measure of the Wulff shape \mathcal{W}_F .

Theorem 3.1 ([FeK09]). The function Γ satisfies

$$-Q\Gamma = \delta_0,$$

in the sense of measures, where δ_0 denotes the Dirac measure at the origin.

Proof. For simplicity, we prove only the case n = 2. A similar computation as Lemma 2.2 leads to $Q\Gamma(x) = 0$ for $x \neq 0$. Since

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}(0)} \langle FF_{\xi}(\nabla\Gamma), \nabla\varphi(x) \rangle dx = \int_{\mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}(0)} \langle \frac{x}{(F^{0}(x))^{2}}, \nabla\varphi(x) \rangle dx = O(\varepsilon),$$

we see that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} -Q\Gamma\varphi dx &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \langle FF_{\xi}(\nabla\Gamma), \nabla\varphi \rangle dx \\ &= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}(0)} \langle FF_{\xi}(\nabla\Gamma), \nabla\varphi \rangle dx \\ &= -\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}(0)} \langle F(\nabla\Gamma)F_{\xi}(\nabla\Gamma), \nu \rangle \varphi d\mathcal{H}^1 \end{split}$$

In the last equality we used Qu(x) = 0 for $x \neq 0$. Hence to prove $-Q\Gamma = \delta_0$, it is sufficient to show that

$$-\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}} \langle F(\nabla \Gamma) F_{\xi}(\nabla \Gamma), \nu \rangle \varphi d\mathcal{H}^{1} = \varphi(0) \text{ for any } \varphi \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

In fact,

$$\begin{split} &-\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}} \langle F(\nabla \Gamma) F_{\xi}(\nabla \Gamma), \nu \rangle \varphi d\mathcal{H}^{1} \\ = &-\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}} \langle \frac{x}{(F^{0}(x))^{2}}, \frac{\nabla F^{0}}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \rangle \varphi d\mathcal{H}^{1} \\ = &\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \varphi d\mathcal{H}^{1} = -\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{1}} \frac{1}{2\kappa_{2}} \frac{1}{|\nabla F^{0}|(x)} \varphi(\epsilon x) dx. \end{split}$$

Letting $\epsilon \to 0$, we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} -\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} F(\nabla u) \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \nu \rangle \varphi = \frac{1}{2\kappa_2} \varphi(0) \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_1} \frac{1}{|\nabla F^0|(x)|} dx = \varphi(0).$$

Here we used $\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_1} \frac{1}{|\nabla F^0|(x)|} dx = 2\kappa_2$ by integration by parts.

Theorem 3.1 inspires us to find the Green's function for Q.

Assume that Ω is an open set in \mathbb{R}^n , containing 0, $\Omega^* = \Omega \setminus \{0\}$. By a result of Serrin (See [Se71]), if u satisfies -Qu = 0 and is bounded below in Ω^* , then either the singularity at 0 is removable, or u/Γ is bounded in some neighborhood of 0. (In fact, Serrin proved that $u/\log |x|$ is bounded in some neighborhood of 0. However, in view of (1.1), it is equivalent to say u/Γ is bounded in some neighborhood of 0 for our Γ .)

Our first purpose is to describe the behavior of u near the origin when it is not removable. We shall write $\Gamma(r) = \Gamma(x)$ whenever $F^0(x) = r$.

Theorem 3.2. Assume u satisfies 3.1 in Ω^* such that $u(x)/\Gamma(x)$ remains bounded in some neighborhood of 0. Then there exists a real number γ and $g \in C^0(\Omega)$ such that

$$u = \gamma \Gamma + g. \tag{3.2}$$

Moreover, when $\gamma \neq 0$, the following relation holds

$$\lim_{x \to 0} (F^0(x))^{n-1} \nabla g(x) = 0 \tag{3.3}$$

and u satisfies

$$-Qu = \gamma \delta_0 \tag{3.4}$$

in the sense of measures in Ω .

Before we prove this theorem, we state a strong comparison theorem for anisotropic Laplacian (The original statement is for more general degenerate elliptic equations, our anisotropic Laplacian is a special case).

Theorem 3.3 ([To83], Prop. 3.3.2, [Da98], Th. 1.4). Let $u_1, u_2 \in C^1(\Omega)$ satisfy -Qu = 0 in Ω and $u_1 \geq u_2$. If u_1 is not equal to u_2 , then $u_1 > u_2$ in Ω .

Proof of Theorem 3.2. For simplicity, we prove only the case n = 2.

Without loss of generality, we may assume $\mathcal{W}_1 \subset \Omega$. Due to translating invariance of the equation, we may assume $\max_{\partial \mathcal{W}_1} u = 0$. Let

$$\gamma = \limsup_{x \to 0} u(x) / \Gamma(x), \quad \tilde{\gamma}(r) = \max_{r \le F^0(x) \le \frac{1}{2}} u(x) / \Gamma(x)$$

We consider the case $\gamma > 0$. (otherwise we use $\liminf_{x\to 0} u(x)/\Gamma(x)$ instead) From the strong comparison principle, Theorem 3.3, $\tilde{\gamma}(r)$ is nonincreasing, and there exists x_r with $F^0(x_r) = r$ such that

$$\tilde{\gamma}(r) = \max_{\partial \mathcal{W}_r} u(x) / \Gamma(x) = u(x_r) / \Gamma(x_r).$$

It's also clear that $\tilde{\gamma}(\frac{1}{2}) = 0$ and $\lim_{r \to 0} \tilde{\gamma}(r) = \gamma$. We introduce for $0 < r \leq \frac{1}{2}$ a function in $\mathcal{W}_{1/(2r)} \setminus \{0\}$

$$v_r(x) = u(rx)/\Gamma(r).$$

It's clear that v_r satisfies (3.1) in $\mathcal{W}_{1/(2r)} \setminus \{0\}$. The boundedness of u/Γ in a neighborhood of 0 gives

$$|v_r(x)| \le C \left(1 + \frac{|\log F^0(x)|}{\log(1/r)}\right)$$
 (3.5)

for $x \in \mathcal{W}_{1/(2r)} \setminus \{0\}$. Moreover, from the scale invariance of (3.1) and $C^{1,\alpha}$ estimates for quasilinear equations, we have the following a priori estimates: for any R > 0and 0 < |x| < |y| < R,

$$|\nabla v_r(x)| \le C|x|^{-1}|v_r|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2R}\setminus B_{|x|/2})},$$
$$\frac{|\nabla v_r(x) - \nabla v_r(y)|}{|x - y|^{\alpha}} \le C|x|^{-1-\alpha}|v_r|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2R}\setminus B_{|x|/2})}.$$

Hence for any compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ and some C_K independent of r, we have

$$\|v_r\|_{C^{1,\alpha}}(K) \le C_K.$$

By Ascoli-Arzela's Theorem, we can find a sequence $r_j \to 0$ such that $v_{r_j} \to v$ in $C^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$, where $v \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$ also satisfies (3.1). In view of (3.5), v is bounded. From Serrin's result (See [Se71]), 0 is a removable singularity and v can be extended to $\tilde{v} \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$. Consequently, from Liouville Theorem (See [HKM93]), v must be a constant. For the sequence $\xi_j = x_{r_j}/r_j$, $F^0(\xi_j) = 1$, we know from the definition of γ that

$$v_{r_j}(\xi_j) \to \gamma.$$

This means the constant function $v = \gamma$. Therefore,

$$\lim_{r \to 0} v_r(x) = \gamma \text{ and hence } \lim_{x \to 0} u(x) / \Gamma(x) = \gamma.$$

We now consider two sequence of functions

$$V_{\epsilon}^{+}(x) = (\gamma + \epsilon)\Gamma(x) - (\gamma + \epsilon)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) + \max_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\frac{1}{2}}} u,$$

$$V_{\epsilon}^{-}(x) = (\gamma - \epsilon)\Gamma(x) - (\gamma - \epsilon)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) + \min_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\frac{1}{2}}} u.$$

They both satisfies (3.1) in $\mathcal{W}_{1/2} \setminus \{0\}$ and from the comparison principle we obtain $V_{\epsilon}^{-} \leq u \leq V_{\epsilon}^{+}$, which implies the boundedness of $u - \gamma \Gamma$ when $\epsilon \to 0$.

Next we prove the continuity of $u - \gamma \Gamma$ at 0 and (3.3). We look at the points where the bounded function $u - \gamma \Gamma$ achieves its supremum in $\overline{\mathcal{W}_{1/2}}$. Set $\lambda = \sup_{\overline{\mathcal{W}_{1/2}}} (u - \gamma \Gamma)$.

Case (i). λ achieves at some point in $\mathcal{W}_{1/2} \setminus \{0\}$. It follows from comparison principle that $u - \gamma \Gamma$ is a constant, hence we are done.

Case (ii). λ achieves at 0. Define

$$\lambda(r) = \max_{r \le F^0(x) \le 1/2} (u - \gamma \Gamma) = \max_{\partial \mathcal{W}_r} (u - \gamma \Gamma)$$

Then $\lambda(r) \uparrow \lambda$ as $r \downarrow 0$, and there exists x_r with $|x_r| = r$ such that $\lambda(r) = u(x_r) - \gamma \Gamma(x_r)$. We introduce for $0 < r \leq \frac{1}{2}$ the function

$$w_r(x) = u(rx) - \gamma \Gamma(r)$$

in $\mathcal{W}_{1/(2r)} \setminus \{0\}$. The function w_r satisfies (3.1). We also have $|w_r - \gamma \Gamma| \leq C_0$ for $C_0 = \sup_{\mathcal{W}_{1/2} \setminus \{0\}} |u - \gamma \Gamma|$. This implies that w_r is bounded on any compact subset of $\mathcal{W}_{1/(2r)} \setminus \{0\}$. Similarly as v_r , we have for any compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ and some C_K independent of r,

$$||w_r||_{C^{1,\alpha}}(K) \le C_K.$$

Consequently, there exists a sequence $r_j \to 0$ such that $w_{r_j} \to w$ in $C^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$, where $w \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$ also satisfies (3.1). For the sequence $\xi_j = x_{r_j}/r_j$, $F^0(\xi_j) = 1$, which may be assumed to converge to $\xi^0 \in \partial \mathcal{W}_1$, we have

$$w_{r_j}(\xi_j) - \gamma \Gamma(\xi_j) = u(x_{r_j}) - \gamma \Gamma(x_{r_j}) \to \lambda.$$

Hence

$$w(x) \le \gamma \Gamma(x) + \lambda$$
 and $w(\xi^0) = \gamma \Gamma(\xi^0) + \lambda$

By comparison principle, $w(x) = \gamma \Gamma(x) + \lambda$ and hence $w_r \to \gamma \Gamma + \lambda$ in $C^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$. This implies

$$\lim_{x \to 0} (u - \gamma \Gamma) = \lambda, \quad \lim_{x \to 0} F^0(x) \nabla u(x) = \gamma \nabla \Gamma(\frac{x}{F^0(x)}).$$
(3.6)

The above equalities lead to the continuity of $u - \gamma \Gamma$ and (3.3).

Case (iii). λ achieves on $\partial \mathcal{W}_{1/2}$. We define w_r as in case 2, $w_r \to w$ in $C^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$ and $|w - \gamma \Gamma| \leq C_0$. We now look at the points where $w - \gamma \Gamma$ achieves its supremum in \mathbb{R}^2 . Set $\tilde{\lambda} = \sup_{\mathbb{R}^2} (u - \gamma \Gamma)$.

If $\tilde{\lambda}$ is achieved at some point in $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$, then $w - \gamma \Gamma$ equals to some constant by strong maximum principle, which implies $u(rx) - \gamma \Gamma(rx) \to \tilde{\lambda}$ in $C^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$ as $r \to 0$. For any fixed $\epsilon > 0$, there exists n_0 such that for $n \ge n_0$ and $x \in \partial \mathcal{W}_1$, we have

$$\gamma \Gamma(r_n x) + \tilde{\lambda} - \epsilon \le u(r_n x) \le \gamma \Gamma(r_{n_0} x) + \tilde{\lambda} + \epsilon.$$

Applying maximum principle in $\mathcal{W}_{r_{n_0}} \setminus \mathcal{W}_{r_n}$ we obtain

$$\gamma \Gamma(x) + \tilde{\lambda} - \epsilon \le u(r_n x) \le \gamma \Gamma(x) + \tilde{\lambda} + \epsilon,$$

which leads to (3.6) with λ replaced by $\tilde{\lambda}$.

If $\tilde{\lambda}$ is achieved at 0, we simply argue as case 2 with w instead of u to deduce

$$\lim_{x \to 0} (w - \gamma \Gamma) = \tilde{\lambda} \text{ and hence } \lim_{x \to 0} \lim_{r_n \to 0} (u(r_n x) - \gamma \Gamma(r_n x)) = \tilde{\lambda}.$$
(3.7)

If λ is achieved at ∞ , the same idea in case 2 can be applied when we define $\lambda(R) = \max_{1/2 \le F^0(x) \le R} (w - \gamma \Gamma) = \max_{\partial W_R} (w - \gamma \Gamma)$ and let R tend to ∞ . We obtain

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} (w - \gamma \Gamma) = \tilde{\lambda}, \lim_{x \to \infty} \lim_{r_n \to 0} (u(r_n x) - \gamma \Gamma(r_n x)) = \tilde{\lambda}.$$
 (3.8)

As long as we have (3.7) or (3.8), we can use maximum principle again to conclude (3.6) as before.

Now it remains to prove (3.4). In view of (3.1), it is sufficient to show that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} - \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} F(\nabla u) \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \nu \rangle \phi = \gamma \phi(0)$$

for any $\phi \in C_0^1(\Omega)$. Here $\nu = \frac{\nabla F^0}{|\nabla F^0|}$ is the unit outward normal. Using (3.2), (3.3) and Proposition 1.2, We have on ∂W_{ϵ} ,

$$F(\nabla u) = F(\gamma \nabla \Gamma + \nabla g) = F(-\frac{\gamma}{2\kappa} \frac{\nabla F^0}{F^0} + o(\frac{1}{F^0})) = \frac{\gamma}{2\kappa\epsilon} + o(\frac{1}{\epsilon}),$$

$$\begin{aligned} \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \nu \rangle &= \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \frac{\nabla F^{0}}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \rangle \\ &= \left\langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), (-\frac{2\kappa}{\gamma}F^{0})\frac{\nabla u - o(\frac{1}{F^{0}})}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \right\rangle \\ &= -\frac{2\kappa\epsilon}{\gamma} \left(\frac{F(\nabla u)}{|\nabla F^{0}|} - \frac{o(\frac{1}{\epsilon})}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \right) = -(1 + o(1)) \frac{1}{|\nabla F^{0}|}, \end{aligned}$$

Therefore

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} F(\nabla u) \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \nu \rangle \phi &= -\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} \left(\frac{\gamma}{2\kappa\epsilon} + o(\frac{1}{\epsilon})\right) \left(1 + o(1)\right) \frac{1}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \phi \\ &= -\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{1}} \left(\frac{\gamma}{2\kappa} + o(1)\right) \frac{1}{|\nabla F^{0}|(x)} \phi(\epsilon x) dx. \end{split}$$

Letting $\epsilon \to 0$, we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} -\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} F(\nabla u) \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \nu \rangle \phi = \frac{\gamma}{2\kappa} \phi(0) \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{1}} \frac{1}{|\nabla F^{0}|(x)|} dx = \gamma \phi(0).$$

Here we used $\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_1} \frac{1}{|\nabla F^0|(x)|} dx = 2\kappa$ by integration by parts. We complete the proof of Theorem 3.2.

As a consequence of Theorem 3.2, the singular Dirichlet problem can be uniquely solved.

Theorem 3.4. There exists a unique function $G(\cdot, 0) \in C^{1,\alpha}(\Omega^*)$ with $|\nabla G| \in L^1(\Omega)$ and $G/\Gamma \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, satisfying

$$\begin{cases} -QG(\cdot,0) = \delta_0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ G(\cdot,0) = \phi & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

where $\phi \in L^{\infty} \bigcap W^{1,2}(\Omega)$. Moreover, $G = \Gamma + g$ with $g \in C^{0}(\Omega)$ satisfying (3.3).

Proof. First, we prove the uniqueness. Suppose u_i , i = 1, 2 are two solutions of (3.9). By virtue of (3.2) and (3.3), we know

$$u_1 - u_2 \in L^{\infty}(\Omega), \lim_{x \to 0} F^0(x) \nabla(u_1 - u_2) = 0.$$
 (3.10)

By integration by parts, we have for r small,

$$\int_{\Omega \setminus \mathcal{W}_r} (F(\nabla u_1) F_{\xi}(\nabla u_1) - F(\nabla u_2) F_{\xi}(\nabla u_2)) \nabla (u_1 - u_2)$$

= $-\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_r} \langle F(\nabla u_1) F_{\xi}(\nabla u_1) - F(\nabla u_2) F_{\xi}(\nabla u_2), \nu \rangle (u_1 - u_2).$

Using (3.10), we deduce that the RHS tends to 0 as $r \to 0$. On the other hand, it follows from Lemma 5.6 in Chapter 5 that the LHS is larger than $C \int_{\Omega \setminus W_r} F^2(\nabla u_1 - \nabla u_2) dx$. Hence $\nabla(u_1 - u_2) = 0$. Combining with the boundary condition, we conclude $u_1 = u_2$.

For the existence, we consider the solutions u_{ϵ} to the following problem:

$$\begin{cases} -Qu_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \setminus \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon} \\ u_{\epsilon} = \Gamma(\epsilon) & \text{on } \partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon} \\ u_{\epsilon} = \phi & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

By a weak comparison principle, we obtain $|u_{\epsilon} - \Gamma| \leq C_1$, where $C_1 = \sup_{\partial \Omega} \Gamma$. Using the $C^{1,\alpha}$ estimates and Ascoli-Arzela's Theorem, we can extract a subsequence u_{ϵ_n} , which converges to a $u \in C^1(\Omega^*)$ as $\epsilon_n \to 0$ in C^1_{loc} topology. Clearly, u/Γ is bounded in a neighborhood of 0. Therefore, from Theorem 3.2, we conclude that u satisfies (3.9).

Chapter 4

First eigenvalue of anisotropic Laplacian

In this chapter, we investigate the eigenvalue problem of the anisotropic Laplacian. We emphysis that throughout this chapter we only assume that F is a norm of class $C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$.

Though our assumption on F is only convex and $C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, we may carry out the proof in this chapter under more regularity assumption that $F \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and F is a strongly convex norm on \mathbb{R}^n without of loss generality. In fact, for any norm $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, there exists a sequence $F_{\varepsilon} \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ such that the strongly convex norm $\widetilde{F}_{\varepsilon} := \sqrt{F_{\varepsilon}^2 + \varepsilon |x|^2}$ converges to F uniformly in $C^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, then the corresponding first eigenvalue $(\lambda_1)_{\varepsilon}$ of anisotropic Laplacian with respect to $\widetilde{F}_{\varepsilon}$, converges to λ_1 as well. Here $|\cdot|$ denotes the Euclidean norm.

Therefore, in the following sections, we assume that $F \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and Fis a strongly convex norm on \mathbb{R}^n . Thus (0.3) is degenerate elliptic among Ω and uniformly elliptic in $\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C}$, where $\mathcal{C} := \{x \in \Omega | \nabla u(x) = 0\}$ denotes the set of degenerate points. The standard regularity theory for degenerate elliptic equation (see e.g. [BFK03, To84]) implies that $u \in C^{1,\alpha}(\Omega) \cap C^{2,\alpha}(\Omega \setminus \mathcal{C})$.

4.1 Brunn-Minkowski inequality

In this section we establish a Brunn-Minkowski type inequality for the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian. We have the following main theorem:

Theorem 4.1. Let K_i be two convex bounded open sets (convex body) in \mathbb{R}^n , i = 0, 1. For $t \in [0, 1]$, we set $K_t = (1-t)K_0 + tK_1$. Let $\lambda(K_t)$ be the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian on K_t . Then $\lambda(K_t)$ is homogeneous of degree -2 and the following Brunn-Minkowski inequality holds:

$$\lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}}(K_t) \ge (1-t)\lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}}(K_0) + t\lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}}(K_1).$$
(4.1)

It's easy to check that $\lambda_1(K)$ is homogeneous of degree -2. Indeed, if $\lambda_1(K)$ attains its infimum at u(x), i.e. u satisfies $\int_K |u|^2 dx = 1$ and $\lambda_1(K) = \int_K F(\nabla u)^2 dx$. For $y = tx \in tK$, set $v(x) = t^{-n/2}u(x)$, then $\int_{tK} |v(y)|^2 dy = 1$ and $\lambda_1(tK) \leq \int_{tK} F(\nabla v(y))^2 dy = t^{-2} \int_K F(\nabla u)^2 dx = t^{-2} \lambda_1(K)$; on the other hand $\lambda_1(K) \leq t^2 \lambda_1(tK)$ can be obtained similarly.

In order to prove the Brunn-Minkowski inequality, we first recall some elementary concept in convex analysis, for details we refer to [Ro72].

Definition 4.2. For any convex set K and any convex function f defined on K, the function f^* , which is defined by

$$f^*(x^*) = \sup_{x \in K} \{ \langle x, x^* \rangle - f(x) \}$$

for $x^* \in \mathbb{R}^n$, is called the conjugate function of f.

To be not confused with the notation of the decreasing rearrangement in Chapter 1, we remark that in this section f^* always denote the conjugate function.

Definition 4.3. A convex function f is called essentially smooth on K, if f is differentiable in K and

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} |\nabla f(x_i)| = +\infty,$$

when x_i tends to some point on ∂K .

Definition 4.4. For two convex functions f_0 and f_1 , whose definition domains are K_0 and K_1 respectively, we called the function \tilde{f} , which is defined by

$$\hat{f}(z) = \inf\{(1-t)f_0(x) + tf_1(y) : x \in K_0, y \in K_1, z = (1-t)x + ty\}$$

for $z \in K_t$, the infimal convolution of f_0 and f_1 .

We recall some properties of the conjugate function and the infimal convolution.

Proposition 4.5 ([Ro72]). Assume f, f_0, f_1 are convex functions defined on K, K_0, K_1 respectively. f^* and \tilde{f} denote the conjugate function and the infimal convolution of f respectively. Then we have the following:

(i) (f*)* = f.
(ii) f is essentially smooth if and only if f* is strictly convex.
(iii) f* = (1-t)f₀* + tf₁*.
(iv) If f is essentially smooth on K, then ∇f* is the inverse of ∇f, i.e.

$$\nabla f^* = (\nabla f)^{-1}, \quad \nabla f^* (\nabla f(x)) = x$$

(v) If f_i is essentially smooth and strictly convex on K, then \tilde{f} is also essentially smooth and strictly convex.

(vi) If f_i^{ε} converges uniformly to f_i as $\varepsilon \to 0$ for i = 0, 1, then \tilde{f}^{ε} converges uniformly to \tilde{f} .

(vii) If f^{ε} is differentiable on K and converges uniformly to f as $\varepsilon \to 0$, then ∇f^{ε} converges uniformly to ∇f .

Now we prove a property for convex function, which play a crucial role in the proof of our main theorem.

Lemma 4.6 ([CCS06]). For i = 0, 1, let K_i be convex open sets. Let $f_i \in C^1(K_i)$ be a strictly convex function such that $\lim_{x\to\partial K} f_i(x) = +\infty$. Let \tilde{f} denote the infimal convolution of f_0 and f_1 . For $t \in [0, 1]$, Set $K_t = (1 - t)K_0 + tK_1$. Then for every $z \in K_t$, there exist $x \in K_0$ and $y \in K_1$ such that

$$z = (1 - t)x + ty, (4.2)$$

$$\tilde{f}(z) = (1-t)f_0(x) + tf_1(y),$$
(4.3)

$$\nabla \tilde{f}(z) = \nabla f_0(x) = \nabla f_1(y). \tag{4.4}$$

Moreover, if f_0 and f_1 are twice differentiable at x and y respectively, and $D^2 f_0(x) > 0$, $D^2 f_1(y) > 0$, then \tilde{f} is twice differentiable at z and

$$D^{2}\tilde{f}(z) = \left[(1-t) \left(D^{2}f_{0}(x) \right)^{-1} + t \left(D^{2}f_{1}(y) \right)^{-1} \right]^{-1}.$$
 (4.5)

Proof. The proof was given in [CCS06], we sketch it here.

By Definition 4.3, f_i is essentially smooth and strictly convex in K_i and by Proposition 4.5 (i), (ii) and (v), f_i^* and \tilde{f} are also essentially smooth and strictly convex in \mathbb{R}^n .

Fix $z \in K_t$, by Definition 4.4 and $\lim_{x\to\partial K} f_i(x) = +\infty$, there exist $x \in K_0$ and $y \in K_1$ such that (4.2) and (4.3) hold. That is, for x, y satisfying z = (1-t)x+ty, the function $T(x, y) := (1-t)f_0(x) + tf_1(y)$ attains its infimum at (x, y). By Lagrangian Multiples Theorem, there exist a constant $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, such that

$$(1-t)\nabla f_0(x) - \lambda(1-t) = 0,$$

$$t\nabla f_1(y) - \lambda t = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\nabla f_0(x) = \nabla f_1(y) = \lambda$$

Using Proposition 4.5 (iii) and (iv), we obtain that

$$\nabla \tilde{f}^{*}(\lambda) = (1-t)\nabla f_{0}^{*}(\lambda) + t\nabla f_{1}^{*}(\lambda)
= (1-t)(\nabla f_{0})^{-1}(\lambda) + t(\nabla f_{1})^{-1}(\lambda)
= (1-t)x + ty = z = \nabla \tilde{f}^{*}(\nabla \tilde{f}(z)).$$
(4.6)

Since \tilde{f} is strictly convex, we know that $\nabla \tilde{f}^* = (\nabla \tilde{f})^{-1}$ is injective. It follows from (4.6) that

$$\lambda = \nabla \tilde{f}(z),$$

which leads to (4.4). if f_0 and f_1 are twice differentiable at x and y respectively, and $D^2 f_0(x), D^2 f_1(y) > 0$, then f_i^* are twice differentiable at λ and

$$D^{2}f_{i}^{*}(\lambda) = D(\nabla f_{i}^{*})(\lambda) = D((\nabla f_{i})^{-1}(\lambda)) = (D^{2}f_{0}(x))^{-1} = (D^{2}f_{1}(y))^{-1}.$$
 (4.7)

Therefore, \tilde{f}^* are twice differentiable at λ and $D^2 \tilde{f}^*(\lambda) > 0$. Consequently, \tilde{f} are twice differentiable at z and the same computation as (4.7) yields

$$D^{2}\tilde{f}(z) = (D^{2}\tilde{f}^{*}(\lambda))^{-1} = [(1-t)D^{2}f_{0}^{*}(\lambda) + tD^{2}f_{1}^{*}(\lambda)]^{-1},$$

where we also used Proposition 4.5 (iii). Combining with (4.7), we obtain the equality (4.5). \Box

Now we are ready to prove Theorem 4.1.

Assume u_i be the first Dirichlet eigenfunctions with respect to the sets K_i for i = 0, 1. Consider the function

$$v_i(x) = -\log u_i(x), \quad x \in K_i.$$

They satisfy corresponding equations:

$$\begin{cases} Qv_i = \lambda(K_i) + F(\nabla v_i)^2 & \text{in } K_i \\ \lim_{x \to \partial K_i} v_i = +\infty & \text{on } \partial K_i \end{cases}$$
(4.8)

In [KaNo08], the author observed that $v_i \in C^{1,\alpha}(K_i)$ and is convex in K_i . Our proof will be based on this property. Denote

$$\mathcal{C}_i = \{ x \in K_i | \nabla v_i(x) = 0 \}.$$

Since the operator Qv_i is uniformly elliptic in any compact sets of $K_i \setminus C_i$, we know by the standard regularity theory for elliptic equations that $v_i \in C^2(K_i \setminus C_i)$.

For $\varepsilon > 0$, we define

$$v_i^{\varepsilon}(x) = v_i(x) + \varepsilon (F^0(x))^2,$$

By the strictly convexity of $(F^0(x))^2$, the function $v_i^{\varepsilon} \in C^2(K_i \setminus C_i) \bigcap C^{1,\alpha}(K_i)$ and is strictly convex in K_i . Obviously v_i^{ε} converges uniformly to v_i in K_i . By proposition 4.5 (vii), ∇v_i^{ε} also converges uniformly to ∇v_i in K_i .

We denote by \tilde{v} the infimal convolution of v_0 and v_1 , \tilde{v}^{ε} the infimal convolution of v_0^{ε} and v_1^{ε} , again by proposition 4.5 (vi) and (vii), we know that $\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon} \in C^1(K_t)$ and $\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}, \nabla \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}$ converges uniformly to $\tilde{v}, \nabla \tilde{v}$ in K_t respectively. Let $C_t = \{x \in K_t | \nabla \tilde{v}(x) = 0\}$, from Lemma 4.6 it is not difficult to see that

$$\mathcal{C}_t = (1-t)\mathcal{C}_0 + t\mathcal{C}_1.$$

We have the following

Lemma 4.7. For \tilde{v}^{ε} defined above, the following inequality holds:

$$Q\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z) \le (1-t)\lambda(K_0) + t\lambda(K_1) + F^2(\nabla\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z)) + R^{\varepsilon}(z),$$
(4.9)

where R^{ε} converges uniformly to zero in any compact subset of $K_t \setminus C_t$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Proof. By Lemma 4.6, for a fixed $z \in K_t \setminus C_t$ there exists a unique $(x_0^{\varepsilon}, x_1^{\varepsilon}) \in K_0 \times K_1$, such that

$$z = (1-t)x_0^{\varepsilon} + tx_1^{\varepsilon}, (4.10)$$

$$\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z) = (1-t)v_0^{\varepsilon}(x_0^{\varepsilon}) + tv_1^{\varepsilon}(x_1^{\varepsilon}), \qquad (4.11)$$

$$\nabla \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z) = \nabla v_0^{\varepsilon}(x_0^{\varepsilon}) = \nabla v_1^{\varepsilon}(x_1^{\varepsilon}).$$
(4.12)

Since $\nabla \tilde{v}(z) \neq 0$, it follows that for sufficiently small ε ,

$$\nabla v_i^{\varepsilon}(x_i^{\varepsilon}) \neq 0, \quad i = 0, 1.$$
(4.13)

Particularly,

$$x_i^{\varepsilon} \in K_i \backslash \mathcal{C}_i, \quad i = 0, 1. \tag{4.14}$$

Recall that $v_i^{\varepsilon} \in C^2(K_i \setminus C_i)$, by Lemma 4.6 again, we know that $\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon} \in C^2(K_t \setminus C_t)$ and the following equality holds:

$$D^{2}\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z) = \left[(1-t) \left(D^{2}v_{0}^{\varepsilon}(x^{\varepsilon}) \right)^{-1} + t \left(D^{2}v_{1}^{\varepsilon}(y^{\varepsilon}) \right)^{-1} \right]^{-1}$$
(4.15)

for $z \in K_t \setminus \mathcal{C}_t$.

We denote $a_{ij}(\xi) = F(\xi)F_{\xi_i\xi_j}(\xi) + F_{\xi_i}(\xi)F_{\xi_j}(\xi)$ for $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$. From (4.12), we can set

$$a_{ij} := a_{ij}(\nabla \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z)) = a_{ij}(\nabla v_0^{\varepsilon}(x_0^{\varepsilon})) = a_{ij}(\nabla v_1^{\varepsilon}(x_1^{\varepsilon}))$$

Let A denote the matrix $(a_{ij})_{n \times n}$. It is positive definite and symmetric.

Now we need the following proposition.

Proposition 4.8. Assume A, B, C are symmetric and positive definite $n \times n$ matrices. Then we have the following inequality:

$$\operatorname{tr}(A((1-t)B+tC)^{-1}) \le (1-t)\operatorname{tr}(AB^{-1}) + t\operatorname{tr}(AC^{-1}), \tag{4.16}$$

for any $t \in [0, 1]$.

Proof. Since A is symmetric and positive definite, there exists an orthogonal matrix O, such that

$$A = O\Lambda O^T,$$

where $\Lambda = \text{diag}\{\mu_1, \mu_2, \cdots, \mu_n\}$ and $\{\mu_i\}_{i=1}^n$ are the positive eigenvalues of A. Set $\tilde{B} = O^T BO, \tilde{C} = O^T CO$. It is clear that \tilde{B}, \tilde{C} are also symmetric and positive definite.

For $i = 1, \dots, n$, let $v_i = \sqrt{\lambda_i} e_i$ be *n* row vectors, where $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^n$ is the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^n . By using Lemma 1 in [CoSa03], for each *i* we have

$$v_i((1-t)\tilde{B} + t\tilde{C})^{-1}v_i^T \le (1-t)v_i\tilde{B}^{-1}v_i^T + tv_i\tilde{C}^{-1}v_i^T.$$
(4.17)

On the other hand,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{tr}(AB^{-1}) &= \operatorname{tr}(O\Lambda O^T B^{-1}) = \operatorname{tr}(\Lambda \tilde{B}^{-1}) = \operatorname{tr}(\Lambda^{\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{B}^{-1} \Lambda^{\frac{1}{2}}) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n v_i \tilde{B}^{-1} v_i^T. \end{aligned}$$

The same computation gives

$$\operatorname{tr}(AC^{-1}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_i \tilde{C}^{-1} v_i^T,$$
$$\operatorname{tr}(A((1-t)B + tC)^{-1}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_i ((1-t)\tilde{B} + t\tilde{C})^{-1} v_i^T.$$

Thus we conclude (4.16) from (4.17).

We return to the proof of Lemma 4.7. Because of the strict convexity of v_0^{ε} and v_1^{ε} , we can apply (4.16) to the matrix A defined above, $B = (D^2 v_0^{\varepsilon}(x_0^{\varepsilon}))^{-1}$ and $C = (D^2 v_1^{\varepsilon}(x_1^{\varepsilon}))^{-1}$ to obtain that

$$\operatorname{tr}(A \cdot D^{2} \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z)) = \operatorname{tr}\left(A \cdot \left((1-t)(D^{2}v_{0}^{\varepsilon}(x_{0}^{\varepsilon}))^{-1} + t(D^{2}v_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x_{1}^{\varepsilon}))^{-1}\right)^{-1}\right) \\ \leq (1-t)\operatorname{tr}(A \cdot D^{2}v_{0}^{\varepsilon}(x_{0}^{\varepsilon})) + t\operatorname{tr}(A \cdot D^{2}v_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x_{1}^{\varepsilon})).$$

Here we also used (4.15). By the fact that $Qv = tr(A \cdot D^2 v)$, we have

$$Q\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z) \le (1-t)Qv_0^{\varepsilon}(x_0^{\varepsilon}) + tQv_1^{\varepsilon}(x_1^{\varepsilon})$$
(4.18)

for $z \in K_t \setminus \mathcal{C}_t$.

To arrive (4.9), we compute

$$Qv_{i}^{\varepsilon}(x_{i}^{\varepsilon}) = \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} a_{jk} (\nabla v_{i}^{\varepsilon}(x_{i}^{\varepsilon})) \frac{\partial^{2} v_{i}^{\varepsilon}}{\partial x_{k} \partial x_{j}} (x_{i}^{\varepsilon})$$

$$= \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} a_{jk} (\nabla v_{i} + \varepsilon \nabla (F^{0})^{2}) \left(\frac{\partial^{2} v_{i}}{\partial x_{k} \partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial^{2} (F^{0})^{2}}{\partial x_{k} \partial x_{j}} \right)$$

$$= Qv_{i} + \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \left(a_{jk} (\nabla v_{i} + \varepsilon \nabla (F^{0})^{2}) - a_{jk} (\nabla v_{i}) \right) \frac{\partial^{2} v_{i}}{\partial x_{k} \partial x_{j}}$$

$$+ \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \varepsilon a_{jk} (\nabla v_{i} + \varepsilon \nabla (F^{0})^{2}) \frac{\partial^{2} (F^{0})^{2}}{\partial x_{k} \partial x_{j}}$$

$$= Qv_{i}(x_{i}^{\varepsilon}) + R_{i}^{\varepsilon}(x_{i}^{\varepsilon}), \qquad (4.19)$$

where

$$R_{i}^{\varepsilon}(x_{i}^{\varepsilon}) = \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \left(a_{jk} (\nabla v_{i} + \varepsilon \nabla (F^{0})^{2}) - a_{jk} (\nabla v_{i}) \right) \frac{\partial^{2} v_{i}}{\partial x_{k} \partial x_{j}} + \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \varepsilon a_{jk} (\nabla v_{i} + \varepsilon \nabla (F^{0})^{2}) \frac{\partial^{2} (F^{0})^{2}}{\partial x_{k} \partial x_{j}}.$$

From (4.18), (4.19), (4.8) and (4.12), it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} Q\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z) &\leq (1-t)Qv_{0}(x_{0}^{\varepsilon}) + tQv_{1}(x_{1}^{\varepsilon}) + (1-t)R_{0}^{\varepsilon}(x_{0}^{\varepsilon}) + tR_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x_{1}^{\varepsilon}) \\ &= (1-t)\lambda_{1}(K_{0}) + t\lambda_{1}(K_{1}) + F^{2}(\nabla\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z)) \\ &+ (1-t)[R_{0}^{\varepsilon}(x_{0}^{\varepsilon}) + F^{2}(\nabla v_{0}(x_{0}^{\varepsilon})) - F^{2}(\nabla v_{0}^{\varepsilon}(x_{0}^{\varepsilon}))] \\ &+ t[R_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x_{1}^{\varepsilon}) + F^{2}(\nabla v_{1}(x_{1}^{\varepsilon})) - F^{2}(\nabla v_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x_{1}^{\varepsilon}))] \\ &= (1-t)\lambda_{1}(K_{0}) + t\lambda_{1}(K_{1}) + F^{2}(\nabla\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z)) + R^{\varepsilon}(z), \end{aligned}$$

where

$$R^{\varepsilon}(z) = (1-t)[R_0^{\varepsilon}(x_0^{\varepsilon}) + F^2(\nabla v_0(x_0^{\varepsilon})) - F^2(\nabla v_0^{\varepsilon}(x_0^{\varepsilon}))] +t[R_1^{\varepsilon}(x_1^{\varepsilon}) + F^2(\nabla v_1(x_1^{\varepsilon})) - F^2(\nabla v_1^{\varepsilon}(x_1^{\varepsilon}))].$$

Finally we show that $R^{\varepsilon}(z)$ converges uniformly to zero in any compact subset of $K_t \setminus \mathcal{C}_t$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Indeed, it is clear that $R^{\varepsilon}(z) \to 0$ point-wise. If L is a compact subset of $K_t \setminus C_t$, then for every $z \in L$, there exists ε_0 and two compact subsets L_i of $K_i \setminus C_i$, such that, for $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0, x_i^{\varepsilon} \in L_i$. We then obtain by the 0-homogeneity of $a_{jk}(\xi)$ that $a_{jk}(\nabla v_i + \varepsilon \nabla (F^0)^2), a_{jk}(\nabla v_i)$ is uniformly bounded in L_i . As v_i and $(F^0)^2$ belong to $C^2(L_i)$, we conclude that $R^{\varepsilon}(z)$ is uniformly bounded in L. Now set

$$\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z) = e^{-\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}(z)},$$

 $\tilde{u}(z) = e^{-\tilde{v}(z)},$

for $z \in K_t$. Because of the uniform convergence of \tilde{v}^{ε} and $\nabla \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}$, we know that $\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, \nabla \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}$ converge uniformly to $\tilde{u}, \nabla \tilde{u}$ respectively. Note that $\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon} \in C^1(K_t)$ and $\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon} \to +\infty$ on ∂K_t , we have $\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \in C^1(K_t)$ and $\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} = 0$ on ∂K_t .

Lemma 4.9. The following inequality holds for \tilde{u} :

$$\int_{K_t} F(\nabla \tilde{u}(z))^2 dz \le \left[(1-t)\lambda_1(K_0) + t\lambda_1(K_1) \right] \int_{\Omega_t} (\tilde{u}(z))^2 dz.$$
(4.20)

Proof. From Lemma 4.7, we deduce that \tilde{u}^{ε} satisfies

$$Q\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z) \ge -[(1-t)\lambda_1(K_0) + t\lambda_1(K_1)]\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z) - R^{\varepsilon}(z)\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z), \ z \in \Omega_t \setminus \mathcal{C}_t.$$
(4.21)

To prove Lemma 4.9 we use an approximation procedure. Assume that X_j and Y_j are two sequences of open sets such that $\mathcal{C}_t \subset Y_j \subset X_j \subset \subset K_t$, $\overline{Y_j} \subset X_j$ for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and X_j , Y_j converge to K_t , \mathcal{C}_t in Hausdorff metric respectively as $j \to +\infty$.

From (4.21), we obtain for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ that

$$\begin{split} \int_{X_j \setminus Y_j} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z) Q \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z) dz &\geq - \int_{X_j \setminus Y_j} [(1-t)\lambda_1(K_0) + t\lambda_1(K_1)] (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z))^2 dz \\ &- \int_{X_j \setminus Y_j} R^{\varepsilon}(z) (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z))^2 dz. \end{split}$$

It follows by integrating by parts that

$$\int_{X_{j}\setminus Y_{j}} F(\nabla \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z))^{2} dz - \int_{\partial X_{j} \bigcup \partial Y_{j}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z) F(\nabla \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z)) F_{\xi_{i}}(\nabla \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z)) \frac{\partial \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z)}{\partial \nu} dz$$
$$\leq \int_{X_{j}\setminus Y_{j}} [(1-t)\lambda_{1}(K_{0}) + t\lambda_{1}(K_{1})] (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z))^{2} dz + \int_{X_{j}\setminus Y_{j}} R^{\varepsilon}(z) (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z))^{2} dz.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ in the above inequality, by $F \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and the uniform convergence of \tilde{u}^{ε} , $\nabla \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}$ and R^{ε} in $X_j \setminus Y_j$, we have:

$$\int_{X_j \setminus Y_j} F(\nabla \tilde{u}(z))^2 dz - \int_{\partial X_j \bigcup \partial Y_j} \tilde{u}(z) F(\nabla \tilde{u}(z)) F_{\xi_i}(\nabla \tilde{u}(z)) \frac{\partial \tilde{u}(z)}{\partial \nu} dz$$
$$\leq \int_{X_j \setminus Y_j} [(1-t)\lambda_1(K_0) + t\lambda_1(K_1)](\tilde{u}(z))^2 dz.$$

Finally, letting $j \to \infty$, since $\lim_{x\to\partial C_t} \nabla \tilde{u}(x) = 0$, $\lim_{x\to\partial K_t} \tilde{u}(x) = 0$, F(0) = 0, $\nabla \tilde{u}$ is bounded in K_t , F_{ξ_i} is 0-homogeneous, we have:

$$\int_{K_t \setminus \mathcal{C}_t} F(\nabla \tilde{u}(z))^2 dz \le \left[(1-t)\lambda_1(K_0) + t\lambda_1(K_1) \right] \int_{K_t} (\tilde{u}(z))^2 dz.$$

As $F(\nabla \tilde{u}(z)) = 0$ in \mathcal{C}_t , we deduce (4.20).

By Lemma 4.9, we obtain immediately

$$\lambda_1(K_t) \le \frac{\int_{K_t} F(\nabla \tilde{u}(z))^2 dz}{\int_{K_t} (\tilde{u}(z))^2 dz} \le (1-t)\lambda_1(K_0) + t\lambda_1(K_1)$$
(4.22)

In order to obtain the Brunn-Minkowski type inequality (4.1), we only need the following standard argument: For arbitrary K_0 , K_1 and $t \in [0, 1]$, let

$$K'_{0} = [\lambda_{1}(K_{0})]^{\frac{1}{2}}K_{0},$$

$$K'_{1} = [\lambda_{1}(K_{1})]^{\frac{1}{2}}K_{1},$$

$$t' = \frac{t[\lambda_{1}(K_{1})]^{-\frac{1}{2}}}{(1-t)[\lambda(K_{0})]^{-\frac{1}{2}} + t[\lambda_{1}(K_{1})]^{-\frac{1}{2}}}$$

and apply (4.22) to K'_0 , K'_1 and t', that is,

$$\lambda_1((1-t')K'_0 + t'K'_1) \le (1-t')\lambda_1(K'_0) + t\lambda_1(K'_1).$$

By using the -2 -homogeneity of $\lambda_1(K)$, we obtain (4.1). This complete the proof of Theorem 4.1.

4.2 Sharp lower bound for the first Neumann eigenvalue

We will prove the following theorem in this section.

Theorem 4.10. Let Ω be a smooth bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n and $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ be a norm on \mathbb{R}^n . Let λ_1^N be the first Neumann eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian. Assume that $\partial \Omega$ is weakly convex. Then λ_1^N satisfies

$$\lambda_1^N \ge \frac{\pi^2}{d_F^2},\tag{4.23}$$

Equivalently, the optimal Poincaré inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} F^2(\nabla u) dx \ge \frac{\pi^2}{d_F^2} \int_{\Omega} u^2 dx \tag{4.24}$$

holds for any $u \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ with $\int_{\Omega} u dx = 0$. Moreover, equality in (4.23) holds if and only if Ω is a segment in \mathbb{R} .

In the theorem, d_F is the *diameter* of Ω with respect to the norm F on \mathbb{R}^n , which defines as follows. We say $\gamma : [0, 1] \to \Omega$ a *minimal geodesic* from x_1 to x_2 if

$$d_F(x_1, x_2) := \int_0^1 F^0(\dot{\gamma}(t)) dt = \inf \int_0^1 F^0(\dot{\tilde{\gamma}}(t)) dt$$

where the infimum takes on all C^1 curves $\tilde{\gamma}(t)$ in Ω from x_1 to x_2 . In fact γ is a straight line and $d_F(x_1, x_2) = F^0(x_2 - x_1)$. We call $d_F(x_1, x_2)$ the *F*-distance between x_1 and x_2 . d_F is defined by

$$d_F := \sup_{x_1, x_2 \in \overline{\Omega}} d_F(x_1, x_2).$$

Estimate (4.23) for the Neumann boundary problem is optimal, in the sense that equality can be attained for a one dimensional segment. This is in fact a generalization of the classical result of Payne-Weinberger in [PaWe60] on an optimal estimate of the first Neumann eigenvalue of the ordinary Laplacian.

First of all, we give an outline of our proof. The technique is based on a comparison theorem on the gradient of the first eigenfunction with that of a one dimensional (1-D) model function (Theorem 4.15), which was developed by Kröger [Kr92] and improved by Chen-Wang [CW97] and Bakry-Qian [BQ00]. By using a refined Hölder inequality, we find that the one dimensional model coincides with that in the Laplacian case, as presented in Theorem 4.15). It should be not so surprising, because when we consider F in \mathbb{R} , it can only be F(x) = c|x| for some positive constant c. Since the 1-D model has been extensively studied in [BQ00], it also eases our situation, although we deal with a nonlinear operator. One difficulty we encounter is to handle the boundary maximum due to the different representation of the Neumann boundary condition (0.5). We find a suitable vector field V to avoid this difficulty. Another ingredient is a comparison theorem on the maxima of eigenfunction with that of the 1-D model function (Theorem 4.17). Everything in [BQ00] works except the boundedness of the Hessian of eigenfunctions around a critical point (since the eigenfunction is only $C^{1,\alpha}$ among Ω), which was used to prove (5.16). Here we avoid the use of the Hessian of eigenfunctions by using the comparison theorem on the gradient. With these comparison theorems at hand, we could follow step by step the work of Bakry-Qian [BQ00] to get Theorem 4.10. The proof for the rigidity part of Theorem 0.5 follows closely the work of Hang-Wang [HaWa07]. Here we need pay more attention on the points with vanishing $|\nabla u|$.

Before getting into the proof of Theorem 4.10, we prove two simple but important inequalities with respect to the anisotropic Laplacian. One is a Kato type inequality, the other is a refined Hölder inequality for the square of "anisotropic" norm of Hessian. **Lemma 4.11** (Kato inequality). At a point where $\nabla u \neq 0$, we have

$$a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} \ge a_{ij}F_kF_lu_{ik}u_{jl}.$$
(4.25)

Proof. It is clear that

$$a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} - a_{ij}F_kF_lu_{ik}u_{jl} = a_{ij}FF_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} = FF_iF_jF_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} + F^2F_{ij}F_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl}$$

Since (F_{ij}) is positive definite, we know the first term

$$FF_iF_jF_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} = FF_{kl}(F_iu_{ik})(F_ju_{jl}) \ge 0.$$

The second term $F_{ij}F_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl}$ is nonnegative as well. Indeed, we can write the matrix $(F_{kl})_{k,l} = O^T \Lambda O$ for some orthogonal matrix O and diagonal matrix $\Lambda = diag(\mu_1, \mu_2, \cdots, \mu_n)$ with $\mu_i \geq 0$ for any $i = 1, 2, \cdots, n$. Set $U = (u_{ij})_{i,j}$ and $\widetilde{U} = OUO^T = (\widetilde{u}_{ij})_{i,j}$. Then we have

$$F_{ij}F_{kl}u_{lj}u_{ki} = tr(O^T \Lambda O U O^T \Lambda O U) = tr(\Lambda O U O^T \Lambda O U O^T)$$
$$= tr(\Lambda \widetilde{U} \Lambda \widetilde{U}) = \mu_i \mu_j \widetilde{u}_{ij}^2 \ge 0,$$

and hence the proof of (4.25).

Remark 4.12. When $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, (4.25) is the usual Kato inequality

$$|\nabla^2 u|^2 \ge |\nabla|\nabla u||^2.$$

Lemma 4.13 (refined Hölder inequality). At a point where $\nabla u \neq 0$, we have for $N \geq n$,

$$a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} \ge \frac{(a_{ij}u_{ij})^2}{N} + \frac{N}{N-1} \left(\frac{a_{ij}u_{ij}}{N} - F_iF_ju_{ij}\right)^2.$$
(4.26)

Proof. We first handle the case N = n. Let

$$A = F_i F_j u_{ij}$$
 and $B = F F_{ij} u_{ij}$.

The right hand side of (4.26) equals to

$$\frac{(A+B)^2}{n} + \frac{n}{n-1} \left(\frac{B}{n} - \frac{n-1}{n}A\right)^2 = A^2 + \frac{1}{n-1}B^2.$$

The left hand side of (4.26) is

$$A^2 + 2FF_iF_jF_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} + F^2F_{ij}F_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl}.$$

Since (F_{ij}) is semi-positively definite, we know

$$FF_iF_jF_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} = FF_{kl}(F_iu_{ik})(F_ju_{jl}) \ge 0.$$

Using the same notations in the proof of Lemma 4.11, we have

$$F^{2}F_{ij}F_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} = F^{2}\mu_{i}\mu_{j}\tilde{u}_{ij}^{2} = F^{2}\mu_{i}^{2}\tilde{u}_{ii}^{2} + F^{2}\sum_{i\neq k}\mu_{i}\mu_{k}\tilde{u}_{ik}^{2} \ge F^{2}\mu_{i}^{2}\tilde{u}_{ii}^{2},$$
$$B = FF_{ij}u_{ij} = tr(O^{T}\Lambda OU) = tr(\Lambda OUO^{T}) = \mu_{i}\tilde{u}_{ii}.$$

We claim that (F_{ij}) is a matrix of rank n-1, in other words, one of μ_i is zero. Firstly, $F_{ij}u_j = 0$. Secondly, for any nonzero $V \perp F_{\xi}(\nabla u)$, $F_{ij}V^iV^j = a_{ij}V^iV^j > 0$. The claim follows easily. Thus the Hölder inequality gives

$$F^2 \mu_i^2 \tilde{u}_{ii}^2 \ge \frac{1}{n-1} F^2 (\mu_i \tilde{u}_{ii})^2 = \frac{1}{n-1} B^2.$$

Altogether we complete the proof of the case N = n.

For the case N > n, we only need to observe the following identity for any $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$:

$$\frac{a^2}{n} + \frac{n}{n-1} \left(\frac{a}{n} - b\right)^2 = \frac{a^2}{N} + \frac{N}{N-1} \left(\frac{a}{N} - b\right)^2 + \frac{N-n}{(N-1)(n-1)}(a-b)^2.$$

Remark 4.14. When $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, then (4.26) is

$$|\nabla^2 u|^2 \ge \frac{(\Delta u)^2}{n} + \frac{n}{n-1} \left(\frac{\Delta u}{n} - \frac{u_i u_j u_{ij}}{|\nabla u|^2}\right)^2.$$

Let us start the proof of Theorem 4.10.

It is well-known that the existence of Neumann first eigenfunction can be obtained from the direct method in the calculus of variations. We note that the first Neumann eigenfunction must change sign, for its average vanishes.

We begin with the following gradient comparison theorem, which is the most crucial part for the proof of the sharp estimate. For simplicity, we write λ_1 instead of λ_1^N throughout this section.

Theorem 4.15. Let Ω , u, λ_1 be as in Theorem 4.10. Let v be a solution of the one dimensional (1-D) problem on some interval (a, b):

$$v'' - Tv' = -\lambda_1 v, \quad v'(a) = v'(b) = 0, \quad v' > 0,$$
(4.27)

with $T(t) = -\frac{n-1}{t}$ or 0. Assume that $[\min u, \max u] \subset [\min v, \max v]$, then

$$F(\nabla u)(x) \le v'(v^{-1}(u(x))).$$
 (4.28)

Proof. First, since $\int u = 0$, we know that $\min u < 0$ while $\max u > 0$. We may assume that $[\min u, \max u] \subset (\min v, \max v)$ by multiplying u by a constant 0 < c < 1. If we prove the result for this u, then letting $c \to 1$ we have (4.28).

Under the condition $[\min u, \max u] \subset (\min v, \max v), v^{-1}$ is smooth on a neighborhood U of $[\min u, \max u]$.

Consider $P := \psi(u)(\frac{1}{2}F(\nabla u)^2 - \phi(u))$, where $\psi, \phi \in C^{\infty}(U)$ are two positive smooth functions to be determined later. We first assume that P attains its maximum at $x_0 \in \Omega$, and then we will consider the case that $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$. If $\nabla u(x_0) = 0$, $P \leq 0$ is obvious. Hence we assume $\nabla u(x_0) \neq 0$. From now on we compute at x_0 . We use the notation (2.5) in Chapter 2. Since x_0 is the maximum of P, we have that

$$P_i(x_0) = 0, (4.29)$$

$$a_{ij}(x_0)P_{ij}(x_0) \le 0. (4.30)$$

Equality in (4.29) gives

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2(\nabla u) - \phi(u) \right) = -\frac{\psi(u))_i}{\psi^2} P, \quad F_i F_j u_{ij} = \phi' - \frac{\psi'}{\psi^2} P.$$
(4.31)

Then we compute $a_{ij}P_{ij}$.

$$a_{ij}P_{ij} = \frac{P}{\psi}a_{ij}(\psi(u))_{ij} + \psi a_{ij}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i x_j} \left(\frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u) - (\phi(u))\right) + 2a_{ij}(\psi(u))_i\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left(\frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u) - \phi(u)\right).$$

It is easy to see from Proposition 1.2 that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_i} \left(\frac{1}{2}F^2\right) (\nabla u)u_i = F^2(\nabla u), \quad a_{ij}u_iu_j = F^2(\nabla u), \quad a_{ijk}u_k = 0.$$
(4.32)

By using (4.31), (4.32), the Bochner formula (2.7) and eigenvalue equation (0.3), we get

$$a_{ij}P_{ij} = (-\lambda_1 u \frac{\psi'}{\psi} + F^2 \frac{\psi''}{\psi} - 2F^2 \frac{{\psi'}^2}{\psi^2})P + \psi(a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} - \lambda_1 F^2) + \psi(\lambda_1 u \phi' - F^2 \phi'').$$
(4.33)

Applying Lemma 4.13 with N = n to (4.33), replacing F^2 by $2\frac{P}{\psi} + \phi$ and using (4.31), (0.3), (4.30), we deduce
$$0 \geq a_{ij}P_{ij} \geq (-\lambda_1 u \frac{\psi'}{\psi} + F^2 \frac{\psi''}{\psi} - 2F^2 \frac{\psi'^2}{\psi^2})P + \psi(\lambda_1 u \phi' - F^2 \phi'') + \psi\left(\frac{(a_{ij} u_{ij})^2}{n} + \frac{n}{n-1} \left(\frac{a_{ij} u_{ij}}{n} - F_i F_j u_{ij}\right)^2 - \lambda_1 F^2\right) = \frac{1}{\psi} \left[2\frac{\psi''}{\psi} - (4 - \frac{n}{n-1})\frac{\psi'^2}{\psi^2}\right]P^2 + \left[2\phi\left(\frac{\psi''}{\psi} - 2\frac{\psi'^2}{\psi^2}\right) - \frac{n+1}{n-1}\frac{\psi'}{\psi}\lambda_1 u - \frac{2n}{n-1}\frac{\psi'}{\psi}\phi' - 2\lambda_1 - 2\phi''\right]P + \psi\left[\frac{1}{n-1}\lambda_1^2 u^2 + \frac{n+1}{n-1}\lambda_1 u \phi' + \frac{n}{n-1}\phi'^2 - 2\lambda_1\phi - 2\phi\phi''\right] := a_1P^2 + a_2P + a_3.$$
(4.34)

We are lucky to observe that the coefficients a_i , i = 1, 2, 3, coincide with those appearing in the ordinary Laplacian case (see e.g. [BQ00], Lemma 1). The next step is to choose suitable positive functions ψ and ϕ such that $a_1, a_2 > 0$ everywhere and $a_3 = 0$, which had already be done in [BQ00]. For completeness, we sketch the main idea here.

Choose $\phi(u) = \frac{1}{2}v'(v^{-1}(u))^2$, where v is a solution of 1-D problem (4.27). One can compute that

$$\phi'(u) = v''(v^{-1}(u)), \phi''(u) = \frac{v'''}{v'}(v^{-1}(u)).$$

Setting $t = v^{-1}(u)$ and u = v(t) we have

$$\frac{a_3(t)}{\psi} = \frac{1}{n-1}\lambda_1^2 v^2 + \frac{n+1}{n-1}\lambda_1 v v'' + \frac{n}{n-1}v''^2 - \lambda_1 v'^2 - v'v'''$$
$$= -v'(v'' - Tv' + \lambda_1 v)' + \frac{1}{n-1}(v'' - Tv' + \lambda_1 v)(nv'' + Tv' + \lambda_1 v) = 0.$$

Here we have used that T satisfies $T' = \frac{T^2}{n-1}$. For a_1, a_2 , we introduce

$$X(t) = \lambda_1 \frac{v(t)}{v'(t)}, \quad \psi(u) = \exp(\int h(v(t))), \quad f(t) = -h(v(t))v'(t).$$

With these notations, we have

$$f' = -h'v'^2 + f(T - X),$$

$$v'|_{v^{-1}}^2 a_1 \psi = 2f(T-X) - \frac{n-2}{n-1}f^2 - 2f' := 2(Q_1(f) - f'),$$

$$a_2 = f(\frac{3n-1}{n-1}T - 2X) - 2T(\frac{n}{n-1}T - X) - f^2 - f' := Q_2(f) - f'.$$

We may now use Corollary 3 in [BQ00], which says that there exists a bounded function f on $[\min u, \max u] \subset (\min v, \max v)$ such that $f' < \min\{Q_1(f), Q_2(f)\}$.

In view of (4.34), we know that by our choice of ψ and ϕ , $P(x_0) \leq 0$, and hence $P(x) \leq 0$ for every $x \in \Omega$, which leads to (4.28).

Now we consider the case $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$. Suppose that P attains its maximum at $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$. Consider a new vector field $V(x) = (V^i(x))_{i=1}^n$ defined on $\partial \Omega$ by

$$V^{i}(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(\nabla u(x))\nu^{j}(x).$$

Thanks to the positivity of a_{ij} , V(x) must point outward. Hence $\frac{\partial P}{\partial V}(x_0) \ge 0$.

On the other hand, we see from the Neumann boundary condition and homogeneity of F that

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial V}(x_0) = u_i a_{ij}(\nabla u(x))\nu^j = FF_j\nu^j = 0.$$

Thus we have

$$0 \le \frac{\partial P}{\partial V}(x_0) = \psi F F_i u_{ij} a_{jk} \nu^k.$$
(4.35)

Choose now local coordinate $\{e_i\}_{i=1,\dots,n}$ around x_0 such that $e_n = \nu$ and $\{e_\alpha\}_{\alpha=1,\dots,n-1}$ is the orthonormal basis of tangent space of $\partial\Omega$. Denote by $h_{\alpha\beta}$ the second fundamental form of $\partial\Omega$. By the assumption that $\partial\Omega$ is weakly convex, we know the matrix $(h_{\alpha\beta}) \geq 0$.

The Neumann boundary condition implies

$$F_i \nu^i(x_0) = F_n(x_0) = 0. \tag{4.36}$$

By taking tangential derivative of (4.36), we have

$$D_{e_{\beta}}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}\nu^{i})(x_{0}) = 0,$$

for any $\beta = 1, \dots, n-1$. Computing $D_{e_{\beta}}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}\nu^{i})(x_{0})$ explicitly, we have

$$0 = D_{e_{\beta}}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}\nu^{i})(x_{0}) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} F_{ij}u_{j\beta}\nu^{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}\nu_{\beta}^{i}$$
$$= \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} F_{ij}u_{j\beta}\nu^{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{\gamma=1}^{n-1} F_{i}h_{\beta\gamma}e_{\gamma}^{i}$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} F_{nj}u_{j\beta} + \sum_{\gamma=1}^{n-1} F_{\gamma}h_{\beta\gamma}.$$
(4.37)

In the last equality we have used $\nu_n = 1$ and $\nu_\beta = 0$ for $\beta = 1, \dots, n-1$ in the chosen coordinate.

Combining (4.35), (4.36) and (4.37), we obtain

$$0 \leq \frac{\partial P}{\partial V}(x_0) = \sum_{i,j,k=1}^n \psi F F_i u_{ij} a_{jk} \nu^k = \psi F \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \sum_{j=1}^n F_\alpha u_{\alpha j} a_{jn}$$
$$= \psi F \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \sum_{j=1}^n F_\alpha u_{\alpha j} F_{jn} = -\psi F \sum_{\alpha,\gamma=1}^{n-1} F_\alpha F_\gamma h_{\alpha\gamma} \leq 0.$$

Therefore we obtain that $\frac{\partial P}{\partial V}(x_0) = 0$. Since the tangent derivatives of P also vanishes, we have $\nabla P(x_0) = 0$. It's also the case that (4.30) holds. Thus the previous proof for an interior maximum also works in this case. This finishes the proof of Theorem 4.15.

Remark 4.16. Theorem 4.15 still holds if we replace $T(t) = \frac{n-1}{t}$ by $T(t) = \frac{N-1}{t}$ for N > n, but without change of the dimension of Ω . To see this, we need just to apply Lemma 4.13 with N > n.

Another ingredient is a comparison theorem for the maxima of the eigenfunctions.

Theorem 4.17. Let Ω , u, λ_1 be as in Theorem 4.10. Let v be a solution of the 1-D model problem on some interval $(0, \infty)$:

$$v'' = -\frac{n-1}{t}v' - \lambda_1 v, \quad v(0) = -1, \quad v'(0) = 0.$$

Let b be the first number after 0 with v'(b) = 0 and denote m = v(b). Then $\max u \ge m$.

Proof. We argue by contradiction. Suppose $\max(u) < m$. Then $[\min u, \max u] \subset [\min v, \max v]$. Note that v' > 0 in (a, b). Hence we could apply Theorem 4.15 for u and v. Denote by $d\mu_n = t^{n-1}dt$.

The same argument as Theorem 12 in [BQ00] implies that the ratio

$$R(c) = \frac{\int_{\{u \le c\}} u dx}{\int_{\{v \le c\}} v d\mu_n}$$

is increasing on $[\min(u), 0]$ and decreasing on $[0, \max(u)]$. Therefore, for $c \leq -\frac{1}{2}$, we have that

$$\mathcal{L}^{n}(\{u \le c\}) \le 2 \int_{\{u \le c\}} |u| dx \le 2R(0) \int_{\{v \le c\}} |v| d\mu_{n} \le 2R(0) \mu_{n}(\{v \le c\}).$$
(4.38)

Let $c = -1 + \varepsilon$ for $\varepsilon > 0$ small. A simple calculation gives that $v''(0) = \frac{\lambda_1}{n}$. Hence for t close to a, v''(t) has positive lower and upper bound. Together with v'(0) = 0, we see that $v(t) - v(0) \ge Ct^2$. Thus if $t \in \{v \le -1 + \varepsilon\}$, then $t \in (0, C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})$. It follows that

$$\mu_n(\{v \le -1 + \varepsilon\}) \le \mu_n((0, C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})) \le C\varepsilon^{n/2}.$$
(4.39)

On the other hand, we shall prove that

$$\mathcal{L}^{n}(\{u \leq -1 + \varepsilon\}) \geq \mathcal{L}^{n}(B(x_{0}, C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}) \bigcap \overline{\Omega}).$$
(4.40)

Let $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ be such that $u(x_0) = -1$. For any $x \in B(x_0, \delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$ with δ small, u(x) is close to -1 and $s := v^{-1}(u(x))$ is close to 0. Thus we see again from the upper bound of v'' and v'(0) = 0 that $v'(s) \leq Cs$. Therefore, we have from Theorem 4.15 that $F(\nabla u(x)) \leq v'(v^{-1}(u(x))) \leq Cs$ and $F(\nabla v^{-1}(u(x))) = (v^{-1})'(u(x))F(x, \nabla u(x)) \leq 1$. In turn, we get

$$s = v^{-1}(u(x)) - v^{-1}(u(x_0)) \le F(\nabla v^{-1}(u(\tilde{x})))\delta \le \delta,$$

and

$$u(x) \le u(x_0) + F(\nabla u(\tilde{x}))\delta \le -1 + Cs\delta \le -1 + C\delta^2$$

for some $\tilde{x}, \tilde{\tilde{x}} \in B(x_0, \delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$. Let $\varepsilon = C\delta^2$, we conclude $B(x_0, \delta) \cap \overline{\Omega} \subset \{u \leq -1+\varepsilon\}$, which implies (4.40).

Combining (4.38), (4.39) and (4.40), we see that there exists some constant C > 0 such that

$$\mathcal{L}^{n}(B(x_{0},r)\bigcap\overline{\Omega}) \leq Cr^{n}.$$
(4.41)

We shall get a contradiction as follows. Define v_N as a solution of the 1-D model problem on some interval $(0, \infty)$:

$$v'' = -\frac{N-1}{t}v' - \lambda_1 v, \quad v(0) = -1, \quad v'(0) = 0$$

Let b_N be the first number after 0 with $v'_N(b) = 0$ and denote $m_N = v_N(b)$. Then m_N is continuous with respect to N. Since $\max(u) < m = m_n$, it follows from the continuity of m_N that $\max(u) < m_N$ for any N > n close to N. From Remark 4.16, Theorem 4.15 still holds for N > n. Hence the above argument yields (4.41) with N instead of n for any N > n close to N, i.e.,

$$m(B(x_0, r) \bigcap \overline{\Omega}) \le Cr^N.$$
 (4.42)

However, $B(x_0, r) \cap \overline{\Omega}$ is a set in \mathbb{R}^n , we have $m(B^{\pm}(x_0, r)) \ge Cr^n$ for r > 0 small. This causes a contradiction to (4.42). That means, our assumption $\max(u) < m$ can not hold. We get $\max(u) \ge m$. Following the idea of [BQ00], Besides the comparison theorem on the gradient and maxima, in order to prove Theorem 4.10, we need to study many properties of the 1-D models, such as the difference $\delta(a) = b(a) - a$ as a function of $a \in [0, +\infty]$, where b(a) is the first number that v'(b(a)) = 0 (Note that v' > 0 in (a, b(a))). As we already saw in Theorem 4.15, the 1-D model (4.27) appears the same as that in the Laplacian case. Therefore, we can use directly the results of [BQ00] on the properties of the 1-D models. Here we use some simpler statement from [Va11].

We define $\delta(a)$ as a function of $a \in [0, +\infty]$ as follows. On one hand, we denote $\delta(\infty) = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda_1}}$. This number comes from the 1-D model (4.27) with T = 0. In fact, it is easy to see that solutions of the 1-D model (4.27) with T = 0 can be explicitly written as

$$v(t) = \sin\sqrt{\lambda_1}t$$

up to dilations. Hence in this case, $b(a) - a = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda_1}}$ for any $a \in \mathbb{R}$. On the other hand, we denote $\delta(a) = b(a) - a$ as a function of $a \in [0, +\infty)$ relative to the 1-D model (4.27) with $T = -\frac{n-1}{x}$.

The following property of $\delta(a)$ was proved in [BQ00, Va11].

Lemma 4.18 ([BQ00] or [Va11], Th. 5.3, Cor. 5.4). The function $\delta(a) : [0, \infty] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ is a continuous function such that

$$\delta(a) > \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda_1}},$$

$$\delta(\infty) = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda_1}}.$$

m(a) := v(b(a)) < 1, $\lim_{a\to\infty} m(a) = 1$ and m(a) = 1 if and only if $a = \infty$.

Now we are in a position to prove Theorem 4.10.

Proof of Theorem 4.10. Let u be an eigenfunction with eigenvalue λ_1 . Since $\int u = 0$, we may assume min u = -1 and $0 \le k = \max u \le 1$. Given a solution v to (4.27), denote m(a) = v(b(a)) with b(a) the first number with v'(b(a)) = 0 after a.

Theorem 4.17 and Lemma 4.18 imply that for any eigenfunction u, there exists a solution v to (4.27) such that $\min v = \min u = -1$ and $\max v = \max u = k \le 1$.

We now get the expected estimate by using Theorem 4.15. Choosing $x_1, x_2 \in \overline{\Omega}$ with $u(x_1) = \min u = -1, u(x_2) = \max u = k$ and $\gamma(t) : [0, 1] \to \overline{\Omega}$ the minimal geodesic from x_1 to x_2 . Consider the subset I of [0,1] such that $\frac{d}{dt}u(\gamma(t)) \ge 0$. By the gradient comparison estimate (4.28), Lemma 4.18 and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality (1.2), we have

$$d_F \geq \int_0^1 F^0(\dot{\gamma}(t))dt \geq \int_I F^0(\dot{\gamma}(t))dt$$

$$\geq \int_0^1 \frac{1}{F(\nabla u)} \langle \nabla u, \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle dt = \int_{-1}^k \frac{1}{F(\nabla u)} du$$

$$\geq \int_{-1}^k \frac{1}{v'(v^{-1}(u))} du = \int_a^{b(a)} dt = \delta(a) \geq \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda_1}},$$

which leads to

$$\lambda_1 \ge \frac{\pi^2}{d_F^2}.$$

We are remained to prove the equality case. The idea of proof follows from [HaWa07]. Here we need to pay more attention on the points with vanishing ∇u .

Assume that $\lambda_1 = \frac{\pi^2}{d_F^2}$. It can be easily seen from the proof of Theorem 4.10 that $a = \infty$, which leads to max $u = \max v = 1$ by Lemma 4.18. We will prove that Ω is in fact a segment in \mathbb{R} . We divide the proof into several steps.

Step 1: $S := \{x \in \overline{\Omega} | u(x) = \pm 1\} \subset \partial \Omega.$

Let $\mathcal{P} = F(\nabla u)^2 + \lambda_1 u^2$. After a simple calculation by using Bochner formula (2.7) and Kato inequality (4.25), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}a_{ij}\mathcal{P}_{ij} = a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} - \frac{1}{2}a_{ijl}u_{ij}\mathcal{P}_l - \lambda_1^2 u^2$$

$$\geq a_{ij}F_kF_lu_{ik}u_{jl} - \frac{1}{2}a_{ijl}u_{ij}\mathcal{P}_l - \lambda_1^2 u^2$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}a_{ijl}u_{ij}\mathcal{P}_l + \frac{1}{4F^2}(a_{ij}\mathcal{P}_i\mathcal{P}_j - 4\lambda_1 u u_i\mathcal{P}_i) \text{ on } \Omega \setminus \mathcal{C}.$$

Namely,

$$\frac{1}{2}a_{ij}\mathcal{P}_{ij} + b_i\mathcal{P}_i \ge 0 \text{ on } \Omega \setminus \mathcal{C}$$
(4.43)

for some $b_i \in C^0(\Omega)$. If \mathcal{P} attains its maximum on $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$, then arguing as in Theorem 4.15, we have that $\nabla \mathcal{P}(x_0) = 0$. However, from the Hopf Theorem, $\nabla \mathcal{P}(x_0) \neq 0$, a contradiction. Hence \mathcal{P} attains its maximum at \mathcal{C} , and therefore,

$$\mathcal{P} \le \lambda_1. \tag{4.44}$$

Take any two points $x_1, x_2 \in S$ with $u(x_1) = -1, u(x_2) = 1$. Let

$$\gamma(t) = \left(1 - \frac{t}{F^0(x_2 - x_1)}\right) x_1 + \frac{t}{F^0(x_2 - x_1)} x_2 : [0, l] \to \overline{\Omega}$$

be the straight line from x_1 to x_2 , where $l := F^0(x_2 - x_1)$ is the distance from x_1 to x_2 with respect to F. Denote $f(t) := u(\gamma(t))$. It is easy to see $F^0(\dot{\gamma}(t)) = 1$. It follows from (4.44) and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality (1.2) that

$$|f'(t)| = |\nabla u(\gamma(t)) \cdot \dot{\gamma}(t)| \le F(\nabla u)(\gamma(t)) \le \sqrt{\lambda_1(1 - f(t)^2)}.$$
(4.45)

Here we have used the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality (1.2) again. Hence

$$d_F \ge l \ge \int_{\{0 \le t \le l, f'(t) > 0\}} dt \ge \int_0^l \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_1}} \frac{f'(t)}{\sqrt{1 - f(t)^2}} dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_1}} \int_{-1}^1 \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - x^2}} dx = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda_1}}.$$
(4.46)

Since $d_F = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda_1}}$, we must have $d_F = l$, which means $S \subset \partial \Omega$.

Step 2: $\mathcal{P} = F^2(\nabla u) + \lambda_1 u^2 \equiv \lambda_1$ in $\overline{\Omega}$, hence $\underline{S} \equiv \mathcal{C}$.

Indeed, from Step 1, we know that $\Omega^* := \overline{\Omega} \setminus S$ is connected. Let $E := \{x \in \Omega^* : \mathcal{P} = \lambda_1\}$. It is clear that E is closed. In view of (4.43), thanks to the strong maximum principle we know that E is also open. we now show that E is nonempty. Indeed, from the fact that all inequalities in (4.45) and (4.46) are equality, we obtain $f(t) = u(\gamma(t)) = -\cos \sqrt{\lambda_1 t}$ for $t \in (0, l)$. Hence

$$\mathcal{P}(\gamma(t)) = f'(t)^2 + \lambda_1 f(t)^2 = \lambda_1.$$

Thus *E* is nonempty, open, closed in Ω^* . Therefore, we obtain $\mathcal{P} \equiv \lambda_1$ in $\overline{\Omega}$ (for $x \in S, \mathcal{P} = \lambda_1$ is obvious).

Step 3: Define $X = \frac{\nabla u}{F(\nabla u)}$ in Ω^* and X^* the cotangent vector given by $X^*(Y) = \langle X, Y \rangle$ for any tangent vector Y. Then in Ω^* , we claim that

$$D^2 u = -\lambda_1 u X^* \otimes X^*, \tag{4.47}$$

and moreover $X = \overrightarrow{c}$ for some constant vector \overrightarrow{c} .

First, taking derivative of $F^2(\nabla u) + \lambda_1 u^2 \equiv \lambda_1$ gives

$$F_i F_j u_{ij} = -\lambda_1 u. \tag{4.48}$$

On the other hand, since $\mathcal{P} \equiv \lambda_1$, the proof of (4.43) leads to

$$a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} = \lambda_1^2 u^2 = (F_i F_j u_{ij})^2.$$
(4.49)

(4.49) in fact gives that

$$F_{ij}F_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} = 0. (4.50)$$

Set $X^{\perp} := \{V \in \mathbb{R}^n | V \perp X\}$. X^{\perp} is an (n-1)-dim vector subspace. Note that (F_{ij}) is exactly matrix of rank n-1 (see the proof of Lemma 4.13) and $F_{ij}X^j = 0$. It follows from this fact and (4.50) that

$$u_{ij}V^iV^j = 0 \text{ for any } V \in X^\perp.$$

$$(4.51)$$

(4.48) and (4.51) imply (4.47), which in turn implies

$$u_{ij} = \frac{-\lambda_1 u u_i u_j}{F^2(\nabla u)}.\tag{4.52}$$

By differentiating X, we obtain from (4.52) that

$$\nabla_i X^j = \frac{u_{ij}}{F(\nabla u)} - \frac{u_j}{F^2(\nabla u)} F_k u_{ki} = 0.$$

Thus $X = \overrightarrow{c}$ in Ω^* .

Step 4: The maximum point and the minimum point are unique.

We already knew that $f(t) = u(\gamma(t)) = -\cos\sqrt{\lambda_1}t$ and $\nabla u(\gamma(t)) \neq 0$ for $t \in (0, l)$. Hence u is C^2 along $\gamma(t)$ for $t \in (0, l)$ and it follows that

$$D^{2}u\left(\dot{\gamma}(t),\dot{\gamma}(t)\right)\Big|_{\gamma(t)} = \lambda_{1}\cos t \text{ for any } t \in (0,l).$$

$$(4.53)$$

On the other hand, we deduce from (4.47) that

$$D^{2}u\left(\dot{\gamma}(t),\dot{\gamma}(t)\right)\Big|_{\gamma(t)} = -\lambda_{1}u(\gamma(t))\langle X,\dot{\gamma}(t)\rangle^{2}.$$
(4.54)

Combining (4.53) and (4.54), taking $t \to 0$, we get

$$|\langle X, \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle| = 1 = F(X)F^0(\dot{\gamma}(t)),$$

which means equality in Cauchy-Schwarz inequality (1.2) holds. Hence $X = \pm F_{\xi}^{0}(\dot{\gamma}(t))$. Noting that $\dot{\gamma}(t) = \frac{x_2 - x_1}{F^{0}(x_2 - x_1)}$, we have

$$X = F_{\xi}^0(x_2 - x_1).$$

Suppose there is some point x_3 with $u(x_3) = 1$, using the same argument, we obtain $X = F_{\xi}^0(x_3 - x_1)$. In view of $F^0(x_3 - x_1) = F^0(x_2 - x_1)$, we conclude $x_3 = x_2$. Therefore, there is only one maximum point as well as one minimum point.

Step 5: Ω is a segment in \mathbb{R} .

Suppose $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ for $n \geq 2$. We see from Step 4 that for most of points of $\partial \Omega$, $\nabla u \neq 0$, and at these points $X = \frac{\nabla u}{F(\nabla u)}$ lies in the tangent spaces due to the Neumann boundary condition, which is impossible because X is a constant vector, a contradiction. We complete the proof.

4.3 Estimate for the first Dirichlet eigenvalue

In this section we will prove a rough lower bound of the first Dirichlet eigenvalue, by using Li-Yau's method of gradient estimates.

Theorem 4.19. Let Ω be a smooth bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n and $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ be a norm on \mathbb{R}^n . Assume that λ_1^D are the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of the anisotropic Laplacian. Assume further that $\partial\Omega$ is weakly F-mean convex (see section 1.3). Then λ_1^N satisfies

$$\lambda_1^D \ge \frac{\pi^2}{4i_F^2}.\tag{4.55}$$

In the theorem, i_F is the *inscribed radius* of Ω with respect to the norm F on \mathbb{R}^n , which is defined as the radius r of the biggest Wulff ball $\mathcal{W}_r(x)$ that can be enclosed in $\overline{\Omega}$.

As before, for simplicity, we write λ_1 instead of λ_1^D through this section.

It is clear that the existence of first Dirichlet eigenfunction can be easily proved by using the direct method in the calculus of variations. Moreover, we may assume u is non-negative. It was proved in [KaNo08] that u is positive. By multiplying uby a constant, we can also assume that $\sup_{\Omega} u = 1$ and $\inf_{\Omega} u = 0$ without loss of generality.

For any $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\alpha > 0, \beta^2 > \sup(\alpha + u)^2$, consider function

$$P(x) = \frac{F^2(\nabla u)}{2(\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2)}$$

Suppose that P(x) attains its maximum at $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$.

With the assumption that Ω is weakly *F*-mean convex, we first exclude the possibility $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ with $\nabla u(x_0) \neq 0$. Indeed, suppose we have $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ with $\nabla u(x_0) \neq 0$. Define $\nu_F := F_{\xi}(\nu)$ on $\partial \Omega = \{x \in \overline{\Omega} | u(x) = 0\}$. In view of $\langle \nu_F, \nu \rangle = F(\nu) > 0$, ν_F must point outward. From the Dirichlet boundary condition, we know $\nu = -\frac{\nabla u}{|\nabla u|}$ for $\nabla u \neq 0$. Hence $\nu_F = -F_{\xi}(\nabla u)$. Since *P* attains maximum at x_0 , we have

$$0 \leq \frac{\partial P}{\partial \nu_F}(x_0) = \frac{FF_i u_{ij} \nu_F^j}{\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2} + F^2 \frac{\alpha \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F}}{(\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2)^2}$$

Hence

$$-\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu_F^2} + \frac{F \alpha \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F}}{\beta^2 - \alpha^2} \ge 0.$$

Note that $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_F} = -F(\nabla u)$. Since $\partial \Omega$ itself is a level set of u, we can apply Theorem 1.11 to obtain

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu_F^2} = Qu + FH_F$$

In view of $Qu(x_0) = -\lambda_1 u(x_0) = 0$, we obtain that

$$-FH_F - F^2 \frac{\alpha}{\beta^2 - \alpha^2} \ge 0.$$

This contradicts the fact that $H_F(\partial \Omega) \ge 0$.

On the other hand, if $\nabla u(x_0) = 0$, then $F(\nabla u)(x_0) = 0$ and $P(x_0) = 0$ which implies $F(\nabla u) = 0$, i.e., u is constant, a contradiction.

Therefore we may assume $x_0 \in \Omega$ and $\nabla u(x_0) \neq 0$. Since a_{ij} is positively definite on $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \mathcal{C}$, where $\mathcal{C} := \{x | \nabla u(x) = 0\}$, it follows from the maximum principle that

$$P_i(x_0) = 0, (4.56)$$

$$a_{ij}(x_0)P_{ij}(x_0) \le 0. \tag{4.57}$$

From now on we will compute at the point x_0 . Equality (4.56) gives

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(\frac{1}{2} F^2(\nabla u) \right) = -\frac{F^2(\nabla u)(\alpha + u)u_i}{\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2}.$$
(4.58)

Then we compute $a_{ij}(x_0)P_{ij}(x_0)$.

$$a_{ij}(x_0)P_{ij}(x_0) = \frac{1}{\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2} a_{ij} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} \left(\frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u)\right) + 2a_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(\frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u)\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left(\frac{1}{\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2}\right) + a_{ij} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} \left(\frac{1}{\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2}\right) \frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u) = I + II + III.$$

By using (4.58), (4.32), Bochner formula (2.7) and equation (0.3), we obtain

$$I = \frac{1}{\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2} \left[a_{ij} a_{kl} u_{ik} u_{jl} - \lambda_1 F^2 \right], \qquad (4.59)$$

$$II = -\frac{4F^4(\alpha+u)^2}{(\beta^2 - (\alpha+u)^2)^3},$$
(4.60)

$$III = \frac{F^4}{(\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2)^2} + \frac{4F^4(\alpha + u)^2}{(\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2)^3} - \frac{\lambda_1 F^2 u(\alpha + u)}{(\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2)^2}.$$
 (4.61)

We now apply Lemma 4.11 to (4.59) and obtain

$$\begin{aligned} a_{ij}a_{kl}u_{ik}u_{jl} &\geq a_{ij}F_kF_lu_{ik}u_{jl} \\ &= \frac{1}{F^2}a_{ij}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}\left(\frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u)\right)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}\left(\frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u)\right) \\ &= \frac{F^4(\alpha+u)^2}{(\beta^2-(\alpha+u)^2)^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Here we have used (4.58) and (4.32) again in the last equality. Therefore, we have

$$I \ge \frac{F^4(\alpha+u)^2}{(\beta^2 - (\alpha+u)^2)^3} - \frac{\lambda_1 F^2}{\beta^2 - (\alpha+u)^2}.$$
(4.62)

Combining (4.57), (4.60), (4.61) and (4.62), we obtain

$$0 \ge a_{ij}P_{ij} \ge \frac{F^4\beta^2}{(\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2)^3} - \frac{\lambda_1 F^2}{\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2} - \frac{\lambda_1 F^2 u(\alpha + u)}{(\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2)^2}.$$

It follows that

$$\frac{F^2(\nabla u)}{\beta^2 - (\alpha + u)^2}(x_0) \le \frac{\lambda_1}{\beta^2}(\beta^2 - \alpha(\alpha + u)).$$
(4.63)

Noting that $\sup_{\Omega} u = 1$ we choose $\alpha > 0$ and $\beta = \alpha + 1$. Then estimate (4.63) becomes

$$\frac{F^2(\nabla u)}{(\alpha+1)^2 - (\alpha+u)^2}(x_0) \le \lambda_1 \left(1 - \frac{\alpha(\alpha+u)}{(\alpha+1)^2}\right) \le \lambda_1.$$

Hence we conclude, for any $x \in \overline{\Omega}$,

$$\frac{F^2(\nabla u)}{(\alpha+1)^2 - (\alpha+u)^2} \le \lambda_1.$$
(4.64)

Choose $x_1 \in \Omega$ with $u(x_1) = \sup u = 1$ and $x_2 \in \partial \Omega$ with $d_F(x_1, x_2) = d_F(x_1, \partial \Omega) \leq i_F$ and $\gamma(t) : [0, 1] \to \overline{\Omega}$ the minimal geodesic connected x_1 with x_2 . Using the gradient estimates (4.64), we have

$$\frac{\pi}{2} - \arcsin(\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}) = \int_0^1 \frac{1}{\sqrt{(\alpha+1)^2 - (\alpha+u)^2}} du \le \sqrt{\lambda_1} \int_0^1 \frac{1}{F(\nabla u)} du$$
$$\le \sqrt{\lambda_1} \int_0^1 \frac{1}{F(\nabla u(\gamma(t)))} \langle \nabla u(\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle dt$$
$$\le \sqrt{\lambda_1} \int_0^1 F^0(\dot{\gamma}(t)) dt \le \sqrt{\lambda_1} i_F.$$

Here we have used the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality (1.2). Letting $\alpha \to 0$, we obtain

$$\lambda_1 \ge \frac{\pi^2}{4i_F^2}.$$

Thus we finish the proof of Theorem 4.19.

Chapter 5

Anisotropic Liouville equations in two dimensions

In this chapter we will study the blow-up analysis for anisotropic Liouville equations

$$-Qu = V(x)e^u,$$

and

$$-Qu = \lambda \frac{e^u}{\int_\Omega e^u}.$$

Thoughout this chapter, we assume that the norm $F \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and F^2 is strongly convex in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$.

5.1 A sharp Moser-Trudinger type inequality

Theorem 5.1. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \geq 2$. Let $u \in W_0^{1,n}(\Omega)$ and $\int_{\Omega} F(\nabla u)^n dx \leq 1$. Then there exists a constant C(n), such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \exp[\lambda u^{\frac{n}{n-1}}] dx \le C(n) |\Omega|, \tag{5.1}$$

where $\lambda \leq \lambda_n = n^{\frac{n}{n-1}} \kappa_n^{\frac{1}{n-1}}$. λ_n is optimal in the sense that if $\lambda > \lambda_n$ we can find a sequence (u_k) such that $\int_{\Omega} exp[\lambda u_k^{\frac{n}{n-1}}] dx$ diverges.

Proof. As Moser did in [Mo71], we use the convex symmetrization to reduce the problem to one dimensional case. Set $F^0(x) = r(t) = Re^{-\frac{t}{n}}$, $w(t) = n\kappa_n^{\frac{1}{n}}u^*(x)$. Here R > 0 is the constant such that $|\Omega| = \kappa_n R^n$. It is easy to verify that

$$\int_{\Omega^{\star}} F(\nabla u^{\star})^n dx = \int_0^\infty w'(t)^n dt$$

$$\int_{\Omega^{\star}} \exp[\lambda u^{\star}(x)^{p}] dx = \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp[\beta w(t)^{\frac{n}{n-1}} - t] dt,$$

where $\beta = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda_n}$. In views of (1.13), it suffices to prove: If w(t) is a C^1 function on $0 \le t \le \infty$ satisfying

$$w(0) = 0, w'(t) \ge 0, \int_0^\infty w'(t)^n dt \le 1,$$

then

$$\int_0^\infty \exp[\beta w(t)^{\frac{n}{n-1}} - t] dt \le C, \text{ provided } \beta \le 1.$$

For $\beta > 1$, the integral $\int_0^\infty \exp[\beta w(t)^{\frac{n}{n-1}} - t] dt$ can be made arbitrarily large. This was proved in [Mo71].

A direct consequence of Theorem 5.1 is a slightly weaker, but more applicable form in two dimensions.

Corollary 5.2. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and $u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$. Define the anisotropic Moser-Trudinger functional $J_{\lambda}: W_0^{1,2}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$J_{\lambda}(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} F(\nabla u)^2 - \lambda \log \int_{\Omega} e^u.$$

Then J_{λ} has a lower bound if and only if $\lambda \leq 8\kappa$.

Proof. The "if" part follows directly from Theorem 5.1. For $\lambda > 8\kappa$, assume that Ω contains a Wulff ball \mathcal{W}_{ϵ} for some small $\epsilon > 0$. We construct the following functions in $W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$,

$$u_a(x) = \begin{cases} -2\log\frac{1+\kappa a\epsilon^2}{1+\kappa aF^0(x)^2} & \text{in} \quad \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon} \\ 0 & \text{in} \quad \Omega \setminus \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon} \end{cases}$$

A direct computation gives

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} F(\nabla u_a)^2 = 8\kappa \log a + O(1),$$
$$\log \int_{\Omega} e^{u_a} = \log a + O(1).$$

Hence

$$\lim_{a \to \infty} J_{\lambda}(u_a) = \lim_{a \to \infty} (8\kappa - \lambda) \log a = -\infty,$$

which means that J_{λ} has no lower bound when $\lambda > 8\kappa$.

77

5.2 Brezis-Merle type concentration-compactness phenomena

In this section we first use a level set method as in [ReWe95] to generalize a Brezis-Merle inequality for the anisotropic operator Q. For simplicity, we write κ instead of κ_2 .

Theorem 5.3. Assume $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is a bounded domain and let u be a weak solution of

$$\begin{cases} -Qu = f(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

where $f \in L^1(\Omega)$. Then for every $\delta \in (0, 4\kappa)$ we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \exp\left[\frac{(4\kappa - \delta)}{\|f\|_{L^1}} |u(x)|\right] dx \le \frac{4\kappa}{\delta} |\Omega|, \tag{5.3}$$

where $|\Omega|$ denotes the volume of Ω .

Proof. Consider the unique solution v of the symmetrized Dirichlet problem (1.38). It follows from Theorem 1.16 that

$$u^{\star} \leq v \text{ in } \Omega^{\star}.$$

It is clear that $v(x) = v(F^0(x))$ is symmetric with respect to F, and satisfies the following ODE:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{r} \left(-rv'(r) \right)' = f^{*}(x) \\ v(R) = 0, \quad v'(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$

where $r = F^0(x)$, R > 0 is the constant such that $|\Omega| = \kappa R^2$. Therefore

$$-v'(r) = \frac{1}{r} \int_0^r t f^*(\kappa t^2) dt \le \frac{1}{2\kappa r} \|f^*\|_{L^1(\Omega^*)} = \frac{1}{2\kappa r} \|f\|_{L^1(\Omega)},$$

where we used that

$$\int_{\Omega^{\star}} f^{\star}(x) dx = \int_{0}^{R} 2\kappa t f^{*}(\kappa t^{2}) dt,$$

which follows from the coarea formula with respect to F^0 . It then follows that

$$v(r) = -\int_{r}^{R} v'(t)dt \le \int_{r}^{R} \frac{1}{2\kappa t} \|f\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} dt = \frac{\|f\|_{L^{1}}}{2\kappa} \log \frac{R}{r}.$$

Hence we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \exp\left[\frac{2\kappa(2-\epsilon)|u(x)|}{\|f\|_{L^{1}}}\right] dx = \int_{\Omega^{\star}} \exp\left[\frac{2\kappa(2-\epsilon)u^{\star}(x)}{\|f\|_{L^{1}}}\right] dx$$
$$\leq \int_{\Omega^{\star}} \exp\left[\frac{2\kappa(2-\epsilon)v}{\|f\|_{L^{1}}}\right] dx$$
$$\leq \int_{0}^{R} 2\kappa r \exp\left[(2-\epsilon)\log\frac{R}{r}\right] dr = \frac{2\kappa}{\epsilon}R^{2} = \frac{2}{\epsilon}|\Omega|.$$
Let $\delta = 2\kappa\epsilon$, we obtain (5.3).

Let $\delta = 2\kappa\epsilon$, we obtain (5.3).

Corollary 5.4. Let u be a solution of (5.2) with $f \in L^1(\Omega)$. Then for every constant k > 0, we have $\exp(k|u|) \in L^1(\Omega)$.

Proof. for any $\epsilon > 0$, we split f as $f = f_1 + f_2$ with $||f_1||_{L^1(\Omega)} < \epsilon$ and $f_2 \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Let u_1 be the solution of

$$\begin{cases} -Qu_1 &= f(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ u_1 &= 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

We know from Theorem 5.3 that $\int_{\Omega} \exp\left[\frac{|u_1|}{\|f_1\|_{L^1}}\right] < \infty$ and thus $\int_{\Omega} \exp\left[k|u_1|\right] < \infty$ with $k < 1/\epsilon$. On the other hand, by the mean value Theorem,

$$f_2 = -(Qu - Qu_1) = -\widetilde{Q}(u - u_1)$$

where

$$\widetilde{Q}(u-u_1) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(\frac{1}{2} F_{\xi_i \xi_j}^2 (t \nabla u + (1-t) \nabla u_1) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} (u-u_1) \right).$$

Since $Hess(F^2)$ is positive definite, \widetilde{Q} is also an elliptic operator. From elliptic theory we have $||u - u_1||_{L^{\infty}} \leq C ||f_2||_{L^{\infty}}$. The conclusion easily follows.

Corollary 5.5. Let u be a weak solution of

$$\begin{cases} -Qu = V(x)e^u & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

with $V \in L^p(\Omega)$ and $e^u \in L^{p'}(\Omega)$ for some $1 , <math>p' = \frac{p}{p-1}$. Then $u \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$. *Proof.* The conclusion follows from Corollary 5.4 and the standard elliptic theory for quasilinear equations.

We introduce the following number

$$d_{X,Y} = \frac{\langle F(X)F_{\xi}(X) - F(Y)F_{\xi}(Y), X - Y \rangle}{F^{2}(X - Y)}, d_{0} = \inf\{d_{X,Y} : X, Y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, X \neq 0, Y \neq 0, X \neq Y\}.$$

It is clear that $d_{X,Y} = 1$ if $F(\xi) = |\xi|$. In general one can show that d_0 is bounded from below and above.

Lemma 5.6. $\min\{\frac{\lambda}{b^2}, 1\} \leq d_0 \leq 1$, where λ is the smallest eigenvalue of $Hess(F^2)$. *Proof.* In the case X = tY for some $t \neq 1$, it's easy to see that $d_{X,Y} = 1$. In other case, the line between X and Y does not pass through 0, hence for some $t \in [0, 1]$,

$$d_{X,Y} = \frac{F_{\xi_i\xi_j}^2(tX + (1-t)Y)(X_j - Y_j)(X_i - Y_i)}{F^2(X - Y)} \ge \frac{\lambda |X - Y|^2}{b^2 |X - Y|^2} = \frac{\lambda}{b^2}.$$

We now prove a similar Brezis-Merle inequality which associates the difference of two functions.

Theorem 5.7. Let u and v be the weak solutions of

$$-Qu = f(x) > 0 \text{ in } \Omega \tag{5.4}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} -Qv = 0 & in \ \Omega \\ v = u & on \ \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

respectively. Then for every $\delta \in (0, 4\kappa)$ we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \exp\left[\frac{(4\kappa - \delta)d_0}{\|f\|_{L^1}} |u - v|\right] dx \le \frac{4\kappa}{\delta} |\Omega|.$$
(5.6)

Proof. We follows the level set method in [ReWe95], but in an anisotropic version. Set $\Omega_t = \{x \in \Omega : |u - v| > t\}$ and $\mu(t) = |\Omega_t|$. Making the difference of (5.4) and (5.5), we have

$$-\widetilde{Q}(u-v) = \sum_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} (u-v) \right) = f > 0,$$

where

$$a_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} F_{\xi_i \xi_j}^2 \big(s \nabla u(x) + (1-s) \nabla v(x) \big).$$

for some $s \in [0, 1]$. Since this equation is uniformly elliptic, we may apply Hopf's boundary lemma (See [GT98], Th.9.6) to conclude

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \nu}(u-v) < 0, \quad \nabla u - \nabla v \neq 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega_t.$$

It follows from (5.4) and (5.5) again that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega_t} f(x) dx &= \int_{\Omega_t} -(Qu - Qv) dx \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega_t} \left\langle F(\nabla u) F_{\xi}(\nabla u) - F(\nabla v) F_{\xi}(\nabla v), \frac{\nabla u - \nabla v}{|\nabla u - \nabla v|} \right\rangle \\ &\geq d_0 \int_{\partial\Omega_t} \frac{F^2(\nabla u - \nabla v)}{|\nabla u - \nabla v|}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used Lemma 5.6. By the isoperimetric inequality (1.29), the co-area formula (1.28) and the Hölder inequality, we have

$$2\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}\mu(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq P_{F}(\Omega_{t})$$

$$= -\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\Omega_{t}}F(\nabla u - \nabla v)dx$$

$$= \int_{\partial\Omega_{t}}\frac{F(\nabla u - \nabla v)}{|\nabla u - \nabla v|}$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{\partial\Omega_{t}}\frac{F^{2}(\nabla u - \nabla v)}{|\nabla u - \nabla v|}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\int_{\partial\Omega_{t}}\frac{1}{|\nabla u - \nabla v|}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= \left(\int_{\partial\Omega_{t}}\frac{F^{2}(\nabla u - \nabla v)}{|\nabla u - \nabla v|}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(-\mu'(t)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

The above two estimates give

$$-\mu'(t) \ge \frac{4\kappa d_0 \mu(t)}{\int_{\Omega_t} f(x) dx}$$

and hence

$$-\frac{dt}{d\mu} \ge \frac{\|f\|_{L^1(\Omega)}}{4\kappa d_0 \mu}.$$

Integrating the last inequality over $(\mu, |\Omega|)$, we deduce

$$t(\mu) \leq \frac{\|f\|_{L^1(\Omega)}}{4\kappa d_0} \log\left(\frac{|\Omega|}{\mu}\right),$$
$$\exp\left(\frac{4\kappa(1-\epsilon)d_0t(\mu)}{\|f\|_{L^1(\Omega)}}\right) \leq \left(\frac{|\Omega|}{\mu}\right)^{1-\epsilon}.$$

Using the co-area formula again, we have by integrating above inequality that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \exp\left[\frac{4\kappa(1-\epsilon)d_0}{\|f\|_{L^1}}|u-v|\right] dx &= \int_0^{\infty} \exp\left(\frac{4\kappa(1-\epsilon)d_0t}{\|f\|_{L^1}}\right) \left(-\mu'(t)\right) dt \\ &= \int_0^{|\Omega|} \exp\left(\frac{4\kappa(1-\epsilon)d_0t(\mu)}{\|f\|_{L^1(\Omega)}}\right) d\mu \\ &\leq \frac{|\Omega|}{\epsilon}. \end{split}$$

Letting $\delta = 4\kappa\epsilon$, we get (5.6).

We now consider a sequence (u_n) of weak solutions of (5.7).

Corollary 5.8. Let (u_n) be a sequence of weak solutions of (5.7) with $u_n = 0$ on $\partial \Omega$ with

$$\|V_n\|_{L^p} \le C_1 \text{ for some } 1
$$\int_{\Omega} |V_n| e^{u_n} \le \epsilon_0 < \frac{4\kappa}{p'}.$$$$

Then

 $||u_n||_{L^{\infty}} \le C$

where C only depends on $C_1, |\Omega|$ and ϵ_0 .

Proof. Fix $\delta > 0$ such that $4\kappa - \delta > \epsilon_0(p' + \delta)$. By Theorem 5.3 we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \exp[(p'+\delta)|u_n|] \le C.$$

Therefore e^{u_n} is bounded in $L^{p'+\delta}(\Omega)$ and $V_n e^{u_n}$ is bounded in $L^q(\Omega)$ for some q > 1. The conclusion now follows the standard elliptic theory for quasilinear equations. \Box

Next we give a variant of Corollary 5.8 without a boundary condition.

Corollary 5.9. Let (u_n) be a sequence of weak solutions of (5.7) with

$$V_n \ge 0$$
, $||V_n||_{L^p} \le C_1$ for some $1 ,$

$$\|u_n^+\|_{L^2} \le C_2,$$
$$\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} \le \epsilon_0 < \frac{4\kappa d_0}{p'}$$

Then u_n^+ is bounded in $L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega)$.

Proof. Consider the weak solution v_n of

$$\begin{cases} -Qv_n = 0 & \text{in } B_R \\ v_n = u_n & \text{on } \partial B_R \end{cases}$$

By the weak comparison principle for anisotropic operator (see [Da98]), we have

$$v_n \leq u_n$$
 in B_R

Hence

$$\|v_n^+\|_{L^2(B_R)} \le \|u_n^+\|_{L^2(B_R)} \le C_2.$$

Serrin's local a priori estimates (See [GT98]) implies that

$$||v_n^+||_{L^{\infty}(B_{R/2})} \le C.$$

On the other hand, by our smallness assumption, we obtain from Theorem 5.7 and $v_n^+ \ge v_n$ that

$$\int_{B_R} \exp\left[\frac{(4\kappa - \delta)d_0}{\epsilon_0}(u_n - v_n^+)\right] dx \le \int_{B_R} \exp\left[\frac{(4\kappa - \delta)d_0}{\|V_n e^{u_n}\|_{L^1}}(u_n - v_n)\right] dx \le \frac{4\kappa}{\delta}|B_R|.$$

Combining this with the boundedness of v_n^+ in $L^{\infty}(B_{R/2})$, we obtain

$$\int_{B_{R/2}} \exp\left[\frac{(4\kappa - \delta)d_0}{\epsilon_0}u_n\right] dx \le C.$$

Choosing δ such that $\frac{(4\kappa-\delta)d_0}{\epsilon_0} \geq p'+\delta$, we deduce that e^{u_n} is bounded in $L^{p'+\delta}(B_{R/2})$ and $V_n e^{u_n}$ is bounded in $L^q(B_{R/2})$ for some q > 1. By Serrin's local a priori estimates again, we have

$$||u_n^+||_{L^{\infty}(B_{R/4})} \le C ||u_n^+||_{L^2(B_{R/2})} \le C.$$

Now we are ready to prove the following Brezis-Merle type compactness-concentration result.

Theorem 5.10. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and (u_n) be a sequence of weak solutions of

$$-Qu_n = V_n(x)e^{u_n} \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (5.7)$$

with

$$V_n \ge 0, \quad ||V_n||_{L^p} \le C_1 \text{ for some } 1 $||e^{u_n}||_{L^{p'}} \le C_2.$$$

Define the blow-up set as follows:

$$S = \{x \in \Omega : \exists x_n \in \Omega \text{ such that } x_n \to x \text{ and } u_n(x_n) \to +\infty\}.$$

Then, one of the following possibilities happens (after taking subsequences):

- (i) u_n is bounded in $L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega)$;
- (ii) $u_n \to -\infty$ uniformly on any compact subsets of Ω ;
- (iii) $S = \{p_1, \dots, p_m\}$ is a finite, nonempty set, and $u_n \to -\infty$ uniformly on any compact subset of $\Omega \setminus S$. In addition, $V_n e^{u_n} \rightharpoonup \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \delta_{p_i}$ in the sense of measures on Ω with $\alpha_i \geq \frac{4\kappa}{p'}$ for any *i*.

Proof of Theorem 5.10. Since $V_n e^{u_n}$ is bounded in $L^1(\Omega)$, we may assume that there exists a nonnegative bounded measure μ such that for a subsequence (still denote by $V_n e^{u_n}$),

$$\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} \psi \to \int_{\Omega} \psi d\mu$$

for every $\psi \in C_c(\Omega)$. As in [BM91], [JoWa01], we say that a point $x \in \Omega$ is a γ -regular point if for some $\gamma > 0$, there exists a function $\psi \in C_c(\Omega)$, $0 \le \psi \le 1$, with $\psi = 1$ in a neighborhood of x such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi d\mu < \gamma$$

We define

$$\Sigma(\gamma) = \{ x \in \Omega : x \text{ is not a } \gamma - \text{regular point} \}.$$

It is easy to see that if $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2$, then $\Sigma(\gamma_1) \supset \Sigma(\gamma_2)$. We also have that

$$x \in \Sigma(\gamma) \Leftrightarrow \mu(\{x\}) \ge \gamma.$$

Since μ is a bounded measure, it follows that $\Sigma(\gamma)$ is finite for any positive γ .

We split our proof by four steps.

2

Step 1. If x_0 is a $\frac{4\kappa}{p'}$ -regular point, i.e. $x_0 \in \Omega \setminus \Sigma(4\kappa/p')$, then there exists some $R_0 > 0$ such that u_n^+ is bounded in $L^{\infty}(B_{R_0}(x_0))$. In fact, by Lemma 5.6, $d_0 \leq 1$, there are only two cases:

(i)
$$x_0 \in \Omega \setminus \Sigma(4\kappa d_0/p');$$

(ii) $x_0 \in \Sigma(4\kappa d_0/p') \setminus \Sigma(4\kappa/p').$

For the first case, the conclusion follows immediately from Corollary 5.9. We now focus on the second case.

Since $\Sigma(4\kappa d_0/p')$ is finite, we can choose some R > 0 small enough such that x_0 is the only point of $\Sigma(4\kappa d_0/p')$ in $\overline{B_R(x_0)}$. Hence any points on $\partial B_R(x_0)$ belong to $\Omega \setminus \Sigma(4\kappa d_0/p')$. From the conclusion for case (i) and the compactness of $\partial B_R(x_0)$, we see that u_n^+ is bounded in $L^{\infty}(\partial B_R(x_0))$, say by C_0 .

Let w_n be the weak solution of

$$\begin{cases}
-Qw_n = V_n e^{u_n} \ge 0 & \text{in } B_R(x_0) \\
w_n = C_0 \ge u_n & \text{on } \partial B_R(x_0),
\end{cases}$$

The comparison principle implies that

$$w_n \ge u_n \text{ a.e. in } B_R(x_0). \tag{5.8}$$

On the other hand, it follows from Theorem 5.3 that for any $\delta \in (0, 4\kappa)$

$$\int_{B_R(x_0)} \exp\left[\frac{(4\kappa - \delta)}{\|V_n e^{u_n}\|_{L^1(B_R(x_0))}} |w_n - C_0|\right] dx \le \frac{4\kappa}{\delta} |B_R(x_0)| = \frac{4\kappa\pi R^2}{\delta}.$$
 (5.9)

Since $x_0 \notin \Sigma(4\kappa/p')$ and R can be as small as we need, by the definition of γ -regular point, there exists $R_1 > R$ such that for n big enough and some small $\delta_0 > 0$,

$$\int_{B_{R_1}(x_0)} V_n e^{u_n} dx < \frac{4\kappa - \delta_0}{p'}$$

We now choose $\delta < \delta_0$ small such that for some $\epsilon_0 > 0$

$$p' + \epsilon_0 < \frac{4\kappa - \delta}{\|V_n e^{u_n}\|_{L^1(B_R(x_0))}}$$

Therefore by (5.8) and (5.9), we know that u_n^+ is bounded in $L^{p'+\epsilon_0}(B_R(x_0))$ and $V_n e^{u_n}$ is bounded in $L^q(B_R(x_0))$ for some q > 1. By Serrin's local a priori estimates again, we have for $R_0 = R/2$,

$$||u_n^+||_{L^{\infty}(B_{R_0})} \le C ||u_n^+||_{L^2(B_R)} \le C.$$

Here $||u_n^+||_{L^2(B_R)}$ is bounded from above since e^{u_n} is bounded in $L^{p'}(\Omega)$. We complete Step 1.

Step 2. $S = \Sigma(\gamma)$ provided $\gamma < \frac{4\kappa}{p'}$. The proof follows from the same argument in [BM91] since we established the crucial claim in Step 1. It is interesting to see that $\Sigma(\gamma)$ is independent of γ if $\gamma < \frac{4\kappa}{p'}$ and hence the set $\Sigma(4\kappa d_0/p') \setminus \Sigma(4\kappa/p')$ is in fact empty.

Step 3. $S = \emptyset$ implies (i) or (ii) holds. $S = \emptyset$ means that u_n is bounded in $L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega)$. Thus, e^{u_n} is bounded in $L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$, which implies that $\mu \in L^1(\Omega) \bigcap L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$. Let v_n be the weak solution of

$$\begin{cases} -Qv_n = V_n e^{u_n} & \text{in } \Omega\\ v_n = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.10)

Clearly, $v_n \to v$ uniformly on every compact subset of Ω , where v is the weak solution of

$$\begin{cases} -Qv = \mu & \text{in } \Omega \\ v = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

Let $z_n = u_n - v_n$. Then $-\widetilde{Q}z_n = 0$ in Ω and z_n is also bounded in $L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega)$. Here $\widetilde{Q}z_n$ is defined as in Corollary 5.4 by mean value Theorem. Applying the Harnack inequality for the uniformly elliptic operator \widetilde{Q} , we have (i) or (ii) as in [BM91].

Step 4. $S \neq \emptyset$ implies (iii) holds. As in step 3, we know that either

- u_n is bounded on any compact subset of $\Omega \setminus S$, or
- $u_n \to -\infty$ on any compact subset of $\Omega \setminus S$.

In view of step 2, $S \neq \emptyset$ implies that $\int_{B_{\delta}(x)} V_n e^{u_n} dx \ge \frac{4\kappa}{p'}$ for any $x \in S$ and any small $\delta > 0$. Now we can follow the argument in [BM91] to exclude the first possibility. The only difference is that we use the Green function of Q in $\mathcal{W}_R(x_0)$ instead of that of the ordinary Laplacian in a ball, namely, the function $G(x) = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \log \frac{R}{F^0(x-x_0)}$. Combining step 3 and step 4, we complete the proof of Theorem 5.10.

Under an extra boundary condition, we can determine α_i .

Theorem 5.11. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and (u_n) be a sequence of weak solutions of (5.7) with

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{u_n} \le C.$$

 (V_n) is a sequence of Lipschitz continuous functions satisfying

$$V_n \ge 0, \quad V_n \to V \text{ uniformly in } C^0(\overline{\Omega}), \|\nabla V_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le C,$$
 (5.11)

In addition, we assume that

$$\max_{\partial\Omega} u_n - \min_{\partial\Omega} u_n \le C. \tag{5.12}$$

Then if blow-up happens only at one point ((iii) in Theorem 5.10), the blow-up value $\alpha = 8\kappa$.

Proof of Theorem 5.11: Without loss of generality, we assume that u_n blow up at 0. Let v_n be the weak solution of (5.10) and $w_n = u_n - \min_{\partial \Omega} u_n - v_n$. It's easy to see

$$\begin{cases} -\bar{Q}w_n = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ w_n = u_n - \min_{\partial \Omega} u_n, & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

From (5.12) and standard theory for quasilinear uniform elliptic equations, we have

$$\|w_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le \|w_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega)} \le C \text{ and } \|\nabla w_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le C.$$
(5.13)

Choosing subsequence if necessary, we may assume $w_n \to w$ uniformly in $C^0(\overline{\Omega}) \cap C^1_{loc}(\Omega)$. Set $W_n = V_n \exp\{w_n + \min_{\partial \Omega} u_n\}$. Now we have

$$-Qv_n = V_n e^{u_n} = W_n e^{v_n}.$$
 (5.14)

We claim that

$$\|\nabla \log W_n\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_0})} \le C$$

for some small $r_0 > 0$. In fact, since $\nabla \log W_n = \nabla \log V_n + \nabla w_n$, in view of (5.11) and (5.13), it suffices to prove that V_n have a uniformly positive lower bound near the origin. Let $x_n \to 0$, $u_n(x_n) = \max_{\overline{\Omega}} u_n \to \infty$. Set $\delta_n = \exp\{-u_n(x_n)/2\}$ and $\widetilde{u_n}(x) = u_n(\delta_n x + x_n) + 2\log \delta_n$. It's easy to see that $\widetilde{u_n} \to \widetilde{u}$ locally in $C^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$, where \widetilde{u} is a solution of

$$\begin{cases}
-Q\widetilde{u} = V(0)e^{\widetilde{u}}, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2, \\
\widetilde{u}(0) = 0, \\
\widetilde{u} \leq 0, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2, \\
\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{\widetilde{u}} < \infty.
\end{cases}$$

If V(0) = 0, then \tilde{u} must be a constant by Liouville type Theorem, which contradicts $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{\tilde{u}} < \infty$. Thus we have V(0) > 0, which implies the positive lower bound for V_n near the origin. We have proved the claim.

From (iii) of Theorem 5.10 we know that

$$\int_{\Omega} -Qv_n\phi = \int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n}\phi \to \alpha\phi(0),$$

for any $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$.

For any 1 < q < 2, let $p = \frac{q}{q-1} > 2$. From (1.1) and Proposition 1.2, (iii), we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla v_n\|_{L^q(\Omega)} &\leq \sup\{\int_{\Omega} \nabla v_n \nabla \phi : \|\phi\|_{W_0^{1,p}} = 1\} \\ &\leq C \sup\{\int_{\Omega} F(\nabla v_n) F_{\xi}(\nabla v_n) \nabla \phi : \|\phi\|_{W_0^{1,p}} = 1\}. \end{aligned}$$

By the Sobolev embedding, $\|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leq C$. Hence

$$\int_{\Omega} F(\nabla v_n) F_{\xi}(\nabla v_n) \nabla \phi = \int_{\Omega} -Q v_n \phi \le \|V_n e^{u_n}\|_{L^1} \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C.$$

Therefore $\|\nabla v_n\|_{L^q} \leq C$ for any 1 < q < 2.

By Theorem 3.4, we have a unique Green function of

$$\begin{cases} -QG(\cdot,0) = \alpha\delta_0 & \text{in }\Omega\\ G(\cdot,0) = 0 & \text{on }\partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

and G has a decomposition

$$G(x) = -\frac{\alpha}{2\kappa} \log F^0(x) + g(x), \qquad (5.15)$$

where $g(x) \in C^0(\Omega)$ with

$$\lim_{x \to 0} g(x) \text{ exists, } \lim_{x \to 0} |x| \nabla g(x) = 0.$$
(5.16)

It follows that $v_n \rightharpoonup G$ weakly in $W^{1,q}(\Omega)$.

On the other hand, since $\int_{\widetilde{\Omega}} V_n e^{u_n} \to 0$ for any $\widetilde{\Omega} \subset \subset \Omega \setminus \{0\}$, from Corollary 5.9, we get $\|v_n^+\|_{L^{\infty}(\widetilde{\Omega})} \leq C$. It follows that $\|v_n^+\|_{C^{1,\beta}(\widetilde{\Omega})} \leq C$ for some $0 < \beta < 1$. Therefore $v_n \to G$ strongly in $C^{1,\beta}(\widetilde{\Omega})$.

Multiplying (5.14) by $\langle x, \nabla v_n \rangle$ and integrating by parts, we obtain the Pohozaev identity:

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} -F(\nabla v_n) \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla v_n), \nu \rangle \langle x, \nabla v_n \rangle + \frac{1}{2} F^2(\nabla v_n) \langle x, \nu \rangle$$
$$= \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} W_n e^{v_n} \langle x, \nu \rangle - \int_{\mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} 2W_n e^{v_n} + \langle x, \nabla \log W_n \rangle W_n e^{v_n}, \qquad (5.17)$$

where $\nu = \frac{\nabla F^0}{|\nabla F^0|}$ is the unit outward normal.

Letting $n \to \infty$, the left hand side of (5.17) converges to

$$I := \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} -F(\nabla G) \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla G), \nu \rangle \langle x, \nabla G \rangle + \frac{1}{2} F^2(\nabla G) \langle x, \nu \rangle.$$
(5.18)

We calculate (5.18). Using (5.15), (5.16) and Lemma 4.11, we have that on $\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}$,

$$F(\nabla G) = F(-\frac{\alpha}{2\kappa} \frac{\nabla F^0}{F^0} + o(\frac{1}{F^0})) = \frac{\alpha}{2\kappa\epsilon} + o(\frac{1}{\epsilon}),$$

$$\begin{split} \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla G), \nu \rangle &= \left\langle F_{\xi}(\nabla G), \frac{\nabla F^{0}}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle F_{\xi}(\nabla G), \left(-\frac{2\kappa}{\alpha}F^{0}\right) \frac{\nabla G - o\left(\frac{1}{F^{0}}\right)}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \right\rangle \\ &= -\frac{2\kappa\epsilon}{\alpha} \left(\frac{F(\nabla G)}{|\nabla F^{0}|} - \frac{o\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon}\right)}{|\nabla F^{0}|}\right) \\ &= -\left(1 + o(1)\right) \frac{1}{|\nabla F^{0}|}, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \langle x, \nabla G \rangle &= \langle x, -\frac{\alpha}{2\kappa} \frac{\nabla F^0}{F^0} + o(\frac{1}{F^0}) \rangle = -\frac{\alpha}{2\kappa} + \langle x, o(\frac{1}{\epsilon}) \rangle \\ &= -\frac{\alpha}{2\kappa} + \langle F^0(x), o(\frac{1}{\epsilon}) \rangle = -\frac{\alpha}{2\kappa} + o(1), \end{aligned}$$

$$\langle x, \nu \rangle = \langle x, \frac{\nabla F^0}{|\nabla F^0|} \rangle = \frac{\epsilon}{|\nabla F^0|}.$$

Substituting these into (5.18), we have

$$\begin{split} I &= \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} \left(\frac{\alpha}{2\kappa\epsilon} + o(\frac{1}{\epsilon}) \right) (1 + o(1)) \left(-\frac{\alpha}{2\kappa} + o(1) \right) \frac{1}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\alpha}{2\kappa\epsilon} + o(\frac{1}{\epsilon}) \right)^{2} \frac{\epsilon}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \\ &= -\left(\frac{\alpha^{2}}{8\kappa^{2}} + o(1) \right) \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}_{\epsilon}} \frac{1}{|\nabla F^{0}|} \\ &= -\frac{\alpha^{2}}{4\kappa} + o(1), \end{split}$$

where $o(1) \to 0$ as $\epsilon \to 0$.

On the other hand, letting $n \to \infty$ and then $\epsilon \to 0$, we easily obtain from $V_n e^{u_n} \rightharpoonup \alpha \delta_0$ and the boundedness of $\nabla \log W_n$ that the RHS of (5.17) converges to -2α . We conclude that $\alpha = 8\kappa$.

5.3 Compactness for vanishing boundary value problem

Consider a sequence of solutions to

$$\begin{cases} -Qu_n = \lambda_n \frac{V_n e^{u_n}}{\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} dx} & \text{in } \Omega \\ u_n = 0 & \text{in } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

We will prove the following compactness result.

Theorem 5.12. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and (u_n) be a sequence of solutions to (5.19) with

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \min_{\Omega} V_n > 0, \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} (\max_{\Omega} V_n + \|\nabla V_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}) < \infty.$$

Suppose, in addition, that

$$0 < \lambda_n \le C, \quad \max_{\Omega} u_n \to +\infty.$$

Then there exists a finite set $S = \{p_1, \cdots, p_m\} \subset \Omega$ such that

$$u_n(x) \to \sum_{i=1}^m 8\kappa G(x, p_i) \text{ in } C^{1,\beta}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus S),$$

$$\lambda_n \frac{V_n e^{u_n}}{\int_\Omega V_n e^{u_n} dx} \to \sum_{i=1}^m 8\kappa \delta_{p_i}$$

in the sense of measures in $\overline{\Omega}$, for some $0 < \beta < 1$. Here $G(x, p_i)$ and δ_{p_i} are the Green function of Q and the Dirac function with singularity p_i respectively. In particular, We have for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\lambda_n \to 8\kappa m.$$

In this section we will frequently use the following notations

$$\max_{\Omega} u_n = u_n(x_n),$$
$$\widetilde{\lambda_n} = \frac{\lambda_n V_n}{\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} dx}, \quad \epsilon_n = \widetilde{\lambda_n}^{-1/2} e^{-u_n(x_n)/2},$$
$$\Omega_n = (\Omega - x_n)/\epsilon_n, \quad \widetilde{u_n} = u_n(\epsilon_n x + x_n) + \log \widetilde{\lambda_n} + 2\log \epsilon_n.$$

First we need some useful lemmas.

As in Section 5.2, for the solution u_n to the problem (5.19), we define the blow-up set and γ -regular point. The blow-up set is defined as

$$\widetilde{S} = \{x \in \overline{\Omega} : \exists x_n \in \Omega \text{ such that } x_n \to x \text{ and } u_n(x_n) \to +\infty\}.$$

Since $\widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n}$ is bounded in $L^1(\Omega)$, we may assume that there exists a nonnegative bounded measure σ such that for a subsequence (still denoted $\widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n}$),

$$\int_{\Omega} \widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n} \psi \to \int_{\Omega} \psi d\sigma$$

for every $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$. We say that a point $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ is a γ -regular point if for some $\gamma > 0$, there exists a function $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$, $0 \le \psi \le 1$, with $\psi = 1$ in a neighborhood of x such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi d\sigma < \gamma.$$

We define

$$\widetilde{\Sigma}(\gamma) = \{ x \in \overline{\Omega} : x \text{ is not a } \gamma \text{-regular point} \}.$$

Since σ is a bounded measure, it follows that $\widetilde{\Sigma}(\gamma)$ is finite for any positive γ .

Lemma 5.13. There exists $\gamma_0 > 0$ such that if x_0 is a γ_0 -regular point then u_n is bounded in $L^{\infty}(B_{R_0}(x_0) \cap \overline{\Omega})$ for some $R_0 > 0$. Moreover, $\widetilde{S} = \widetilde{\Sigma}(\gamma)$ provided $\gamma < \gamma_0$. In particular, u_n is bounded in $C^1_{loc}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \widetilde{S})$.

Proof. Let $\widetilde{\Omega} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be a smooth bounded open domain which contains $\overline{\Omega}$ and

$$\widehat{u_n}(x) = \begin{cases} u_n(x) & \text{for } x \in \Omega\\ 0 & \text{for } x \in \widetilde{\Omega} \setminus \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Consider w_n to be the solution to

$$\begin{cases} -Qw_n = \widetilde{\lambda_n}e^{\widehat{u_n}} & \text{in } \widetilde{\Omega} \\ w_n = 0 & \text{in } \partial\widetilde{\Omega}. \end{cases}$$

By the weak maximum principle and the comparison principle, we get $u_n \leq w_n$ in Ω . On the other hand, since $\widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{\widehat{u_n}}$ is bounded in $L^1(\widetilde{\Omega})$, arguing as in Theorem 5.11, we know ∇w_n is bounded in $L^q(\widetilde{\Omega})$ for 1 < q < 2. By the Sobolev embedding theorem, w_n is bounded in $L^2(\widetilde{\Omega})$. Let v_n be the solution to

$$\begin{cases} -Qv_n = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R}(x_0) \subset \widetilde{\Omega} \\ v_n = w_n & \text{in } \partial B_{2R}(x_0). \end{cases}$$

Using the comparison principle again, we have $v_n \leq w_n$ in $B_{2R}(x_0)$. Consequently,

$$||v_n||_{L^{\infty}(B_R(x_0))} \le ||v_n||_{L^2(B_{2R}(x_0))} \le ||w_n||_{L^2(B_{2R}(x_0))} \le C.$$

From Theorem 5.7, we have for any $\delta \in (0, 4\kappa)$,

$$\int_{B_R(x_0)} \exp\left[\frac{(4\kappa - \delta)d_0}{\int_{B_R(x_0)}\widetilde{\lambda_n}e^{\widehat{u_n}}}|w_n - v_n|\right] dx \le C.$$

If x_0 is a γ_0 -regular point, from the definition of $\widehat{u_n}$, we easily see that

$$\int_{B_R(x_0)} \widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{\widehat{u_n}} \le \gamma_0 + \epsilon < 4\kappa d_0$$

for small R and γ_0 . It follows that e^{w_n} , and hence $e^{\widehat{u_n}}$ is bounded in $L^p(B_R(x_0))$ for some p > 1. Consequently, w_n , hence u_n is bounded in $L^{\infty}(B_{R/2}(x_0) \cap \overline{\Omega})$. Arguing as in Section 4, we know $\widetilde{S} = \widetilde{\Sigma}(\gamma)$ provided $\gamma < \gamma_0$. From the standard elliptic theory, u_n is bounded in $C^1_{loc}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \widetilde{S})$.

From Lemma 5.13, \widetilde{S} is finite. Set $\widetilde{S} = \{p_1, \dots, p_m\}$. We focus on the blow-up point x on the boundary, i.e. $x \in \widetilde{S} \bigcap \partial \Omega$.

Lemma 5.14. If $x_0 \in \widetilde{S} \bigcap \partial \Omega$, then

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_r(x_0) \bigcap \overline{\Omega}} \widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n} dx \ge 8\kappa.$$

Proof. From the definition of $\widetilde{u_n}$ and (5.19), $\widetilde{u_n}$ satisfies

$$\begin{cases} -Q\widetilde{u_n} &= e^{\widetilde{u_n}} & \text{in } \Omega_n \\ \widetilde{u_n}(0) &= 0, \\ \widetilde{u_n} &\leq 0 & \text{in } \Omega_n. \end{cases}$$

For the convergence of Ω_n , we consider two cases.

Case (i). $\frac{dist(x_n,\partial\Omega)}{\epsilon_n} \to \infty$ and $\Omega_n \to \mathbb{R}^2$. By standard regularity arguments, $\widetilde{u_n} \to \widetilde{u}$ in $C^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2)$, where \widetilde{u} satisfies

$$\begin{cases}
-Q\widetilde{u} = e^{\widetilde{u}} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2 \\
\widetilde{u}(0) = 0, \\
\widetilde{u} \leq 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2 \\
\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{\widetilde{u}} dx < \infty.
\end{cases}$$
(5.20)

Case (ii). $\frac{dist(x_n,\partial\Omega)}{\epsilon_n}$ is bounded and $\Omega_n \to \mathbb{R}^2_+(t_0) := \{(x^1, x^2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x^1 > t_0\}.$ In this case one can show that $\widetilde{u_n} \to \widetilde{v}$ in $C^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2_+(t_0))$, where \widetilde{v} satisfies

$$\begin{aligned}
-Q\widetilde{v} &= e^{\widetilde{v}} & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{2}_{+}(t_{0}) \\
\widetilde{v}(0) &= 0, \\
\widetilde{v} &\leq 0 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{2}_{+}(t_{0}) \\
\widetilde{v} &= -\infty & \text{ on } \partial \mathbb{R}^{2}_{+}(t_{0}) \\
\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}_{+}(t_{0})} e^{\widetilde{v}} dx < \infty.
\end{aligned}$$
(5.21)

It follows immediately from the following Proposition 5.15 that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{\widetilde{u}} dx \ge 8\kappa \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^2_+(t_0)} e^{\widetilde{v}} dx \ge 8\kappa.$$

Consequently,

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_r(x_0) \cap \overline{\Omega}} \widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n} dx \geq \lim_{R \to \infty} \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_{R\epsilon_n}(x_n) \cap \overline{\Omega}} \widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n} dx$$
$$= \lim_{R \to \infty} \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_R(0) \cap \overline{\Omega_n}} e^{\widetilde{u_n}} dx$$
$$\geq \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{\widetilde{u}} dx & (\operatorname{case}(i)) \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^2_+(t_0)} e^{\widetilde{v}} dx & (\operatorname{case}(i)) \end{cases}$$
$$\geq 8\kappa.$$

Proposition 5.15. (i). If u is a weak solution of (5.20), then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^u dx \ge 8\kappa. \tag{5.22}$$

Moreover, equality holds if and only if u is radial symmetric with respect to F, i.e., $u(x) = u(F^0(x))$.

(ii). If v is a weak solution of (5.21), then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2_+(t_0)} e^v dx \ge 8\kappa. \tag{5.23}$$

Proof. The proof follows closely the argument of Ding (see [CL91a]). For $t \in \mathbb{R}$, let $\Omega_t = \{x \in \Omega | u(x) > t\}$ and $\mu(t) = |\Omega_t|$. By the divergence Theorem,

$$\int_{\Omega_t} -Qu\,dx = \int_{\partial\Omega_t} F(\nabla u) \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u), \frac{\nabla u}{|\nabla u|} \rangle = \int_{\partial\Omega_t} \frac{F^2(\nabla u)}{|\nabla u|}.$$
 (5.24)

Using the isoperimetric inequality (1.29), the co-area formula (1.28), the Hölder inequality, (5.20) and (5.24), we obtain

$$2\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}\mu(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq P_F(\Omega_t) = \int_{\partial\Omega_t} \frac{F(\nabla u)}{|\nabla u|}$$
$$\leq \left(\int_{\partial\Omega_t} \frac{F^2(\nabla u)}{|\nabla u|}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\partial\Omega_t} \frac{1}{|\nabla u|}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \left(\int_{\Omega_t} e^u\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(-\mu'(t)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

It follow that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^u = \int_{-\infty}^{\max u} e^t \mu(t) dt \le \int_{-\infty}^{\max u} e^t \frac{-\mu'(t)}{4\kappa} \int_{\Omega_t} e^u dx dt$$
$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\max u} \frac{1}{8\kappa} \frac{d}{dt} (\int_{\Omega_t} e^u dx)^2 dt = \frac{1}{8\kappa} (\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^u)^2,$$

which implies (5.22).

If equality in (5.22) holds, we must have equality in isoperimetric inequality, which means Ω_t must be a Wulff ball. In other words, u is radial symmetric with respect to F. Conversely, if u is radial symmetric with respect to F, we can immediately solve an ODE to get

$$u(x) = -2\log(1 + \frac{1}{8}F^0(x)^2), \qquad (5.25)$$

up to translation and scaling, which gives equality in (5.22).

For the second statement, the argument above also works since the boundary condition $v = -\infty$ implies all level sets of v are closed domain in $R^2_+(t_0)$.

We would like to propose

Conjecture 5.16. Any solution (5.25) to

$$\begin{cases} -Qu = e^u & in \mathbb{R}^2 \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^u dx < \infty \end{cases}$$
(5.26)

has the following form

$$u(x) = -2\log(1 + \frac{1}{8}F^0(x)^2),$$

up to translation and scaling.

It's not difficult to verify that $u(x) = -2\log(1 + \frac{1}{8}F^0(x)^2)$ solves (5.26). In the isotropic case, i.e., $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, this conjecture is true. This is the result of Chen-Li in [CL91a]. However, the proof in [CL91a], and also other proofs we know, does not work for the anisotropic case.

Now we use Lemma 5.13 and Lemma 5.14 to exclude the boundary blow-up.

Lemma 5.17. There exists a neighborhood \mathcal{N} of $\partial\Omega$ such that u_n is bounded in $L^{\infty}(\mathcal{N})$, i.e. $\widetilde{S} \cap \partial\Omega = \emptyset$.

Proof. We argue by contradiction. Let $p_1 \in \widetilde{S} \cap \partial \Omega$. We may assume that p_1 is the only point of \widetilde{S} in $\overline{\Omega} \cap B_{r_0}(p_1)$. We separate into two cases.

Case 1. $\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} dx \to \infty$. Hence $\widetilde{\lambda_n} \to 0$. We claim first that

$$u_n \to \sum_{i=1}^m \gamma_i G(\cdot, p_i) \text{ in } C^1_{loc}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \widetilde{S}),$$

where $\gamma_i = \lim_{r \to 0} \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_r(p_i) \cap \overline{\Omega}} \widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n} dx$, $G(\cdot, p_i)$ is the unique Green function with singularity at p_i if p_i lies in the interior of Ω and 0 if p_i lies on $\partial \Omega$. In fact, since u_n is bounded in $C^1_{loc}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \widetilde{S})$ and $\widetilde{\lambda_n} \to 0$, we have that $\int_{\widetilde{\Omega}} \widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n} \to 0$ for any $\widetilde{\Omega} \subset \subset \overline{\Omega} \setminus \widetilde{S}$. In view of the definition of γ_i , we see that $d\sigma = \sum_{i=1}^m \gamma_i \delta_{p_i}$ and

$$\int_{\Omega} \widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n} \psi \to \sum_{i=1}^m \gamma_i \psi(p_i)$$

for any $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$. As $\|\widetilde{\lambda_n}e^{u_n}\|_{L^1} \leq C$, we know that $\|\nabla u_n\|_{L^q} \leq C$ for any 1 < q < 2. It follows that $u_n \rightharpoonup G$ weakly in $W^{1,q}(\Omega)$. Testing equation (5.19) with $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$, we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} -Qu_n \psi dx = \int_{\Omega} \widetilde{\lambda_n} e^{u_n} \psi dx \to \sum_{i=1}^m \gamma_i \psi(p_i).$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\Omega} -QG\psi dx = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \gamma_i \psi(p_i).$$

Note that $\psi(p_i) = 0$ when $p_i \in \partial \Omega$. Thus $G = \sum_{i=1}^m \gamma_i G(\cdot, p_i)$, where $G(\cdot, p_i)$ is described as before. The C_{loc}^1 convergence, hence the claim, immediately follows.

Hereafter we will use a modified Pohozaev identity to get rid of some boundary term, which was used in [RoWe08].

Let $y_n = p_1 + \rho_{n,r}\nu(p_1)$ with

$$\rho_{n,r} = \frac{\int_{\partial\Omega\bigcap B_r(p_1)} F^2(\nabla u_n) \langle x - p_1, \nu(x) \rangle dx}{\int_{\partial\Omega\bigcap B_r(p_1)} F^2(\nabla u_n) \langle \nu(x_0), \nu(x) \rangle dx}$$

where r is small enough such that $\frac{1}{2} \leq \langle \nu(x_0), \nu(x) \rangle \leq 1$ for $x \in \partial \Omega \bigcap B_{r_0}(p_1)$. Here $\nu(x)$ is the unit outward normal. It follows that $|\rho_{n,r}| \leq 2r$ and

$$\int_{\partial\Omega\bigcap B_r(p_1)} F^2(\nabla u_n) \langle x - y_n, \nu(x) \rangle dx = 0.$$
(5.27)

Multiplying (5.19) with $\langle x - y_n, \nabla u_n \rangle$ and integrating by parts, we obtain the modified Pohozaev identity:

$$\int_{\Omega \bigcap B_r(p_1)} 2\widetilde{\lambda_n}(e^{u_n} - 1)$$

$$= \int_{\partial(\Omega \bigcap B_r(p_1))} F(\nabla u_n) \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u_n), \nu(x) \rangle \langle x - y_n, \nabla u_n \rangle$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} F^2(\nabla u_n) \langle x - y_n, \nu(x) \rangle + \widetilde{\lambda_n}(e^{u_n} - 1) \langle x - y_n, \nu(x) \rangle, \qquad (5.28)$$

Since $u_n|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$, we have $\nabla u|_{\partial\Omega} = \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \nu} \nu$ if it does not vanish. Hence

$$F(\nabla u_n)\langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u_n),\nu(x)\rangle\langle x-y_n,\nabla u_n\rangle - \frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u_n)\langle x-y_n,\nu(x)\rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u_n)\langle x-y_n,\nu(x)\rangle$$

on $\partial \Omega \bigcap B_{r_0}(p_1)$. By (5.27) and the boundary condition $u_n|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$, (5.28) reduces to

$$\int_{\Omega \bigcap B_r(p_1)} 2\widetilde{\lambda_n}(e^{u_n} - 1)$$

$$= \int_{\Omega \bigcap \partial B_r(p_1)} F(\nabla u_n) \langle F_{\xi}(\nabla u_n), \nu(x) \rangle \langle x - y_n, \nabla u_n \rangle$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} F^2(\nabla u_n) \langle x - y_n, \nu(x) \rangle + \widetilde{\lambda_n}(e^{u_n} - 1) \langle x - y_n, \nu(x) \rangle.$$
(5.29)

Since $u_n \to \sum_{i=1}^m \gamma_i G(\cdot, p_i)$ in $C^1_{loc}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \widetilde{S})$, $G(\cdot, p_1) = 0$, $G(\cdot, p_j)$ belongs to and hence is bounded in $C^1(B_{r_0}(p_1))$ for any $j = 2, \cdots, m$ (for p_1 is the only point of \widetilde{S} in $\overline{\Omega} \cap B_{r_0}(p_1)$). let $n \to \infty$ and then $r \to 0$, the RHS of (5.29) converges to

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \int_{\Omega \bigcap \partial B_r(p_1)} O(r) dx = \lim_{r \to 0} O(r^4) = 0.$$

On the other hand, the LHS of (5.29) converges to $2\gamma_1$, which is no less than 16κ by Lemma 5.14. A contradiction.

Case 2. $\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} dx \leq C$. In this case, we have the three alternatives in Theorem 5.10.

We claim that $\widetilde{S} \subset \partial \Omega$. Indeed, by the maximum principle, $u_n \geq 0$ in Ω . Therefore, (ii), (iii) in Theorem 5.10 cannot happen, i.e., u_n is bounded in $L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega)$.

By Lemma 5.13 and by passing to subsequence,

$$u_n \to u \text{ in } C^1_{loc}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \widetilde{S}),$$

where $u \in C^1(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \widetilde{S})$ satisfies

$$\begin{cases} -Qu = \widetilde{\lambda}e^u & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \setminus \widetilde{S}. \end{cases}$$

Here $\lambda_n \to \lambda$ because $\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} dx$ is bounded below and then λ_n is bounded. It's easy to see that u can be extended to a $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ function. Argue similarly as in Case 1, the RHS of (5.29) converges to 0, a contradiction to Lemma 5.14.

We complete the proof of Lemma 5.17.

Proof of Theorem 5.12. By the assumption on V_n and λ_n , we may assume $\lambda_n \to \lambda \ge 0$, $V_n \to V$ with $\min_{\Omega} V > 0$. Set $\widehat{u_n} = u_n + \log \lambda_n$. Thus $\widehat{u_n} \le u_n + C$. By Lemma 5.17, we know that u_n is bounded in a neighborhood of $\partial\Omega$. It follows that $\widehat{u_n}$ is bounded above in a neighborhood of $\partial\Omega$.

Since $-Q\widehat{u_n} = e^{\widehat{u_n}}$ and $\int_{\Omega} e^{\widehat{u_n}} \leq C$, from Theorem 5.10, three alternatives may happen. We claim that $\max_{\Omega} \widehat{u_n} \to \infty$. Otherwise, if $\widehat{u_n} \leq C$, then $||u_n||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leq C$, which contradicts $\max_{\Omega} u_n \to \infty$. Consequently, (i) and (ii) cannot happen in Theorem 5.10. Therefore there exists a finite set $S = \{p_1, \dots, p_m\} \subset \Omega$ such that

$$e^{\widehat{u_n}} = \lambda_n \frac{V_n e^{u_n}}{\int_{\Omega} V_n e^{u_n} dx} \to \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \delta_{p_i}$$

in the sense of measure in $\overline{\Omega}$. Arguing as before, we easily see that

$$u_n(x) \to \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i G(x, p_i) \text{ in } C^{1,\beta}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus S).$$

It remains to determine α_i . Choose r_0 small enough such that p_i is the only point of S in $B_{r_0}(p_i) \subset \Omega$ for any $i = 1, \dots, m$. It follows that

$$\max_{\partial B_{r_0}(p_i)} u_n - \min_{\partial B_{r_0}(p_i)} u_n \le C(r_0).$$

Now we can apply Theorem 5.11 in $B_{r_0}(p_i)$ to conclude that $\alpha_i = 8\kappa$. This proves Theorem 5.12.

As a direct consequence, we obtain

Theorem 5.18. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and (u_n) be a sequence of solutions to

$$\begin{cases}
-Qu = \lambda \frac{Ve^u}{\int_{\Omega} Ve^u dx} & \text{in } \Omega \\
u = 0 & \text{in } \partial\Omega,
\end{cases}$$
(5.30)

with

$$\min_{\Omega} V > 0, \quad \max_{\Omega} V + \|\nabla V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} < \infty.$$

Then for any compact interval $\Lambda \subset (8\kappa(m-1), 8\kappa m)$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$u(x) \leq C \text{ for } x \in \Omega.$$

5.4 An existence result

In this section, we prove the following existence result.

Theorem 5.19. Let Ω be a smooth bounded domain whose complement contains at least one bounded region and V be as in Theorem 5.18. Then (5.30) admits a solution for all $\lambda \in (8\kappa, 16\kappa)$.

When $\lambda \in (8\kappa, 16\kappa)$, we are in a supercritical case, in the sense that the functional $J_{\lambda}(u)$ has no lower bound (See Corollary 5.2). Our method follows closely [DJLW99], where they constructed saddle type critical points for the isotropic case. We only give a sketch of this proof.

Proof of Theorem 5.19: The proof can be divided into several steps.

Step 1. First we define the center of mass of a function $u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ by

$$m_c(u) = \frac{\int_{\Omega} x e^u}{\int_{\Omega} e^u}.$$

For simplicity, assume $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \Omega$ has a bounded component which is the unit disk $D = \{(r, \theta) | 0 \leq r < 1, \theta \in [0, 2\pi)\}$ centered at the origin. We then define a family of functions $h: D \to W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ satisfying

$$J_{\lambda}(h(r,\theta)) \to -\infty \text{ as } r \to 1$$

and

 $m_c(h(r,\theta))$ is a continuous curve enclosing D.

The existence of such a family is guaranteed by $\lambda > 8\kappa$. Denote the set of all such families by \mathcal{D}_{λ} . We now define a minimax value

$$\alpha_{\lambda} := \inf_{h \in \mathcal{D}_{\lambda}} \sup_{u \in h(D)} J_{\lambda}(u).$$

Step 2. For any $\lambda \in (8\kappa, 16\kappa)$, $\alpha_{\lambda} > -\infty$. We need first an improved Moser-Trudinger inequality introduced by Aubin.

Lemma 5.20. Let $\delta_0 > 0$ and $\gamma_0 \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ be given numbers. Let S_1 and S_2 be two subset of $\overline{\Omega}$ satisfying dist $(S_1, S_2) \ge \delta_0 > 0$. For any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a constant $c = c(\epsilon, \delta_0, \gamma_0) > 0$ such that

$$J_{16\kappa-\epsilon}(u) > -c$$

holds for all $u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ satisfying

$$\frac{\int_{S_1} e^u}{\int_{\Omega} e^u} \ge \gamma_0 \text{ and } \frac{\int_{S_2} e^u}{\int_{\Omega} e^u} \ge \gamma_0.$$

Proof. The lemma follows from the argument in [CL91b] and the Moser-Trudinger inequality $J_{8\kappa}(u) \geq -c$.

We return to the proof of Step 2. Suppose by contradiction that α_{λ} has no lower bound, then we have sequences $h_i \in \mathcal{D}_{\lambda}$ and $u_i \in h_i(D)$ such that $J(u_i) \to -\infty$ and $m_c(u_i) = 0$. On the other hand, in view of Lemma 5.20, there exists $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ such that

$$\frac{\int_{B_{1/2}(x_0)\bigcap\Omega}e^{u_i}}{\int_\Omega e^{u_i}}\to 1,$$

which leads to $|m_c(u_i) - x_0| < \frac{2}{3}$. This contradicts $m_c(u_i) = 0$.

Step 3. It can be easily checked that $\frac{\alpha_{\lambda}}{\lambda}$ is non-increasing in $(8\kappa, 16\kappa)$. Define

$$\Lambda := \{\lambda \in (8\kappa, 16\kappa) | \frac{\alpha_{\lambda}}{\lambda} \text{ is differentiable at } \lambda\}.$$

We can follow the method in [DJLW99] to prove that α_{λ} is achieved by a critical point u_{λ} of J_{λ} provided that $\lambda \in \Lambda$.

Step 4. For any $\lambda \in (8\kappa, 16\kappa)$, we find a sequence $\lambda_k \in \Lambda$ and u_{λ_k} satisfying (5.30). Since λ is not multiple of 8κ , we see from Theorem 5.18 that u_{λ_k} converges to some u, which is a solution of (5.30). This finishes the proof of Theorem 5.19.
Part II Anisotropic geometric problems

Chapter 6

Minkowski (relative) geometry of hypersurfaces

Convention for Part II: Throughout Part II, the Latin alphabet i, j, k, \cdots denotes indices from 1 to n and the Greek alphabet $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \cdots$ denotes indices from 1 to n + 1. We will always use the Einstein summation convention. We remark that the notations in Part I and Part II are somehow different.

In relative or Minkowski geometry, we are always given a Minkowski norm.

Definition 6.1. A function $F : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to [0, +\infty)$ is called a **Minkowski norm** if

- (i) F is a norm of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , i.e., F is a convex, 1-homogeneous function satisfying F(x) > 0 when $x \neq 0$;
- (*ii*) $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\});$
- (iii) F satisfies a uniformly elliptic condition: $Hess(\frac{1}{2}F^2)$ is positive definite in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}$.

In Part I, we have defined the dual norm of F,

$$F^{0}(\xi) := \sup_{x \neq 0} \frac{\langle x, \xi \rangle}{F(x)}, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}.$$

we remark that F^0 is also a Minkowski norm (see [Sh 01]). The following properties is quite simple consequences of 1-homogeneous of F and F^0 , as proved in Chapter 1. We list them here again.

Proposition 6.2.

(i)
$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial x^{\alpha}}(x)x^{\alpha} = F(x), \quad \frac{\partial F^{0}}{\partial \xi^{\alpha}}(\xi)\xi^{\alpha} = F^{0}(\xi);$$

$$\begin{array}{ll} (ii) & \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial x^{\beta}}(x) x^{\alpha} = 0, & \frac{\partial^2 F^0}{\partial \xi^{\alpha} \partial \xi^{\beta}}(\xi) \xi^{\alpha} = 0, \ for \ x, \xi \neq 0, \quad \forall \beta = 1, \cdots, n+1; \\ (iii) & F(DF^0(\xi)) = 1, \quad F^0(DF(x)) = 1, \ for \ x, \xi \neq 0; \\ (iv) & F^0(\xi) DF(DF^0(\xi)) = \xi, \quad F(x) DF^0(DF(x)) = x, \ for \ x, \xi \neq 0. \\ Here & DF = \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial x^1}, \cdots, \frac{\partial F}{\partial x^{n+1}}\right) \ and \ DF^0 = \left(\frac{\partial F^0}{\partial \xi^1}, \cdots, \frac{\partial F^0}{\partial \xi^{n+1}}\right). \end{array}$$

A smooth convex hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} corresponding to F is the Wulff shape

$$\mathcal{W}_F := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} | F^0(x) = 1 \}.$$

Conversely, a smooth convex hypersurface \mathcal{M} in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} determines uniquely a convex function F such that the Wulff shape corresponding to such F is \mathcal{M} . Wulff shape plays the fundamental role as a comparison body in the relative differential geometry.

For an oriented *n*-dimensional hypersurface M in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , The function F defines an anisotropic area functional

$$|M|_F := \int_M F(\bar{\nu}) d\mathcal{H}^n,$$

where $\bar{\nu}$ and \mathcal{H}^n denote the standard unit outer normal to M and the *n*-dimensional Hausdorff measure respectively. We denote by $d\mu_F = F(\bar{\nu})d\mathcal{H}^n$ and call it the **anisotropic measure**.

The unit **anisotropic outer normal** is defined by

$$\nu_F := DF(\bar{\nu}).$$

It is easy to see from Proposition 6.2 (iii) that $\nu_F \in \mathcal{W}_F$. We call $\nu_F : M \to \mathcal{W}_F$ the **anisotropic Gauss map**.

From now on we will omit the subscript F for simplicity, i.e., $d\mu = d\mu_F$, $\nu = \nu_F$ and $\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_F$, etc..

Since $\operatorname{Hess}(\frac{1}{2}F^2)$ is positive definite, we can consider \mathbb{R}^{n+1} as a Riemannian manifold equipped with a metric

$$G(x)(\xi,\eta) := \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n+1} G_{\alpha\beta}(x)\xi^{\alpha}\eta^{\beta} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n+1} \frac{\partial^2(\frac{1}{2}(F^0)^2)}{\partial x^{\alpha}\partial x^{\beta}}(x)\xi^{\alpha}\eta^{\beta}$$
(6.1)

for $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, $\xi, \eta \in T_x \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. It is easy to see from Proposition 6.2 (i) and (ii) that

$$G(x)(x,x) = 1$$
, $G(x)(x,\xi) = 0$ for any $x \in \mathcal{W} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, $\xi \in T_x \mathcal{W}$. (6.2)

Similarly, for an oriented *n*-dimensional hypersurface M in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , we have

$$G(\nu)(\nu,\nu) = 1$$
, $G(\nu)(\nu,\xi) = 0$ for $x \in M$, $\nu = \nu(x)$, $\xi \in T_x M$.

We define

$$g(x) := G(\nu(x))|_{T_xM}, \quad x \in M$$

as a Riemannian metric on $M \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. This Riemannian metric will play a fundamental role in relative geometry of hypersurface. Note that in classical Euclidean geometry the metric on a hypersurface is the restriction of the Euclidean metric. This is the major difference between the relative geometry and Euclidean geometry.

Since F^0 is not quadratic, the third derivative of F^0 does not vanish. We denote

$$Q(x)(\xi,\eta,\zeta) := \sum_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma=1}^{n+1} Q_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(x)\xi^{\alpha}\eta^{\beta}\zeta^{\gamma} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma=1}^{n+1} \frac{\partial^3(\frac{1}{2}(F^0)^2)}{\partial x^{\alpha}\partial x^{\beta}\partial x^{\gamma}}(x)\xi^{\alpha}\eta^{\beta}\zeta^{\gamma},$$

for $x, \xi, \eta, \zeta \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. It follows again from Proposition 6.2 (i) and (ii) that

$$Q(x)(x,\xi,\eta) = 0.$$
 (6.3)

To study the relative geometry of hypersurface, it is indispensable to define the anisotropic second fundamental form.

For $X \in M \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, choose local coordinate $\{y^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1}^{n+1}$ in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , such that $\{\frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\alpha}}\}_{\alpha=1}^{n+1}$ are tangent to M and $\frac{\partial}{\partial y^{n+1}} = \nu$ is the unit anisotropic outer normal of M. By identification $\partial_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial y^i} = \partial_i X$ for $i = 1, \dots, n$. Let $g_{ij}(X) = g(\nu)(\partial_i X, \partial_j X)$ be the Riemannian metric on M. Denote by g^{ij} the inverse of g_{ij} .

Given the standard volume form Ω (Lebesgue measure) in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , the anisotropic measure on M can be interpreted as

$$d\mu = \Omega(\nu, \partial_1, \cdots, \partial_n) dy^1 \cdots dy^n.$$
(6.4)

This follows from the fact that $d\mu = F^0(\bar{\nu})\Omega(\bar{\nu},\partial_1,\cdots,\partial_n)dy^1\cdots dy^n$ and $\nu = F^0(\bar{\nu})\bar{\nu} + \text{tangent part, due to Proposition 6.2 (i).}$

The anisotropic second fundamental form is defined by

$$h_{ij}(X) = -G(\nu)(\nu, \partial_i \partial_j X).$$

It is a symmetric 2-tensor on M.

With the Riemannian metric g and the anisotropic second fundamental form, we can define the anisotropic principle curvatures and the Gauss-Kronecker curvature.

Definition 6.3. The eigenvalues of the anisotropic second fundamental form h_{ij} with respect to the metric g_{ij} (i.e. the eigenvalues of the matrix $g^{jk}h_{ij}$) are called the **anisotropic principle curvatures**. The inverse of the anisotropic principle curvatures are called the **anisotropic principle radii**.

Definition 6.4. The anisotropic mean curvature is $H = g^{ij}h_{ij}$. The anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature is $K = \det(g^{jk}h_{ij})$.

Remark 6.5. The definition of the anisotropic mean curvature or principle curvatures are different with that in Part I. The definition here interprets more geometric meaning, while that in Part I is more analytic. However, they are essentially the same, because (1) The anisotropic mean curvature can both defined from the first variation of anisotropic area functional. The difference is which normal we choose to deform the hypersurface. Here we choose the anisotropic normal, while for that in Part I we choose the standard normal; (2) The anisotropic principle curvatures of Wulff shape are both the identical matrix from the different definitions; (3) The convexity of a hypersurface is independent of which definition we choose.

Proposition 6.6. A hypersurface M is convex (strongly convex resp.) if and only if $(h_{ij}) \ge 0$ (> 0 resp.).

Proof. we just need to observe that

$$h_{ij} = \frac{1}{F(\bar{\nu})}\bar{h}_{ij},$$

where \bar{h}_{ij} is the standard second fundamental form $\bar{h}_{ij} = \langle \bar{\nu}, \partial_i \partial_j X \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}}$.

Indeed, in view of $\nu = DF(\bar{\nu})$, we have

$$h_{ij} = -G(\nu)(\nu, \partial_i \partial_j X) = -DF^0(DF(\bar{\nu})) \cdot \partial_i \partial_j X$$

$$= -\frac{\bar{\nu}}{F(\bar{\nu})} \cdot \partial_i \partial_j X = \frac{1}{F(\bar{\nu})} \bar{h}_{ij}.$$

Here we have used Proposition 6.2 (iii) and (iv).

Similarly as in the classical theory of hypersurface, we have the following Gauss and Weingarten formulas, Gauss and Codazzi equations.

Lemma 6.7.

$$\partial_i \partial_j X = -h_{ij} \nu + \nabla_{\partial_i} \partial_j + A^k_{ij} \partial_k X; \quad (Gauss formula) \tag{6.5}$$

$$\partial_i \nu = g^{jk} h_{ij} \partial_k X; \quad (Weingarten formula)$$

$$(6.6)$$

$$R_{ijkl} = h_{ik}h_{jl} - h_{il}h_{jk} + \nabla_{\partial_l}A_{jki} - \nabla_{\partial_k}A_{jli}$$

$$+ A^m_{jk}A_{mli} - A^m_{jl}A_{mki}; (Gauss \ equation)$$

$$(6.7)$$

$$h_{ijk} + h_j^l A_{lki} = h_{ikj} + h_k^l A_{lji}.$$
 (Codazzi equation) (6.8)

Here ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection of the Riemannian metric g, R is the Riemannian curvature tensor of g, A is a 3-tensor

$$A_{ijk} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(h_i^l Q_{jkl} + h_j^l Q_{ilk} - h_k^l Q_{ijl} \right),$$
(6.9)

where $Q_{ijk} = Q(\nu)(\partial_i X, \partial_j X, \partial_k X).$

Proof. Taking derivative of the equation $G(\nu)(\nu, \nu) = 1$, $G(\nu)(\nu, \partial_j X) = 0$ and using (6.3) we have

$$G(\nu)(\partial_i\nu,\nu) = 0,$$

$$G(\nu)(\partial_i\nu,\partial_iX) + G(\nu)(\nu,\partial_i\partial_jX) = 0,$$

which implies the Weingarten formula (6.6).

To verify the Gauss formula (6.5), it is sufficient to give the explicit formula (6.9) for A. Denote Γ_{ij}^k the Christoffel symbol with respect to ∇ . Taking derivative of the equation $g_{ij} = G(\nu)(\partial_i X, \partial_j X)$, we have

$$\partial_k g_{ij} = G(\nu)(\partial_k \partial_i X, \partial_j X) + G(\nu)(\partial_i X, \partial_k \partial_j X) + Q(\nu)(\partial_k \nu, \partial_i X, \partial_j X)(6.10)$$

= $(\Gamma^l_{ik} + A^l_{ik})g_{jl} + (\Gamma^l_{jk} + A^l_{jk})g_{il} + h^l_k Q_{ijl}.$

Note that $\Gamma_{ij}^k = \frac{1}{2}g^{kl}(\partial_i g_{jl} + \partial_j g_{il} - \partial_l g_{ij})$. Then (6.9) follows easily from (6.10). Taking covariant derivative of the Weingarten formula (6.6), we have

 $\nabla_{\partial_j} \nabla_{\partial_i} \nu = (h_{i,j}^k + h_i^l A_{jl}^k) \partial_k X + \text{ anisotropic normal part }.$

Then the Codazzi equation (6.8) follows from the symmetry $\nabla_{\partial_i} \nabla_{\partial_i} \nu = \nabla_{\partial_i} \nabla_{\partial_i} \nu$.

We are remained with the verification of the Gauss equation (6.7). We choose the normal coordinate at some point p_0 with respect to g, such that $g_{ij}(p_0) = \delta_{ij}$ and $\Gamma_{ij}^k(p_0) = 0$. Taking derivative of the Gauss formula (6.5), we have at p_0 ,

$$\partial_l \partial_j \partial_i X = \nabla_{\partial_l} \left[-h_{ij} \nu + (\Gamma_{ij}^k + A_{ij}^k) \partial_k X \right]$$

= $\left[-h_{ij} h_l^k + \partial_l (\Gamma_{ij}^k + A_{ij}^k) + A_{ij}^m A_{lm}^k \right] \partial_k X$ + anisotropic normal part .

Hence

$$0 = \partial_l \partial_j \partial_i X - \partial_j \partial_l \partial_i X$$

$$= \left[h_{il} h_j^k - h_{ij} h_l^k + \partial_l \Gamma_{ij}^k - \partial_j \Gamma_{il}^k + \partial_l A_{ij}^k - \partial_j A_{il}^k + A_{ij}^m A_{lm}^k - A_{il}^m A_{jm}^k \right] \partial_k X$$

$$+ \text{ anisotropic normal part } .$$

$$(6.11)$$

By definition of Riemannian curvature, at p_0 ,

$$R_{ijkl} = g(\nu)(\nabla_{\partial_k}\nabla_{\partial_l}\partial_j X - \nabla_{\partial_l}\nabla_{\partial_k}\partial_j X, \partial_i X)$$

= $\partial_k \Gamma^i_{lj} - \partial_l \Gamma^i_{kj}.$

Now it follows from (6.11) that

$$R_{ijkl} = h_{ik}h_{jl} - h_{il}h_{jk} + \partial_l A_{jki} - \partial_k A_{jli} + A_{jk}^m A_{mli} - A_{jl}^m A_{mki}.$$

Since both sides are tensors, (6.7) holds at every point. We complete the proof. \Box

Remark 6.8. We see from (6.9) that the 3-tensor A is symmetric in the first two indices, namely, $A_{ijk} = A_{jik}$. However, it is not totally symmetric in general. Indeed, it can be shown that $A_{ijk} + A_{ikj} = -h_i^l Q_{ljk}$.

We will compute in the following example the geometry quantities defined above for the special case $M = \mathcal{W}$. It shows that \mathcal{W} plays the same role in relative geometry as the standard sphere in classical Euclidean geometry.

Example 6.9. Consider the hypersurface $M = \mathcal{W} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, the Wulff shape. In this case, the position vector and the unit anisotropic outer normal coincide, i.e., $X = \nu(X)$ for $X \in \mathcal{W}$. Hence $\partial_i X = \partial_i \nu = h_i^j \partial_j X$, which implies that $h_i^j = \delta_{ij}$ and in turn, $h_{ij} = g_{ij}$. In this case $A_{ijk} = -\frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}$ and it is totally symmetric for all the indices. It is easy to see that

$$\nabla_{\partial_l} Q_{ijk} = \nabla_{\partial_k} Q_{ijl}. \tag{6.12}$$

Hence the Gauss equation (6.7) can be easier written as

$$R_{ijkl} = g_{ik}g_{jl} - g_{il}g_{jk} + \frac{1}{4}Q_{jk}^m Q_{mli} - \frac{1}{4}Q_{jl}^m Q_{mki}.$$
 (6.13)

The following lemma states that the difference between anisotropic volume form and induced volume form by g has a natural relationship with the tensor A. It is a simple but quite important observation in the relative geometry.

Lemma 6.10. Let dV_g be the induced volume form of M equipped with g. Assume that $d\mu = \varphi dV_g$. Then

$$\partial_i \log \varphi = A_{ij}^j = g^{jk} A_{ijk}.$$

Proof. In local coordinates,

$$\varphi = \frac{\Omega(\nu, \partial_1 X, \cdots, \partial_n X)}{\sqrt{\det(g)}}.$$

We compute that

$$\partial_i \log \Omega(\nu, \partial_1 X, \cdots, \partial_n X) = \frac{1}{\Omega(\nu, \partial_1 X, \cdots, \partial_n X)} \sum_{j=1}^n \Omega(\nu, \partial_1 X, \cdots, \partial_i \partial_j X, \cdots, \partial_n X)$$
$$= (\Gamma_{ij}^j + A_{ij}^j).$$

On the other hand, since g is a Riemannian metric on M,

$$\partial_i \log \sqrt{\det(g)} = \frac{1}{2} g^{jk} \partial_i g_{jk} = \Gamma^j_{ij}.$$

Therefore, we have

$$\partial_i \log \varphi = A^j_{ij}.$$

Chapter 7

Anisotropic Minkowski problem

7.1 Formulation of the anisotropic Minkowski problem

Let M be an *n*-dimensional closed, strongly convex hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Since the map $\mathbb{S}^n \to \mathcal{W} : \bar{\nu} \mapsto \nu = DF(\bar{\nu})$ defines a nondegenerate diffeomorphism between \mathbb{S}^n and \mathcal{W} , we easily see that the anisotropic Gauss map $\nu : M \to \mathcal{W}$ is everywhere nondegenerate diffeomorphism. We can use it to reparametrize the convex hypersurface, i.e.

$$X: \mathcal{W} \to M \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \quad X(z) = X(\nu^{-1}(z)), \quad z \in \mathcal{W}.$$

By virtue of Proposition 6.6, the anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature of M is positive. With this parametrization, it can be viewed as a positive function $K(\nu^{-1}(z))$ on the Wulff shape \mathcal{W} .

The anisotropic Minkowski problem is the anisotropic version of Minkowski problem in classical geometry. Namely, it is a problem of prescribing the anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature on the anisotropic normals of a closed strongly convex hypersurface. We state this problem as follows:

Anisotropic Minkowski problem: Given a positive function K on W, is there a closed strongly convex hypersurface whose anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature is K as a function on its anisotropic normals?

A necessary condition to this problem is that K must satisfy

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}) \frac{1}{K(z)} d\mu = 0, \quad \forall \alpha = 1, \cdots, n+1,$$
(7.1)

where E^{α} denote the standard α -th coordinate vector in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . In fact, in view of

(6.4) and by using divergence theorem, we have

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\mathcal{W}} G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}) \frac{1}{K(z)} d\mu \\ &= \int_{M} G(\nu)(\nu, E^{\alpha}) d\mu(M) = \int_{M} G(\nu)(\nu, E^{\alpha}) \Omega(\nu, \partial_{1}, \cdots, \partial_{n}) dy^{1} \cdots dy^{n} \\ &= \int_{M} \Omega(E^{\alpha}, \partial_{1}, \cdots, \partial_{n}) dy^{1} \cdots dy^{n} = \int_{M} \langle \bar{\nu}, E^{\alpha} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} dvol(M) \\ &= \int_{\bar{M}} \operatorname{div}(E^{\alpha}) d\mathcal{H}^{n+1} = 0. \end{split}$$

Here \overline{M} is the body enclosed by M, and $dvol(M) = \Omega(\overline{\nu}, \partial_1, \cdots, \partial_n)dy^1 \cdots dy^n$ is the induced volume form of the Euclidean metric in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} .

In this chapter, we solve the anisotropic Minkowski problem. The main result is the following

Theorem 7.1. Let F be a Minkowski norm in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Let K be a positive function in $C^k(\mathcal{W})$ with $k \geq 2$ and satisfy the condition (7.1). Then there is a $C^{k+1,\alpha}(\forall 0 < \alpha < 1)$ closed strongly convex hypersurface M in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} whose anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature is K as a function on its anisotropic normals. Moreover, M is unique up to translations.

As in the classical Minkowski problem, we will reduce the solvability of the anisotropic Minkowski problem to that of a fully nonlinear elliptic equation of a suitable support function. First of all, let us introduce the anisotropic support function.

The anisotropic support function of M is defined as

$$S(z) = \sup_{y \in M} G(z)(z, y) = G(z)(z, X(z)), \text{ for } z \in \mathcal{W}.$$

We will compute the metric g and the anisotropic second fundamental form h of M in terms of the anisotropic support function S.

Let $z \in \mathcal{W}$. Choose an orthonormal basis $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^n$ of $T_z\mathcal{W} = T_{X(z)}M$ with respect to the Riemannian metric g. Denote by ∇ the covariant derivative with respect to g on \mathcal{W} . Taking the first covariant derivative of S, we have

$$\nabla_{e_i} S(z) = G(z)(\nabla_{e_i} z, X(z)) + G(z)(z, \nabla_{e_i} X(z)) + Q(z)(\nabla_{e_i} z, z, X(z))$$

= $G(z)(\nabla_{e_i} z, X(z)),$

The last two terms vanish due to (6.2) and (6.3).

Taking the second covariant derivative of S, by using Gauss formula (6.5) we have (we compute at normal coordinate of g, namely, $\nabla_{e_i} e_j = 0$)

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{e_i} \nabla_{e_j} S(z) &= e_i e_j G(z)(z, X(z)) = e_i (G(z)(e_j z, X)) \\ &= G(z)(e_i e_j z, X(z)) + G(z)(e_j z, e_i X) + Q(e_i z, e_j z, X(z)) \\ &= -\delta_{ij} G(z)(z, X(z)) - \frac{1}{2} Q(e_i z, e_j z, e_k z) G(z)(e_k, X(z)) \\ &- G(z)(z, (-h_{ij}(X)z)) + Q(e_i z, e_j z, e_k z) G(z)(e_k, X(z)) \\ &= -\delta_{ij} S(z) + h_{ij} (X(z)) + \frac{1}{2} Q_{ijk} \nabla_{e_k} S(z). \end{aligned}$$

Here we also used the observation in Example 6.9.

For simplicity, we use the abbreviation S_i, S_{ij} to denote the covariant derivative of g. Thus it follows from previous computation that the anisotropic second fundamental form of M has the formula

$$h_{ij}(X(z)) = S_{ij}(z) - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k(z) + \delta_{ij}S(z), \quad \forall z \in \mathcal{W}.$$

To compute the metric g of M, we use the Weingarten formula (6.6),

$$e_i z = g^{jk}(X)h_{ij}(X)\nabla_{e_k}X,$$

from which we obtain

$$\delta_{ij} = g(z)(e_i z, e_j z) = h_{ik} g^{kl} h_{jl}.$$

In turn, we have

$$g_{ij} = h_{ik}h_{jk}.$$

Therefore, the anisotropic principal radii of M are the eigenvalues of

$$g_{ik}h^{jk} = h_{ij} = S_{ij}(z) - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k(z) + \delta_{ij}S(z), \quad \forall z \in \mathcal{W}.$$

The Gauss-Kronecker curvature is

$$K(z) = \frac{1}{\det(S_{ij}(z) - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k(z) + \delta_{ij}S(z))}, \quad \forall z \in \mathcal{W}.$$

In summary, we have proved the following proposition.

Proposition 7.2. Parametrizing a C^2 strongly convex hypersurface M by the inverse anisotropic Gauss map over W, we have that the eigenvalue of $S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij}$ is the anisotropic principle radii of M. In particular, the anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature of M satisfies

$$\det(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij}) = \frac{1}{K} \quad on \ \mathcal{W}.$$
(7.2)

Conversely, given S a C^2 function on \mathcal{W} with $(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + \delta_{ij}S) > 0$, we are able to find a strongly convex hypersurface such that its anisotropic support function is S.

Proposition 7.3. Any function $S \in C^2(W)$ with $(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij}) > 0$ is an anisotropic support function of a C^2 strongly convex hypersurface M in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} .

Proof. We extend S to be a homogeneous function of degree one in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}$ by setting $S(x) = F^0(x)S\left(\frac{x}{F^0(x)}\right)$. Denote by $\nabla_{(\mathbb{R}^{n+1},G)}$ be the covariant derivative of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} equipped with the metric G. Define

$$M = \left\{ \nabla_{(\mathbb{R}^{n+1},G)} S(x) | x \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\} \right\}.$$

Let $e_{n+1} = z$ be the position vector of \mathcal{W} and $\{e_1, \dots, e_n\}$ is a local orthonormal frame field with respect to g on \mathcal{W} such that $\{e_1, \dots, e_{n+1}\}$ is a positive oriented orthonormal frame field with respect to G in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Then it follows from the homogeneity of S that for $y \in M$, there exists $z \in \mathcal{W}$, such that

$$y = y(z) = \nabla_{(\mathbb{R}^{n+1},G)} S(z) = \nabla_{e_i} S(z) e_i(z) + S(z) e_{n+1}(z).$$
(7.3)

It is clear that

$$e_i(e_{n+1}) = e_i, \quad e_i(e_j) = \nabla_{e_i} e_j - \frac{1}{2} Q_{ijk} e_k - \delta_{ij} e_{n+1}.$$
 (7.4)

Using (7.4), we compute the derivative of y on \mathcal{W} (at normal coordinates, namely, $\nabla_{e_i} e_j = 0$),

$$e_{j}(y) = e_{j}e_{i}(S)e_{i} + v_{i}e_{j}(e_{i}) + e_{j}(S)e_{n+1} + Se_{j}(e_{n+1})$$

$$= S_{ij}e_{i} + S_{i}(-\frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}e_{k} - \delta_{ij}e_{n+1}) + S_{j}e_{n+1} + Se_{j}$$

$$= (S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_{k} + \delta_{ij}S)e_{i}.$$
(7.5)

Since $(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + \delta_{ij}S) > 0$ by assumption, (7.5) implies that the tangent space of M at y(z) is span $\{e_1(z), \dots, e_n(z)\}$. Hence $e_{n+1}(z) = z$ is the anisotropic normal at y(x). Now $\{e_1, \dots, e_n, z\}$ gives an orientation of M. Also the map $y(z) = \nabla_{e_i}S(z)e_i(z) + S(z)e_{n+1}(z)$ is globally invertible and M is an embedded hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} .

In view of (7.3), S(z) = G(z)(z, y(z)). It follows from the previous computation that the anisotropic principle curvatures at y(z) are the reciprocals of the eigenvalues of $(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + \delta_{ij}S) > 0$. Therefore, M is strongly convex and S is its anisotropic support function.

By virtue of Proposition 7.2 and 7.3, the solvability of the anisotropic Minkowski problem is reduced to that of the equation (7.2) on the Wulff shape \mathcal{W} under the condition that $K \in C^k(\mathcal{W}), k \geq 2, K > 0$ and satisfies the equation (7.1). Therefore, to prove Theorem 7.1, it is equivalent to prove the solvability of the equation (7.2).

Definition 7.4. We call a solution S of (7.2) is an admissible solution if the $n \times n$ matrix $S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij}$ is positive definite.

Theorem 7.5. Let F be a Minkowski norm in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Let K be a positive function in $C^k(\mathcal{W})$ with $k \geq 2$ and satisfy the condition (7.1). Then we can find an admissible solution $S \in C^{k+1,\alpha}(\mathcal{W})(\forall 0 < \alpha < 1)$ to the equation (7.2). If there exist two admissible solutions S and \tilde{S} to (7.2), then there exist some constants c_1, \dots, c_{n+1} , such that

$$S(z) - \tilde{S}(z) = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n+1} c_{\alpha} G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}).$$

We will use the method of continuity to find an admissible solution of (7.2). In the next section, we prove the a priori estimates for the equation (7.2).

7.2 A priori estimates

In this section, we shall establish the a priori estimates for the admissible solution to the equation (7.2). We will frequently use the symmetric function $\sigma_n(u_{ij}) = \det(u_{ij})$.

In view of the Gauss formula (6.5), we have for $z \in \mathcal{W} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$,

$$z_{ij} = -z\delta_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}z_k.$$

Hence

$$(G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}))_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}(G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}))_k - G(z)(z, E^{\alpha})\delta_{ij},$$

which implies

$$L_S(G(z)(z, E^{\alpha})) = 0.$$
(7.6)

Hence for constants $\{a_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1}^{n+1}$, the function $L(z) = a_{\alpha}G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}), z \in \mathcal{W} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, satisfies

$$L_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}L_k + L\delta_{ij} = 0.$$

Thus for a solution S of (7.2), S + L is also a solution. Such an observation allows us to restrict S to satisfy the following orthogonal condition

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} G(z)(z, E^{\alpha})S(z)d\mu = 0 \quad \forall \alpha = 1, 2, \cdots, n+1.$$
(7.7)

This orthogonal condition means that the origin lies in the interior of the convex body enclosed by M.

Under the restriction (7.7), we are able to prove the following a priori estimates.

Theorem 7.6. For each integral $k \ge 1$ and $\alpha \in (0,1)$, there exist a constant C, depending on $n, k, \alpha, ||K||_{C^k(\mathcal{W})}, inf_{\mathcal{W}}K, ||F||_{C^{k+3}(\mathcal{W})}$, such that

$$||S||_{C^{k+1,\alpha}(\mathcal{W})} \le C,$$

for all admissible solutions of (7.2) satisfying the condition (7.7).

We remark that the norm of S in this chapter are all with respect to the metric $g = G|_{\mathcal{W}}$ on \mathcal{W} .

7.2.1 C^0 estimate

We first establish a uniform positive lower bound and upper bound for S. Since (7.7) means that the origin lies in the interior of the convex body enclosed by M, in order to obtain the bounds for S, it is sufficient to find the bound for the anisotropic inner and outer radius of M relative to W.

The anisotropic inner radius of M relative to \mathcal{W} is defined as

$$r(M) := \sup\{t > 0 : t\mathcal{W} + y \subset \mathcal{K} \text{ for some } y \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}\},\$$

and the anisotropic outer radius of \mathcal{K} relative to \mathcal{W} is defined as

$$R(M) := \inf\{t > 0 : \mathcal{K} \subset t\mathcal{W} + y \text{ for some } y \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}\}.$$

Lemma 7.7. Let M be a compact convex C^2 hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} and K be its anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature function defined on \mathcal{W} . Then

$$\frac{1}{2}m_1 \le r(M) \le R(M) \le \frac{1}{2}m_2,$$

where

$$m_1 = 2|\mathcal{W}|^{-\frac{1}{n}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{W}} \frac{1}{K(z)} d\mu \right)^{\frac{n+1}{n}} \left(\inf_{y \in \mathcal{W}} \int_{\mathcal{W}} \frac{1}{K(z)} \max\{0, G(z)(z, y)\} d\mu \right)^{-1},$$

$$m_{2} = 2\frac{1}{n+1}|\mathcal{W}|^{-\frac{1}{n}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{W}} \frac{1}{K(z)} d\mu\right)^{-1} \cdot \left(\inf_{y \in \mathcal{W}} \int_{\mathcal{W}} \frac{1}{K(z)} \max\{0, G(z)(z, y)\} d\mu\right)^{\frac{n+1}{n}}$$

and $|\mathcal{W}|$ is the standard n-dimensional volume of \mathcal{W} . In particular, if S is an admissible solution of (7.2) on \mathcal{W} and satisfies (7.7), then

$$0 < m_1 \le S \le m_2.$$

Proof. Since the origin lies in the interior of M, we can find $p_0 \in M$ with $R_0 := F^0(p_0) = \max_{p \in M} F^0(p)$, set $\bar{p}_0 = \frac{p_0}{F^0(p_0)} \in \mathcal{W}$. It is easy to see that $M \subset R_0 \mathcal{W}$. Hence $R(M) \leq R_0$. The support function S at $z \in \mathcal{W}$ satisfies

$$S(z) = \sup_{y \in M} G(z)(z, y) \ge \max\{0, G(z)(z, p_0)\} = R_0 \max\{0, G(z)(z, \bar{p}_0)\}.$$

Denote $f = \frac{1}{K}$. By multiplying f and integrating over \mathcal{W} , we have

$$R(M) \le R_0 \le \left(\int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z)S(z)d\mu\right) \left(\int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z)\max\{0, G(z)(z,\bar{p}_0)\}d\mu\right)^{-1} (7.8)$$

In view of (6.4), we have a Minkowski formula,

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z)S(z)d\mu = \int_{M} S(\nu(X))d\mu(M)$$

$$= \int_{M} G(\nu)(\nu, X)\Omega(\nu, \partial_{1}, \cdots, \partial_{n})dy^{1}\cdots dy^{n}$$

$$= \int_{M} \Omega(X, \partial_{1}, \cdots, \partial_{n})dy^{1}\cdots dy^{n} = (n+1)Vol(\bar{M}).$$
(7.9)

The anisotropic isoperimetric inequality (see Busemann [Bu49]) tells that

$$Vol(\bar{M}) \le \frac{1}{n+1} |\mathcal{W}|^{-\frac{1}{n}} |M|_F^{\frac{n+1}{n}} = \frac{1}{n+1} |\mathcal{W}|^{-\frac{1}{n}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z) d\mu \right)^{\frac{n+1}{n}}.$$
 (7.10)

Combining (7.8), (7.9) and (7.10), we obtain the upper bound of R(M),

$$R(M) \le |\mathcal{W}|^{-\frac{1}{n}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z) d\mu \right)^{\frac{n+1}{n}} \left(\inf_{y \in \mathcal{W}} \int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z) \max\{0, G(z)(z, y)\} d\mu \right)^{-1}$$

Next we want to find the positive lower bound of r(M). Since \overline{M} is enclosed in a rescaled Wulff shape with radius R(M), we have

$$Vol(\bar{M}) \le \frac{1}{n+1} |\mathcal{W}| R(M)^{n+1}.$$
 (7.11)

It follows from (7.8), (7.9) and (7.11) that

$$R(M) \ge |\mathcal{W}|^{-\frac{1}{n}} \left(\inf_{y \in \mathcal{W}} \int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z) \max\{0, G(z)(z, y)\} d\mu \right)^{\frac{1}{n}},$$
(7.12)

and then

$$Vol(\bar{M}) \ge \frac{1}{n+1} |\mathcal{W}|^{-\frac{1}{n}} \left(\inf_{y \in \mathcal{W}} \int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z) \max\{0, G(z)(z,y)\} d\mu \right)^{\frac{n+1}{n}}.$$
 (7.13)

Recalling an inequality by Ben Andrews [An01], Proposition 5.1, which is a consequence of the Diskant inequalities,

$$r(M) \ge \frac{Vol(\bar{M})}{|M|_F} = \frac{Vol(\bar{M})}{\int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z)d\mu}.$$
(7.14)

Combining (7.13) and (7.14), we get the positive lower bound of r(M),

$$\begin{split} r(M) \geq &\quad \frac{1}{n+1} |\mathcal{W}|^{-\frac{1}{n}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z) d\mu \right)^{-1} \\ &\quad \cdot \left(\inf_{y \in \mathcal{W}} \int_{\mathcal{W}} f(z) \max\{0, G(z)(z,y)\} d\mu \right)^{\frac{n+1}{n}}. \end{split}$$

Now it is easy to derive the upper and positive lower bound of S in terms of r(M) and R(M). In fact, it follows from Schwarz inequality that

$$S(z) = G(z)(z, X(z)) \le F^0(z)F^0(X(z)) \le 2R(M), \quad \forall z \in \mathcal{W}.$$
(7.15)

On the other hand, for any $z \in \mathcal{W}$, let t(z) > 0 be the number such that $t(z)z \in M$. It follows from the difinition of r(M) that $2r(M) \leq \sup_{z \in \mathcal{W}} t(z)$. Consequently,

$$S(z) = \sup_{y \in M} G(z)(z,y) \ge G(z)(z,t(z)z) = t(z) \ge 2r(M), \quad \forall z \in \mathcal{W}.$$
(7.16)

7.2.2 C^1 estimate

The next step is a priori C^1 estimate for S. Such estimate is not necessary in the classical Minkowski problem, since there the C^2 estimate is more direct. However, for the equation (7.2), the gradient term in the determinant causes problem, which cannot be solved until we have the C^1 estimate first. Therefore, in the anisotropic Minkowski problem, the C^1 estimate seems necessary.

Lemma 7.8. Let S be an admissible solution of (7.2) on \mathcal{W} . Let $f = \frac{1}{K}$. Then there exists a constant C, depending on $n, m_1, m_2, \max f, \max |\nabla f^{\frac{1}{n}}|, ||F^0||_{C^4(\mathcal{W})}$, such that

$$|\nabla S| \le C. \tag{7.17}$$

Proof. Suppose that $|\nabla S| \geq 1$, otherwise, we are done. Denote $u_{ij} = S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + \delta_{ij}S$ and $\mathcal{F}^{ij} = \frac{\partial \sigma_n}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})$. We know that \mathcal{F}^{ij} is an elliptic operator at an admissible solution.

Let $W = \log |\nabla S|^2 + e^{\alpha(m_2 - S)}$, with $\alpha > 0$ to be chosen later. Suppose that W attains its maximum at point $z_0 \in \mathcal{W}$. Choose an orthonormal basis at z_0 such that u_{ij} is diagonal. It is clear that \mathcal{F}^{ij} is also diagonal at z_0 .

Then at z_0 , we have

$$0 = W_i = \frac{|\nabla S|_i^2}{|\nabla S|^2} - \alpha e^{\alpha (m_2 - S)} S_i = \frac{2S_k S_{ki}}{|\nabla S|^2} - \alpha e^{\alpha (m_2 - S)} S_i, \qquad (7.18)$$

$$0 \ge \mathcal{F}^{ij} W_{ij} = \mathcal{F}^{ij} \frac{2S_l S_{lij} + 2S_{ki} S_{kj}}{|\nabla S|^2} - \frac{\mathcal{F}^{ij} |\nabla S|_i^2 |\nabla S|_j^2}{|\nabla S|^4}$$
(7.19)
$$-\alpha e^{\alpha (m_2 - S)} \mathcal{F}^{ij} S_{ij} + \alpha^2 e^{\alpha (m_2 - S)} \mathcal{F}^{ij} S_i S_j.$$

Notice that

$$\mathcal{F}^{ii}u_{ii} = nf, \quad \mathcal{F}^{ii}u_{iik} = f_k. \tag{7.20}$$

Using (7.18) and (7.20), we estimate the second term in the RHS of (7.19) as follows,

$$-\frac{\mathcal{F}^{ij}|\nabla S|_{i}^{2}|\nabla S|_{j}^{2}}{|\nabla S|^{4}} = -\mathcal{F}^{ii}\alpha e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}S_{i}\frac{2S_{k}S_{ki}}{|\nabla S|^{2}}$$

$$= -2\alpha e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}\frac{\mathcal{F}^{ii}S_{i}S_{k}(u_{ki}+\frac{1}{2}Q_{ikl}S_{l}-\delta_{ki}S)}{|\nabla S|^{2}}$$

$$\geq -2\alpha e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}(nf+C_{1}\mathcal{F}^{ii}S_{i})+2\alpha e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}\frac{S\mathcal{F}^{ii}S_{i}^{2}}{|\nabla S|^{2}}$$

$$\geq -2\alpha e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}(nf+\frac{\alpha}{4}\mathcal{F}^{ii}S_{i}^{2}+\frac{C_{2}}{\alpha}\sum_{i}\mathcal{F}^{ii}),$$
(7.21)

where we dropped the term $2\alpha e^{\alpha(m_2-S)} \frac{S\mathcal{F}^{ii}S_i^2}{|\nabla S|^2}$ since it is positive, while used the Hölder inequality for the term $\mathcal{F}^{ii}S_i$.

Observe that

$$S_{lij} = S_{ijl} + R_{mijl}S_m, (7.22)$$

$$\mathcal{F}^{ij}S_{ki}S_{kj} \ge 0. \tag{7.23}$$

By employing (7.18), (7.20), (7.21), (7.22) and (7.23) in (7.19), we obtain that

$$0 \geq \mathcal{F}^{ij}W_{ij}$$

$$\geq \frac{2\mathcal{F}^{ij}S_{l}(u_{ij} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_{k} - \delta_{ij}S)_{l}}{|\nabla S|^{2}} - C_{3}e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}\sum_{i}\mathcal{F}^{ii}$$

$$-\alpha e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}\mathcal{F}^{ij}(u_{ij} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_{k} - \delta_{ij}S)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}\alpha^{2}e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}\mathcal{F}^{ii}S_{i}^{2} - 2\alpha e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}nf$$

$$\geq -2\frac{|\nabla f|}{|\nabla S|} - 3n\alpha e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}nf + (\alpha S - C_{4})e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}\sum_{i}\mathcal{F}^{ii}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}\alpha^{2}e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}\mathcal{F}^{ii}S_{i}^{2}.$$
(7.24)

Note that by Newton-Maclaurin's inequality, we have (see Guan [Gu04])

$$\sum_{i} \mathcal{F}^{ii} \ge C(n) \sigma_n^{\frac{n-1}{n}} \ge C > 0.$$
(7.25)

Choose α large, such that $\alpha m_1 - C_4 \ge 1$. It follows from (7.24) and (7.25) that

$$\sum_{i} \mathcal{F}^{ii}(1+S_{i}^{2}) \leq 2\frac{|\nabla f|}{|\nabla S|} + 3\alpha e^{\alpha(m_{2}-S)}f$$

$$\leq 2\max|\nabla f| + 3n\alpha e^{\alpha m_{2}}\max f.$$
(7.26)

On the other hand, by using Gårding inequality (see Gårding [Ga59]), we see that

$$\sum_{i} \mathcal{F}^{ii}(1+S_{i}^{2}) \geq n \left(\prod_{i} u_{ii}\right)^{\frac{n-1}{n}} \left(\prod_{i} (1+S_{i}^{2})\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \\ \geq n f^{\frac{n-1}{n}} (1+|\nabla S|^{2})^{\frac{1}{n}}.$$
(7.27)

Putting (7.27) into (7.26), we conclude that

$$|\nabla S| \le C(n, m_1, m_2, \max f, \max |\nabla f^{\frac{1}{n}}|, ||F^0||_{C^4(\mathcal{W})}).$$

7.2.3 C^2 estimate

The C^2 estimate for the classical Minkowski problem is somehow direct and fine due to the structure of its equation. In particular, it involves the exact formula of Gauss equation. In our problem the gradient term in the determinant also brings troubles. We brings here some idea from Yau's proof [Ya78] in Calabi conjecture and Guan-Li's proof [GL10] for more general complex Monge-Ampére equations to our equation. It avoids the use of explicit formula for Gauss equation.

Lemma 7.9. Let S be an admissible solution of (7.2) on \mathcal{W} . Let $f = \frac{1}{K}$. Then there exists a constant C, depending on $n, m_1, m_2, ||f||_{C^2}, \min f, ||F^0||_{C^5(\mathcal{W})}$, such that

$$|\nabla^2 S| \le C. \tag{7.28}$$

Proof. Let $\overline{\mathcal{F}}(u_{ij}) = \log \sigma_n(u_{ij})$ and u^{ij} be the inverse matrix of u_{ij} . Then

$$\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ij} = f u^{ij}, \quad \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ij,kl} = -u^{ik} u^{jl}. \tag{7.29}$$

For an admissible solution S, $0 < 2\sigma_2(u_{ij}) = (\sum_i u_{ii})^2 - \sum_{i,j} |u_{ij}|^2$. In view of Lemma 7.7 and 7.8, to bound $|\nabla^2 S|$, it is sufficient to bound ΔS from above. Here Δ denotes the Laplace operator with respect to g. We may assume that $\Delta S \ge C$ for some C > 0.

Let $\Phi = \log(a + \Delta S) + e^{\beta(m_2 - S)}$ with $a = \sup_{\mathcal{W}} |-\frac{1}{2}Q_{iik}S_k + nS|, \beta > 0$ to be chosen later. Suppose that Φ attains its maximum at point $z_0 \in \mathcal{W}$. Choose the orthonormal basis at z_0 such that u_{ij} is diagonal. Clearly $\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ij}$ is also diagonal at z_0 . Then we have

$$\Phi_{i} = \frac{(\Delta S)_{i}}{a + \Delta S} - \beta e^{\beta (m_{2} - S)} S_{i} = 0, \qquad (7.30)$$

$$0 \ge \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ij} \Phi_{ij} = \frac{\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(\Delta S)_{ii}}{a + \Delta S} - \frac{\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(\Delta S)_i^2}{(a + \Delta S)^2} -\beta e^{\beta(m_2 - S)} \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} S_{ii} + \beta^2 e^{\beta(m_2 - S)} \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} S_i^2.$$

$$(7.31)$$

We estimate the term $\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(\Delta S)_{ii}$ and $\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(\Delta S)_i^2$ by using (7.30) as follows.

$$\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(\Delta S)_{ii} = \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(S_{iikk} + Riem * \nabla^2 S + \nabla Riem * \nabla S)$$

$$\geq \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(u_{ii} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{iil}S_l - S)_{kk} - C_5 \sum_i \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(|\nabla^2 S| + |\nabla S|)$$

$$\geq \Delta f - \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ij,rs}u_{ijk}u_{rsk} + \frac{1}{2}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}Q_{iil}(\Delta S)_l - C_6 \sum_i \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(|\nabla^2 S| + |\nabla S|)$$

$$\geq u^{ii}u^{jj}u^2_{ijk} + \beta e^{\beta(m_2 - S)}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}\frac{1}{2}Q_{iil}S_l(a + \Delta S) - C_7 \sum_i \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}\Delta S - C_8(1 + \sum_i \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}).$$
(7.32)

Here and in the following we use Riem to denote the Riemannian tensor of g and the notation * to denote scalar contraction of two tensors by g.

$$\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(\Delta S)_{i}^{2} = \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(S_{ikk} + Riem * \nabla S)^{2}$$

$$\leq \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}S_{ikk}^{2} + C_{9}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}|S_{ikk}| + C_{10}\sum_{i}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}$$

$$\leq \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}S_{ikk}^{2} + C_{9}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}\left((a + \Delta S)|S_{i}|\beta e^{\beta(m_{2} - S)} + |Riem * \nabla S|\right) + C_{10}\sum_{i}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}$$

$$\leq \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}S_{ikk}^{2} + C_{11}(\beta e^{\beta(m_{2} - S)}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}|S_{i}|\Delta S + \sum_{i}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}).$$
(7.33)

Since

$$S_{ikk} = u_{ikk} + (\frac{1}{2}Q_{ikl}S_l - S\delta_{ik})_k,$$

we have

$$S_{ikk}^{2} - u_{ikk}^{2} = 2u_{ikk} (\frac{1}{2}Q_{ikl}S_{l} - S\delta_{ik})_{k} + (\frac{1}{2}Q_{ikl}S_{l} - S\delta_{ik})_{k}^{2}$$

$$= 2S_{ikk} (\frac{1}{2}Q_{ikl}S_{l} - S\delta_{ik})_{k} - (\frac{1}{2}Q_{ikl}S_{l} - S\delta_{ik})_{k}^{2}$$

$$= 2((a + \Delta S)\beta e^{\beta(m_{2} - S)}S_{i} + Riem * \nabla S) (\frac{1}{2}Q_{ikl}S_{l} - S\delta_{ik})_{k} - (\frac{1}{2}Q_{ikl}S_{l} - S\delta_{ik})_{k}^{2}$$

$$\leq C_{12}(1 + \beta e^{\beta(m_{2} - S)}|S_{i}|) ((\Delta S)^{2} + \Delta S + 1).$$
Now using (7.33) and (7.34), we obtain
$$\frac{\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(\Delta S)_{i}^{2}}{(a + \Delta S)^{2}} \leq \frac{\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}S_{ikk}^{2}}{(a + \Delta S)^{2}} + C_{13}(\beta e^{\beta(m_{2} - S)}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}|S_{i}| + \sum_{i}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii})$$

$$\leq \frac{\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}u_{ikk}^{2}}{(a + \Delta S)^{2}} + C_{14}(\beta e^{\beta(m_{2} - S)}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}|S_{i}| + \sum_{i}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii})$$

$$\leq \frac{\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}u_{ikk}^{2}}{(a + \Delta S)^{2}} + \frac{1}{2}C_{14}\beta^{\frac{3}{2}}e^{\beta(m_{2} - S)}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}S_{i}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}C_{14}\beta^{\frac{1}{2}}e^{\beta(m_{2} - S)}\sum_{i}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} + C_{14}\sum_{i}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}.$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{(a+\Delta S)^2} + \frac{1}{2}C_{14}\beta^2 e^{-C_{14}\beta^2} e^{-C_{14}\beta$$

In the last inequality, we used the Hölder inequality.

We estimate the term $\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}u_{ikk}^2$ by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality,

$$\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}u_{ikk}^{2} \leq \sum_{i,j,k} u^{ii}(u_{jj}u^{jj}u_{ijk}^{2})$$

$$\leq \sum_{j} u_{jj} \sum_{i,j,k} u^{ii}u^{jj}u_{ijk}^{2}$$

$$\leq (a + \Delta S) \sum_{i,j,k} u^{ii}u^{jj}u_{ijk}^{2}.$$
(7.36)

It follows from (7.32), (7.35) and (7.36) that

$$\frac{\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(\Delta S)_{ii}}{a+\Delta S} - \frac{\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}(\Delta S)_i^2}{(a+\Delta S)^2} \geq \beta e^{\beta(m_2-S)} \frac{1}{2} \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} Q_{iil} S_l - C_{15} \beta^{\frac{3}{2}} e^{\beta(m_2-S)} \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} S_i^2(7.37) - C_{16} \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{\beta(m_2-S)} \sum_i \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} - C_{17} \sum_i \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}.$$

We also have

$$-\beta e^{\beta(m_2-S)} \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ij} S_{ij} = -\beta e^{\beta(m_2-S)} \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} (u_{ii} + \frac{1}{2} Q_{iil} S_l - S)$$

$$\geq -\beta e^{\beta(m_2-S)} f - \beta e^{\beta(m_2-S)} \frac{1}{2} \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} Q_{iil} S_l + m_1 \beta e^{\beta(m_2-S)} \sum_i \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii},$$
(7.38)

where m_1 is the uniform positive bound of S in Lemma 7.7.

Therefore, by combining (7.31), (7.37) and (7.38), we get

$$0 \geq e^{\beta(m_2 - S)} (m_1 \beta - C_{16} \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} - C_{18}) \sum_i \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii}$$

$$+ e^{\beta(m_2 - S)} (\beta^2 - C_{15} \beta^{\frac{3}{2}}) \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} S_i^2 - C_{19}.$$
(7.39)

Choose β large enough in (7.39), we obtain

$$\sum_{i} \bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} \le C,\tag{7.40}$$

where C depends on $m_1, m_2, ||f||_{C^2}, ||S||_{C^1}, ||F^0||_{C^5(\mathcal{W})}.$

Recall the following elementary inequality (see Yau [Ya78]),

$$\frac{\sum_{i} \lambda_{i}}{\prod_{i} \lambda_{i}} \leq \left(\sum_{i} \lambda_{i}^{-1}\right)^{n-1} \text{ for } \lambda_{i} > 0, \forall i = 1, \cdots, n.$$

Since $\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{ii} = u^{ii} = u^{-1}_{ii}$, $\det(u_{ii}) = f$ we use the previous inequality by $\lambda_i = u_{ii}$ and (7.40) to get

$$\sum_{i} u_{ii} \le C_{20} \prod_{i} u_{ii} \le C_{21}$$

which implies

 $\Delta S \leq C$

where C depends on $m_1, m_2, ||f||_{C^2}, ||S||_{C^1}, ||F||_{C^5(\mathcal{W})}$. Note that our computation is only valid at the maximum point z_0 of Φ . Nevertheless, we have

$$\Phi \le \Phi(z_0) = \log(a + \Delta S(z_0)) + \beta e^{\beta(m_2 - S(z_0))} \le C,$$

which yields the C^2 estimate for S at every point.

Proof of Theorem 7.6: Once we have C^2 estimate, Theorem 7.6 follows from the Evans-Krylov theorem and the standard elliptic theory.

7.3 Openness and proof of Theorem 7.1

By virtue of Theorem 7.6, we can assume that $K \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{W})$. We will use the method of continuity to prove Theorem 7.5. To be precise, let

$$\frac{1}{K_t} = \frac{t}{K} + (1-t) \quad \forall 0 \le t \le 1.$$

It is easy to see that $K_t > 0$ and satisfies (7.1). Define

$$\mathcal{S} = \{t \in [0,1] | \det(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij}) = \frac{1}{K_t} \text{ has an admissible solution on } \mathcal{W}\}.$$

Clearly, $0 \in S$ since W has anisotropic Gauss curvature 1 (see Example 6.9). We will apply the implicit function theorem to (7.2) to prove the openness of the set S.

Proposition 7.10. The set S is open in [0, 1].

To prove the openness of S, we shall study the linearized operator of $S \mapsto \det(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij})$.

Denote $u_{ij} = S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij}$. Let L_S be the linearized operator of $S \mapsto \det(u_{ij})$, namely,

$$L_S(v) = \frac{\partial \sigma_n}{\partial u_{ij}} (u_{ij}) (v_{ij} - \frac{1}{2} Q_{ijk} v_k + v \delta_{ij})$$

for any $v \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{W})$. The following proposition shows that L_S is a self-adjoint operator.

Lemma 7.11. For any $S, v, w \in C^2(\mathcal{W})$, we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} w L_S(v) d\mu = \int_{\mathcal{W}} v L_S(w) d\mu.$$

Proof. From the Gauss equation (6.13), we have

$$S_{ijk} - S_{ikj} = R_{pijk}S_p = S_j\delta_{ik} - S_k\delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{4}(Q_{ijm}Q_{mkp} - Q_{ikm}Q_{mjp})S_p.(7.41)$$

By using (6.12), namely $Q_{ijk,l} = Q_{ilk,j}$ and (7.41), we see that

$$u_{ijk} - u_{ikj}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} (Q_{ijm}Q_{mkp} - Q_{ikm}Q_{mjp})S_p - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijm}S_{mk} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{ikm}S_{mj}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}Q_{ijm}(u_{mk} - S_{mk} - S\delta_{mk}) + \frac{1}{2}Q_{ikm}(u_{mj} - S_{mj} - S\delta_{mj})$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}Q_{ijm}S_{mk} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{ikm}S_{mj}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}Q_{ikm}u_{mj} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijm}u_{mk}.$$
(7.42)

By definition,

$$\sigma_n(u_{ij}) = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\substack{i_1, \dots i_n = 1, \\ j_1, \dots, j_n = 1}}^n \delta_{j_1 \dots j_n}^{i_1 \dots i_n} u_{i_1 j_1} \dots u_{i_n j_n}.$$

$$\frac{\partial \sigma_n}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij}) = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \sum_{\substack{i_1, \dots i_{n-1}=1, \\ j_1, \dots, j_{n-1}=1}}^n \delta_{j_1 \dots j_{n-1}j}^{i_1 \dots i_{n-1}i} u_{i_1j_1} \dots u_{i_{n-1}j_{n-1}}.$$

Here $\delta_{j_1\cdots j_n}^{i_1\cdots i_n}$ denotes the Kronecker symbols, i.e., it equals to 1 (-1 reps.) if $(i_1\cdots i_n)$ is an even (odd reps.) permutation of $(j_1\cdots j_n)$ and it equals to 0 in other cases.

Thus using the antisymmetry of the Kronecker symbols and (7.42), we obtain

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial \sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij}) \right)_{j}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2(n-1)!} \sum_{\substack{i_{1}, \cdots i_{n-1}=1, \\ j, j_{1}, \cdots, j_{n-1}=1}}^{n} (n-1) \delta_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n-1} j_{n-1} j}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{n-1} i}(u_{i_{1} j_{1} j} - u_{i_{1} j j_{1}}) u_{i_{2} j_{2}} \cdots u_{i_{n-1} j_{n-1}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2(n-2)!} \sum_{\substack{i_{1}, \cdots i_{n-1}=1, \\ j, j_{1}, \cdots, j_{n-1}=1}}^{n} \delta_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n-1} j}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{n-1} i}\left(\frac{1}{2}Q_{i_{1} jm} u_{m j_{1}} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{i_{1} j_{1} m} u_{m j}\right) u_{i_{2} j_{2}} \cdots u_{i_{n-1} j_{n-1}}.$$
(7.43)

We assume u_{ij} is diagonal at some point p_0 , i.e., $u_{ij} = \lambda_i \delta_{ij}$. We will use the notation $P(1, \dots, n)$ to denote the permutation group of $\{1, \dots, n\}$ and similarly, $P(1, \dots, \hat{i}, \dots, n)$ the permutation group of $\{1, \dots, n\}$ without index *i*.

Then at the point p_0 , (7.43) reduces to

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial \sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij}) \right)_{j}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2(n-2)!} \sum_{j,i_{1},j_{1}=1}^{n} \delta_{j_{1}j}^{i_{1}i_{1}i_{1}i_{1}i_{1}i_{1}} \left(\frac{1}{2} Q_{i_{1}jj_{1}} \lambda_{j_{1}} - \frac{1}{2} Q_{i_{1}j_{1}j_{1}} \lambda_{j} \right) \sum_{\substack{(i_{2},\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\hat{i},\hat{1},\cdots,n)}} \lambda_{i_{2}} \cdots \lambda_{i_{n-1}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2(n-2)!} \sum_{j=i,j_{1}=i_{1}\neq i}^{n} \left(\frac{1}{2} Q_{i_{1}ii_{1}} \lambda_{i_{1}} - \frac{1}{2} Q_{i_{1}i_{1}i_{1}} \lambda_{i} \right) \sum_{\substack{(i_{2},\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\hat{i},\hat{1},\cdots,n)}} \lambda_{i_{2}} \cdots \lambda_{i_{n-1}}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2(n-2)!} \sum_{j_{1}=i_{1}\neq i}^{n} \left(-1 \right) \left(\frac{1}{2} Q_{i_{1}i_{1}i_{1}} \lambda_{i} - \frac{1}{2} Q_{i_{1}ii_{1}} \lambda_{i_{1}} \right) \sum_{\substack{(i_{2},\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\hat{i},\hat{1},\cdots,n)}} \lambda_{i_{2}} \cdots \lambda_{i_{n-1}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(n-2)!} \sum_{\substack{(i_{2},\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\hat{i},\hat{1},\cdots,n)}} \left(\frac{1}{2} Q_{i_{1}ii_{1}} \lambda_{i_{1}} \cdots \lambda_{i_{n-1}} - \frac{1}{2} Q_{i_{1}i_{1}i_{1}} \lambda_{i} \lambda_{i_{2}} \cdots \lambda_{i_{n-1}} \right).$$
(7.44)

On the other hand, at p_0 , we have

$$\frac{\partial \sigma_n}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij}) = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \sum_{\substack{(i_1, \cdots, i_{n-1}) \in \\ P(1, \cdots, \hat{i}, \cdots, n)}} \lambda_{i_1} \cdots \lambda_{i_{n-1}} \delta_{ij}.$$
(7.45)

Recall from Lemma 6.10 that $d\mu = \varphi dV_g$ and $\varphi_i = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^n Q_{ikk} \varphi$. By combining (7.44) and (7.45), we obtain at p_0 ,

$$\left(\frac{\partial\sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})\right)_{j}v_{i}\varphi + \frac{\partial\sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})\left(v_{i}\varphi_{j} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}v_{k}\varphi\right) \tag{7.46}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(n-2)!}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{\substack{(i_{1},\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\cdots,n)}} \left(\frac{1}{2}Q_{i_{1}ii_{1}}\lambda_{i_{1}}\cdots\lambda_{i_{n-1}} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{i_{1}i_{1}i}\lambda_{i}\lambda_{i_{2}}\cdots\lambda_{i_{n-1}}\right)v_{i}\varphi$$

$$+ \frac{1}{(n-1)!}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{\substack{(i_{1},\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\cdots,n)}} \lambda_{i_{1}}\cdots\lambda_{i_{n-1}}\left(v_{i}(-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{k=1}^{n}Q_{ikk}\varphi) + \sum_{k=1}^{n}\frac{1}{2}Q_{iik}v_{k}\varphi\right).$$

It is easy to see that the second term in the right hand side of (7.46) can be viewed

$$\frac{1}{(n-1)!} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k \neq i} \sum_{\substack{(i_1, \cdots, i_{n-1}) \in \\ P(1, \cdots, \hat{i}, \cdots, n)}} \lambda_{i_1} \cdots \lambda_{i_{n-1}} \cdot \left(v_i \left(-\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{n} Q_{ikk} \varphi \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} Q_{iik} v_k \varphi \right). \quad (7.47)$$

A simple computation shows that

$$(n-1)\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{\substack{(i_1,\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\cdots,n)}}\frac{1}{2}Q_{i_1ii_1}\lambda_{i_1}\cdots\lambda_{i_{n-1}}v_i\varphi \qquad (7.48)$$
$$=\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{k\neq i}\sum_{\substack{(i_1,\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\cdots,n)}}\frac{1}{2}Q_{ikk}\lambda_{i_1}\cdots\lambda_{i_{n-1}}v_i\varphi.$$

$$(n-1)\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{\substack{(i_1,\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\cdots,n)}}\frac{1}{2}Q_{i_1i_1i}\lambda_i\lambda_{i_2}\cdots\lambda_{i_{n-1}}v_i\varphi$$
(7.49)
$$=\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{k\neq i}\sum_{\substack{(i_1,\cdots,i_{n-1})\in\\P(1,\cdots,\hat{i},\cdots,n)}}\frac{1}{2}Q_{iik}\lambda_{i_1}\cdots\lambda_{i_{n-1}}v_k\varphi.$$

Substituting (7.47), (7.48) and (7.49) into (7.46), we see that

$$\left(\frac{\partial\sigma_n}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})\right)_j v_i\varphi + \frac{\partial\sigma_n}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})\left(v_i\varphi_j + \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}v_k\varphi\right) = 0.$$
(7.50)

Since at every point we can choose a local normal coordinate such that u_{ij} is diagonal, (7.50) holds for any points in \mathcal{W} .

With the help of (7.50), we are easy to achieve the lemma. Indeed, integrating

 as

by parts, we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} wL_{S}(v)d\mu$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{W}} w\frac{\partial\sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})(v_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}v_{k} + v\delta_{ij})\varphi dV_{g}$$

$$= -\int_{\mathcal{W}} \frac{\partial\sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})w_{i}v_{j}\varphi dV_{g} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} \frac{\partial\sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})\delta_{ij}wv\varphi dV_{g}$$

$$-\int_{\mathcal{W}} w\left\{ \left(\frac{\partial\sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})\right)_{j}v_{i}\varphi + \frac{\partial\sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})\left(v_{i}\varphi_{j} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}v_{k}\varphi\right)\right\} dV_{g}$$

$$= -\int_{\mathcal{W}} \frac{\partial\sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})w_{i}v_{j}d\mu + \int_{\mathcal{W}} \frac{\partial\sigma_{n}}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})\delta_{ij}wvd\mu,$$

which is symmetric in w and v. We finish the proof of Lemma 7.11.

The following is an immediate consequence of Lemma 7.11. It also generalizes the necessary condition (7.1) to any functions $S \in C^2(\mathcal{W})$, not just the anisotropic support function for some convex hypersurface.

Corollary 7.12. Let $S \in C^2(W)$. Let E^{α} denote the standard α -th coordinate vector of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . For the position vector $z \in W \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}) \det(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij})d\mu = 0, \forall \alpha = 1, \cdots, n+1.$$

Proof. Recall the equation (7.6),

$$L_S(G(z)(z, E^{\alpha})) = 0.$$

Then it follows from Proposition 7.11 that

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}) \det(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij})d\mu$$
$$= \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{W}} G(z)(z, E^{\alpha})L_S(S)d\mu = \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{W}} L_S(G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}))Sd\mu = 0.$$

We observe from (7.6) that the function space span $\{G(z)(z, E^1), \dots, G(z)(z, E^{n+1})\}$ lies in the kernel of L_S . Next we show that the kernel of L_S contains only the functions in span $\{G(z)(z, E^1), \dots, G(z)(z, E^{n+1})\}$.

Lemma 7.13. Let $v \in C^2(\mathcal{W})$ be a function such that $L_S(v) = 0$. Then, $v = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n+1} a_{\alpha}G(z)(z, E^{\alpha})$ for some constants a_1, \cdots, a_{n+1} .

Proof. We follow the idea of Cheng-Yau's proof. Let $e_{n+1} = z$ be the position vector of \mathcal{W} and $\{e_1, \dots, e_n\}$ is a local orthonormal frame field with respect to g on \mathcal{W} such that $\{e_1, \dots, e_{n+1}\}$ is a positive oriented orthonormal frame field with respect to Gin \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Let $\{\omega^1, \dots, \omega^{n+1}\}$ be the dual 1-form of $\{e_1, \dots, e_{n+1}\}$, i.e., $\omega^{\alpha}(e_{\beta}) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$. Clearly we have

$$\omega^{n+1}|_{\mathcal{W}} = 0, \quad e_i(e_{n+1}) = e_i,$$

$$e_i(e_j) = \nabla_{e_i} e_j - \frac{1}{2} Q_{ijk} e_k - \delta_{ij} e_{n+1}.$$

Consider the vector valued function $Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_i e_i + v e_{n+1}$. Then v = G(z)(z, Z)and on \mathcal{W} (we compute at normal coordinates, namely, $\nabla_{e_i} e_j = 0$),

$$dZ = e_j(Z)\omega^j = [e_je_i(v)e_i + v_ie_j(e_i) + e_j(v)e_{n+1} + ve_j(e_{n+1})]\omega^j \quad (7.51)$$

= $\left[v_{ij}e_i + v_i(-\frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}e_k - \delta_{ij}e_{n+1}) + v_je_{n+1} + ve_j\right]\omega^j$
= $\left[(v_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}v_k + \delta_{ij}v)e_i\right]\omega^j.$

Let $X = \sum_{i=1}^{n} S_i e_i + S e_{n+1}$, then the same computation as (7.51) gives

$$dX = \left[(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + \delta_{ij}S)e_i \right] \omega^j.$$

Consider the (n-1)-form $\overline{\Omega} = X \wedge Z \wedge dZ \wedge dX \wedge \cdots \wedge dX$, where dX appears (n-2) times. Since $L_S(v) = 0$, we see that

$$dX \wedge Z \wedge dZ \wedge dX \wedge \dots \wedge dX$$

= $\left[\frac{\partial \sigma_n}{u_{ij}}(u_{ij})(v_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}v_k + \delta_{ij}v)\right](Z \wedge e_1 \wedge \dots \wedge e_n) \otimes (\omega^1 \wedge \dots \wedge \omega^n) = 0.$

Hence we have

$$0 = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d\bar{\Omega} = \int_{\mathcal{W}} X \wedge dZ \wedge dZ \wedge dX \wedge \dots \wedge dX.$$

The same argument as in [CY76], Page 507, leads to the conclusion that

$$v_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}v_k + \delta_{ij}v = 0 \quad \forall i, j = 1, \cdots, n.$$

Thus Z is constant due to (7.51) and can be written as $Z = a_{\alpha} E^{\alpha}$ for some constants a_{α} . Consequently,

$$v = G(z)(z, Z) = a_{\alpha}G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}).$$

-			

Now we are ready to prove Proposition 7.10 and then Theorem 7.5 and 7.1.

Proof of Proposition 7.10: Without loss of generality, we assume that S satisfies (7.7). By virtue of Proposition 7.6 we may further assume that $K \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{W})$. Let $H^m(\mathcal{W})$ be the Sobolev space of \mathcal{W} with the Riemannian metric g. Choose m sufficient large such that $H^m(\mathcal{W}) \subset C^4(\mathcal{W})$. Consider L_S as a bounded linear map from $H^{m+2}(\mathcal{W})$ to $H^m(\mathcal{W})$. It follows from Lemma 7.13 that $\text{Ker}(L_S) = \text{span}\{G(z)(z, E^1), \cdots, G(z)(z, E^{n+1})\}$. On the other hand, L_S is self-adjoint due to Lemma 7.11. Hence by the standard Hilbert space theory, we have

$$\operatorname{Image}(L_S) = \operatorname{Ker}(L_S^*)^{\perp} = \operatorname{span}\{G(z)(z, E^1), \cdots, G(z)(z, E^{n+1})\}^{\perp}.$$

Consequently, for any $f \in H^m(\mathcal{W})$ with $\int G(z)(z, E^{\alpha})f(z)d\mu = 0$, $\forall \alpha = 1, \cdots, n+1$, we have $f \in \text{Image}(L_S)$, which means $L_S : H^{m+2}(\mathcal{W}) \to H^m(\mathcal{W})$ is surjective. The standard implicit function theorem yields that the operator $S \mapsto \det(S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij})$ is locally invertible near S, which implies the set \mathcal{S} is open. \Box

Proof of Theorem 7.5: We see from Theorem 7.6 that S is closed. Since S is also open and non-empty, we conclude that S = [0, 1]. In particular, (7.2) has an admissible solution on W.

We now turn to the uniqueness part. Assume S and \tilde{S} are two solutions to (7.2). Denote by $U = (u_{ij}) = (S_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}S_k + S\delta_{ij})$ and $\tilde{U} = (\tilde{u}_{ij}) = (\tilde{S}_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{ijk}\tilde{S}_k + \tilde{S}\delta_{ij})$.

For any $n \times n$ symmetric matrices W_1, \dots, W_n . Let $\sigma_n(W_1, \dots, \tilde{W}_n)$ denote the complete polarization of σ_n , i.e.,

$$\sigma_n(W_1,\cdots,W_n) = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^n}{\partial \lambda_1 \cdots \partial \lambda_n} \Big|_{\lambda_1 = \cdots = \lambda_n = 0} \left(\sigma_n(\lambda_1 W_1 + \cdots + \lambda_n W_n) \right).$$

Clearly,

$$\frac{\partial \sigma_n}{\partial u_{ij}}(u_{ij})\tilde{u}_{ij} = n\sigma_n(\underbrace{U,\cdots,U}_{(n-1) \text{ times}}, \tilde{U}).$$

It follows from Lemma 7.11 that

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} S\sigma_n(\tilde{U}) d\mu = \int_{\mathcal{W}} S \cdot \frac{1}{n} L_{\tilde{S}}(\tilde{S}) d\mu$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{W}} \frac{1}{n} L_{\tilde{S}}(S) \tilde{S} d\mu = \int_{\mathcal{W}} \tilde{S} \sigma_n(\tilde{U}, \cdots, \tilde{U}, U) d\mu.$$
(7.52)

In the same way, we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} \tilde{S}\sigma_n(U)d\mu = \int_{\mathcal{W}} S\sigma_n(U,\cdots,U,\tilde{U})d\mu.$$
(7.53)

Combining (7.52) and (7.53), we obtain

$$2\int_{\mathcal{W}} S\left(\sigma_{n}(\tilde{U}) - \sigma_{n}(U, \cdots, U, \tilde{U})\right) d\mu$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{W}} \left[\tilde{S}\left(\sigma_{n}(U, \tilde{U}, \cdots, \tilde{U}) - \sigma_{n}(U)\right) - S\left(\sigma_{n}(U, \cdots, U, \tilde{U}) - \sigma_{n}(\tilde{U})\right)\right] d\mu.$$
(7.54)

Recall the Gårding inequality for the polarizations of σ_n (see Gårding [Ga59]),

$$\sigma_n(U,\cdots,U,\tilde{U}) \ge \sigma_n^{\frac{1}{n}}(\tilde{U})\sigma_n^{\frac{n-1}{n}}(U), \qquad (7.55)$$

with the equality holds if and only if U and \tilde{U} are proportional. In view of the assumption that $\sigma_n(U) = \sigma_n(\tilde{U})$, we see from (7.55) that the left hand side of (7.54) is non-positive, whence the right hand side is also non-positive. However, the right hand side of (7.54) is anti-symmetric with respect to S and \tilde{S} , we conclude that it vanishes. This implies the equality holds in (7.55), and in turn, U and \tilde{U} are proportional. Since $\sigma_n(U) = \sigma_n(\tilde{U})$, we obtain that $U = \tilde{U}$ for every point in \mathcal{W} . In particular,

$$L_S(S - \tilde{S}) = n(\sigma_n(U) - \sigma_n(U, \cdots, U, \tilde{U})) = 0.$$

By Lemma 7.13, we conclude that $S - \tilde{S} = c_{\alpha}G(z)(z, E^{\alpha})$. The proof is completed.

Proof of Theorem 7.1: The existence part follows directly from Theorem 7.5 and Proposition 7.2 and 7.3. Notice that for two hypersurfaces M and \tilde{M} with the same anisotropic Gauss-Kronecker curvature,

$$G(z)(z, M(z) - \tilde{M}(z)) = S(M(z)) - \tilde{S}(M(z)) = c_{\alpha}G(z)(z, E^{\alpha}).$$

Therefore, $M(z) - \tilde{M}(z) = c_{\alpha} E^{\alpha}$, which is a constant vector in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , namely, M and \tilde{M} coincide up to a translation.

Bibliography

- [AF95] A. Alberico, V. Ferone, Regularity properties of solutions of elliptic equations in ℝ² in limit cases, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. Rend. Lincei, (9) Mat. Appl. 6 (1995), 237–250.
- [Al58] A. D. Aleksandrov, Uniqueness theorems for surfaces in the large V, Vestnik Leningrad Univ. **13** (1958), 5–8.
- [Al37] A. D. Alexandrov, Theorie der gemisteten Volumina von konvexen Kördern, II. Neue Ungleichungen zwischen den gemischten Volumina und ihre Anwendungen (in Russian). Mat. Sb. 2 (1937), 1205–1238.
- [AFTL97] A. Alvino, V. Ferone, G., Trombetti and P. -L. Lions, Convex symmetrization and applications. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 14 (1997), 275–293.
- [AB94] M. Amar, G. Bellettini, A notion of total variation depending on a metric with discontinuous coefficients, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 11 (1994), 91–133.
- [An01] B. Andrews, Volume-preserving anisotropic mean curvature flow. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **50** (2001), no. 2, 783-827.
- [BQ00] D. Bakry and Z. Qian, Some new results on eigenvectors via dimension, diameter, and Ricci curvature. Adv. Math. 155 (2000), 98–153.
- [BT02] D. Bartolucci and G. Tarantello, Liouville type equations with singular data and their applications to periodic multivortices for the electroweak theory. *Comm. Math. Phys.* **229** (2002), 3–47.
- [Be03] M. Bebendorf, A note on the Poincaré inequality for convex domains. Z. Anal. Anwendungen **22** (2003), 751–756.
- [Bel04] G. Bellettini, Anisotropic and crystalline mean curvature flow. A sampler of Riemann-Finsler geometry, 49–82, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., 50, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, (2004).

- [BFK03] M. Belloni, V. Ferone and B. Kawohl, Isoperimetric inequalities, Wulff shape and related questions for strongly nonlinear elliptic operators. Z. angew. Math. Phys. 54 (2003), 771–783.
- [BF34] Bonnessen, T., Fenchel, W., Theorie der Konvexen Körper, Springer, (1934).
- [Bo83] C. Borell, Capacitary inequalities of the Brunn-Minkowski type, *Math.* Ann. **263** (1983), 179–184.
- [Bo85] C. Borell, Greenian potentials and concavity, Math. Ann. 272 (1985), 155–160.
- [BNST08] B. Brandolini, C. Nitsch, P. Salani and C. Trombetti, Serrin-type overdetermined problems: an alternative proof, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 190 (2008), 267–280.
- [BL76] H. J. Brascap, E. H. Lieb, On extensions of the Brunn-Minkowski and Prekopa-Leindler theorems, including inequalities for log-concave functions, and with an application to the diffusion equation, J. Funct. Anal. 22 (1976), 366–389.
- [BM91] H. Brezis and F. Merle, Uniform estimates and blow-up behavior for solutions of $-\Delta u = V(x)e^u$ in two dimensions. Comm. Partial Diff. Eq. **16** (1991), 1223–1253.
- [Bu49] H. Buseman, The isoperimetric problem for Minkowski area, Amer. J. Math. **71** (1949), 743–762.
- [CGY93] S.Y.A. Chang, M.J. Gursky and P.C. Yang, The scalar curvature equation on 2- and 3- spheres, *Calc. Var. Partial Diff. Eq.* 1 (1993), 205–229.
- [ChY87] S.Y.A. Chang and P.C. Yang, Prescribing Gaussian curvature on S^2 , Acta Math. **159** (1987), 215–259.
- [CLi02] C. C. Chen and C. S. Lin, Sharp estimates for solutions of multi-bubbles in compact Riemann surfaces, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **55** (2002), 728– 771.
- [CLi03] C. C. Chen and C. S. Lin, Topological degree for a mean field equation on Riemann surfaces, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **56** (2003), 1667–1727.
- [CW97] M. Chen and F. Wang, General formula for lower bound of the first eigenvalue on Riemannian manifolds. Sci. China, Ser. A 40 (1997), 384– 394.

- [CD87] W. Chen and W. Ding, Scalar curvatures on S^2 . Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **303** (1987), 365–382.
- [CL91a] W. Chen and C. Li, Classification of solutions of some nonlinear elliptic equations. *Duke Math. J.* **63** (1991), 615–622.
- [CL91b] W. Chen and C. Li, Prescribing Gaussian curvatures on surfaces with conical singularities. J. Geom. Anal. 1 (1991), no. 4, 359–372.
- [CY76] Cheng, S. Y., Yau, S. T., On the regularity of the solution of the ndimensional Minkowski problem. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 29 (1976), no. 5, 495–516.
- [CiSa09] A. Cianchi, P. Salani, Overdetermined anisotropic elliptic problems. Math. Ann. 345 (2009), no. 4, 859–881.
- [Cl04] U. Clarenz and H. Von Der Mosel, On surfaces of prescribed F-mean curvature, Pacific J. Math. 213 (2004) 15–36.
- [Co05] A. Colesanti, Brunn-Minkowski inequalities for variational functionals and related problems, *Adv. Math.* **194** (2005), 105–140.
- [CCS06] A. Colesanti, P. Cuoghi, P. Salani, Brunn-Minkowski inequalities for two functionals involving the *p*-Laplace operator, *Appl. Anal.* **85**(2006), 45–66.
- [CoSa03] A. Colesanti, P. Salani, The Brunn-Minkowski inequality for *p*-capacity of convex bodies, *Math. Ann.* **327**(2003), 459–479.
- [CENV04] D. Cordero-Erausquin, B. Nazaret, C. Villani, A mass-transportation approach to sharp Sobolev and Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequalities. Adv. Math. 182 (2004), no. 2, 307–332.
- [Da98] L. Damascelli, Comparison theorems for some quasilinear degenerate elliptic operators and applications to symmetry and monotonicity results. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 15 (1998), 493–516.
- [DMS03] M. Degiovanni, A. Musesti and M. Squassina, On the regularity of solution in the Pucci-Serrin identity, *Calc. Var.* **18**(2003), 317–334.
- [DJLW97] W. Ding, J. Jost, J. Li and G. Wang, The differential equation $\Delta u = 8\pi 8\pi e^u$ on a compact Riemann surface, Asian J. Math. 1 (1997), 230–248.

- [DJLW99] W. Ding, J. Jost, J. Li and G. Wang, Existence results for mean field equations. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 16 (1999), no. 5, 653–666.
- [DJLW98] W. Ding, J. Jost, J. Li and G. Wang, An analysis of the two-vortex case in the Chern-Simons-Higgs model, *Calc. Var. Partial Diff. Eq.* 7 (1998), 87–97.
- [Dj08] Z. Djadli, Existence result for the mean field problem on Riemann surfaces of all genuses, *Commun. Contemp. Math.* **10** (2008), 205–220.
- [DjMa08] Z.Djadli and A Malchiodi, Existence of conformal metrics with constant *Q*-curvature, Ann. Math. (2) 168 (2008), 813–858.
- [FaK08] A. Farina and B. Kawohl, Remarks on an overdetermined boundary value problem. *Calc. Var.* **31** (2008), 351–357.
- [FeK09] V. Ferone and B. Kawohl, Remarks on a Finsler-Laplacian, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 137 (2009), 247–253.
- [Fin1918] P. Finsler, Über Kurven und Flächen in allgemeinen Räumen, (Dissertation, Göttingen, 1918), Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, (1951).
- [FR60] W. H. Fleming and R. Richel, An integral formula for total gradient variation. Arch. Math. (Basel) **11** (1960), 218–222.
- [FM91] I. Fonseca and S. Müller, A uniqueness proof for the Wulff theorem, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 119 (1991) 125–136.
- [FGK06] I. Fragalà, F. Gazzola and B. Kawohl, Overdetermined boundary value problems with possibly degenerate ellipticity: a geometric approach. *Math. Zeitschr.* 254 (2006), 117–132.
- [Gag93] Gage, M. E., Evolving plane curves by curvature in relative geometries, Duke Math. J. **72** (1993) no.2, 441-466.
- [Ga59] Gårding, L., An inequality for hyperbolic polynomials, J. Math. Mech. 8 (1959), 957–965.
- [Gar02] R. J. Gardner, The Brunn–Minkowski inequality, *Bull. Amer. Math.* Soc. **39**(2002), 355–405.
- [GL89] N. Garofalo and J. L. Lewis, A symmetry result related to some overdetermined boundary value problems. *Am. J. Math.* **111** (1989), 9–33.

- [GS01] Y. Ge and Z. Shen, Eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of metric measure manifolds. *Proc. London Math. Soc.* 82 (2001), 725-746.
- [GNN79] B, Gidas, W. M. Ni, L. Nirenberg, Symmetry and related properties via the maximum principle. *Comm. Math. Phys.* **68** (1979), no. 3, 20–243.
- [Gi06] Y. Giga, Surface evolution equations. A level set approach. Monographs in Mathematics, 99. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, (2006).
- [GT98] D. Gilbarg and N. S. Trudinger, Elliptic partial differential equations of second order, Springer, (1998).
- [GG02] Guan, B., Guan, P., Convex Hypersurfaces of Prescribed Curvature, Ann. Math. 156 (2002), 655–674.
- [GL10] Guan, B., Li, Q., Complex Monge-Ampre equations and totally real submanifolds. *Adv. Math.* **225** (2010), no. 3, 1185–1223.
- [Gu04] Guan, P, Topics in Geometric Fully Nonlinear Equations , available at "http://www.math.mcgill.ca/guan/notes.html".
- [GM03] Guan, P., Ma, X.-N., The Christoffel-Minkowski problem I: convexity of solutions of a Hessian equation, *Invent. Math.* **151** (2003), 553–577.
- [HaWa07] F. Hang and X. Wang, A remark on Zhong-Yang's eigenvalue estimate. Int. Math. Res. Not. (2007) no. 18, Art. ID rnm064, 9pp.
- [HLMG09] Y. J. He, H. Z. Li, H. Ma, J. Q. Ge, Compact embedded hypersurfaces with constant higher order anisotropic mean curvature. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 58 (2009), 853–868.
- [HKM93] J. Heinonen, T. Kilpeläinen and O. Martio, Nonlinear Potential Theory of Degenerate Elliptic Equations, Oxford University Press, (1993).
- [JoWa01] J. Jost and G. Wang, Analytic aspects of the Toda system. I. A Moser-Trudinger Inequality. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.***54** (2001), 1289–1319.
- [Ka11] B. Kawohl, Variations on the *p*-Laplacian, in: Nonlinear Elliptic Partial Differential Equations, Eds. D. Bonheure, P. Takac et al., *Contemporary Mathematics*, **540** (2011), 35–46.
- [KaNo08] B. Kawohl, M. Novaga, The *p*-Laplace eigenvalue problem as $p \rightarrow 1$ and Cheeger sets in a Finsler metric, *J. Convex Analysis*, **15**(2008), 623–634.
- [KiVe86] S. Kichenassamy and L. Veron, Singular solutions of the *p*-Laplace equation. *Math. Ann.* **275** (1986), 599–615.

- [Kr92] P. Kröger, On the spectral gap for compact manifolds. J. Differential Geom. 36 (1992), 315–330.
- [KoPa10] M. Koiso, B. Palmer, Anisotropic umbilic points and Hopf's Theorem for surfaces with constant anisotropic mean curvature. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 59 (2010), no. 1, 79–90.
- [Le38] Lewy, H., On differential geometry in the large. I. Minkowski's problem. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **43** (1938), no. 2, 258–270.
- [LiP79] P. Li, A lower bound for the first eigenvalue of the Laplacian on a compact manifold. *Indiana Math. J.* **28** (1979), 1013–1019.
- [LiYa80] P. Li and S-Y. Yau, Estimates of eigenvalues of a compact Riemannian manifold. Geometry of the Laplace operator (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Univ. Hawaii, Honolulu, Hawaii, 1979), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. XXXVI, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1980, 205–239.
- [LiY99] Y. Y. Li, Harnack type inequality: the method of moving planes. *Comm. Math. Phys.* **200** (1999), 421–444.
- [LiSh94] Y. Y. Li and I. Shafrir, Blow-up analysis for solutions of $-\Delta u = Ve^u$ in dimension two. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **43** (1994), 1255–1270.
- [Lin07] C. S. Lin, An expository survey of the recent development of mean field equations, *Discr. Contin. Dyn. Syst.* **19** (2007), 387–410.
- [Li1853] J. Liouville, Sur l'equation aux derivées partielles $\frac{\partial^2 \log \lambda}{\partial u \partial v} \pm \frac{\lambda}{2a^2} = 0$, J. Math. Pure Appl. 18 (1853), 71–72.
- [LMX10] P. Liu, X.-N. Ma, L. Xu, A Brunn-Minkowski inequality for the Hessian eigenvalue in three-dimensional convex domain. Adv. Math. 225 (2010), no. 3, 1616–1633.
- [Ma08] A. Malchiodi, Morse theory and a scalar field equation on compact surfaces, *Adv. Diff. Eq.* **13** (2008), 1109–1129.
- [Mi1897] H. Minkowski, Allgemeine Lehrsätze über die konvexen Polyeder. Nachr. Ges. Wiss. Gottingen (1897) 198–219.
- [Mi1903] H. Minkowski, Volumen und oberfläche. Math. Ann. 57 (1903), 447–495.
- [Mo71] J. Moser, A sharp form of an inequality by N. Trudinger. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **20** (1970/71), 1077–1092.

- [Ni53] L. Nirenberg, The Weyl and Minkowski problems in differential geometry in the large. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 6 (1953). 337-394.
- [NoTa99] M. Nolasco and G. Tarantello, Double vortex condensates in the Chern-Simons-Higgs theory, *Calc. Var. Partial Diff. Eq.* **9** (1999), 31–94.
- [Pa98] B. Palmer, Stability of the Wulff shape, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 126 (1998) 3661–3667.
- [PaWe60] L. Payne, H. Weinberger, An optimal Poincaré inequality for convex domains. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 5 (1960), 286–292.
- [Ph88] G. A. Philippin, Applications of the maximum principle to a variety of problems involving elliptic differential equations, In: P.W.Schaefer, Maximum principles and eigenvalue problems in partial differential equations(Knoxville,TN,1987), Longman Sci. Tech., Pitman Res. Notes Math. Ser., Harlow, 175 (1988), 34–48.
- [Po53] A. V.Pogorelov, On existence of a convex surface with a given sum of the principal radii of curvature. (Russian) Uspehi Matem. Nauk (N.S.) 8 (1953). no. 3(55), 127-130.
- [PuSe86] P. Pucci and J. Serrin. A general variational identity. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **35(3)** (1986), 681–703.
- [QZZ11] Z. Qian, H.-C. Zhang and X.-P. Zhu, Sharp spectral gap and Li-Yau's estimate on Alexandrov Spaces, ArXiv:1102.4159.
- [Re76] R. C. Reilly, The relative differential geometry of nonparametric hypersurfaces. *Duke Math. J.* **43** (1976), no. 4, 705-721.
- [ReWe95] X. Ren and J. Wei, Counting peaks of solutions to some quasilinear elliptic equations with large exponents. J. Diff. Eq. 117 (1995), 28–55.
- [RoWe08] F. Robert and J. Wei, Asymptotic behavior of a fourth order mean field equation with Dirichlet boundary condition. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **57** (2008), 2039–2060.
- [Ro72] R. T. Rockafellar, Convex analysis, Princeton Univ. Press, New Jersey, (1972).
- [Sa05] P. Salani, A Brunn-Minkowski inequality for the Monge-Ampre eigenvalue. Adv. Math. **194** (2005), no. 1, 67–86.
- [Sch93] R. Schneider, Convex Bodies: The Brunn–Minkowski Theory, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, (1993).
- [Se71] J. Serrin, A symmetry problem in potential theory, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 43 (1971), 304–318.
- [Se64] J. Serrin, Local behavior of solutions of quasi-linear equations. Acta Math. **111** (1964), 247–302.
- [Sh01] Shen, Z., Lectures on Finsler geometry. World Scientific, (2001).
- [SpYa92] J. Spruck and Y. Yang, On multivortices in the electroweak theory I: Existence of periodic solutions, *Comm. Math. Phys.* **144** (1992), 1–16.
- [StTa98] M. Struwe and G. Tarantello, On the multivortex solutions in the Chern-Simons gauge theory, *Boll. U.M.I. Sez. B Artic. Ric. Mat.* 1 (1998), 109–121.
- [Tal76] G. Talenti, Elliptic Equations and Rearrangements, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. 3 (1976), 697–718.
- [Tar96] G. Tarantello, Multiple condensate solutions for the Chern-Simons-Higgs theory, J. Math. Phys. **37** (1996), 3769–3796.
- [Tar10] G. Tarantello, Analytical, geometrical and topological aspects of a class of mean field equations on surfaces, *Discr. Contin. Dyn. Syst.* **28** (2010), 931–973.
- [Ta78] J. Taylor, Crystalline variational problems. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 84 (1978), 568–588.
- [Th96] A. C. Thompson, Minkowski Geometry, in Series: Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications No. 63, Cambridge University Press, (1996).
- [To83] P. Tolksdorf, On the Dirichlet problem for quasilinear equations in domains with conical boundary points. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 8 (1983), no. 7, 773–817.
- [To84] P. Tolksdorf, Regularity for a more general class of quasilinear elliptic equations, *J. Diff. Eq.* **51** (1984), 126–150.
- [Va11] D. Valtorta, Sharp estimate on the first eigenvalue of the *p*-laplacian. ArXiv:1102.0539.
- [We71] H. Weinberger, Remark on the preceding paper of Serrin, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 43 (1971), 319–320.
- [Wi06] S. Winklmann, A note on the stability of the Wulff shape, Arch. Math. 87 (2006), 272–279.

- [Wu1901] G. Wulff, Zur Frage der Geschwindigkeit des Wachstums und der Auflösung der Kristallflächen, Z. F. Kristallog. **34** (1901), 449–530.
- [Ya78] S. T. Yau, On the Ricci curvature of a compact Khler manifold and the complex Monge-Ampre equation. I. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 31 (1978), no. 3, 339-411.
- [ZY84] J. Q. Zhong and H. C. Yang, On the estimate of the first eigenvalue of a compact Riemannian manifold, Sci. Sinica, Ser. A 27 (1984), 1265– 1273.
- [Xia1] G. Wang and C. Xia. A characterization of the Wulff shape by an overdetermined anisotropic PDE. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. **99** (2011), 99–115.
- [Xia2] G. Wang and C. Xia, A Brunn-Minkowski inequality for a Finsler-Laplacian, Analysis (Munich) **31** (2011),103–115.
- [Xia3] G. Wang and C. Xia, Blow-up analysis of a Finsler-Liouville equation in two dimension, *J. Diff. Eq.* **252** (2012) Issue 2, 1668–1700.
- [Xia4] G. Wang and C. Xia, An optimal anisotropic Poincaré inequality for convex domains. arXiv:1112.4398.
- [Xia5] C. Xia, On an anisotropic Minkowski problem. arXiv:1203.1211.